Do active communities support activity, or support active people? Residential self-selection in the estimation of built environment influences on physical activity

Janne Boone-Heinonen

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Department of Nutrition (Nutrition Epidemiology), Gillings School of Global Public Health

Chapel Hill

2009

Approved by:

Penny Gordon-Larsen, PhD (chair)

Linda S Adair, PhD

Kelly R. Evenson, PhD

David K. Guilkey, PhD

Barry M. Popkin, PhD

Yan Song, PhD

© 2009 Janne Boone-Heinonen ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

Abstract

Janne E. Boone: Do active communities support activity, or support active people? Residential self-selection in the estimation of built environment influences on physical activity (Under the direction of Penny Gordon-Larsen, PhD)

In a growing body of research, the built environment, composed of "neighborhoods, roads, and buildings in which people live, work, and play," has been shown to be related to physical activity. While promising for physical activity promotion, substantial limitations must be addressed before built environment research can adequately inform policy recommendations. *To this end, we focused on three methodological challenges of particular concern for built environment research:* (1) quantitative characterization of a complex environment, (2) confounding by other inter-related environment characteristics, and (3) residential self-selection bias resulting from systematic sociodemographic and behavioral differences among individuals selecting different types of neighborhoods. We used data from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health, a nationally representative cohort of over 20,000 adolescents followed over seven years into young adulthood. A large scale geographic information system (GIS) linked community-level built (e.g., recreation facilities, land cover, street connectivity) and socioeconomic (e.g., median household income, crime rate) environment characteristics to individual-level sociodemographic and behavioral data in space and time.

Using factor analysis, we identified several built and socioeconomic environment constructs. We found that the socioeconomic environment is a potentially important confounder of built environment and physical activity relationships, but is often omitted in existing studies. We also show that commonly used built environment measures may act as proxies for complex environment constructs; for example, intersection density, typically used to indicate street connectivity, may represent general density of development. Lastly, in longitudinal analysis, we observed an increase in physical activity among males with a greater number of physical activity-related pay facilities and a decrease in physical activity among males and females with higher neighborhood crime rate. Other built environment characteristics were unrelated to physical activity. Additional analysis suggests that residential self-selection can attenuate, as opposed to magnify, environment-physical activity associations.

This research revealed complexities in the environment that have implications for analysis and interpretation of this and related research. Findings suggest that built environment characteristics may influence physical activity, yet raises additional questions to be answered by an evolving field. To my parents, June and Jerry Boone

Acknowledgements

There are many people whose advice, guidance, encouragement, support, and honest criticism have made this dissertation possible. Dr. Penny Gordon-Larsen has provided each of these things when I needed them most. She encouraged me to follow my research interests, introduced new topics and methods when my interests waned, and gently yet unmistakably pushed me to complete projects when my interests waned too much. She was always available to talk through ideas whether good or bad, work through painfully detailed analytical decisions, and review my chronically too-long manuscripts. She is a gifted mentor and a wonderful friend, and has taught me so much about research, life, and how to balance the two.

I am also grateful for my other committee members: Dr. Barry Popkin for his forthright criticism and endless enthusiasm, Dr. Kelly Evenson for providing rigorous feedback and for keeping me excited about the field, Dr. David Guilkey for his patient guidance with even the most basic econometric methods, Dr. Yan Song for providing conceptual and methodological perspectives from urban planning, and Dr. Linda Adair for asking challenging questions and always keeping her door open.

This work would not have been possible without Brian Frizzelle, Evan Hammer, Chris Mankoff, Marc Peterson, Allen Serkin, Jay Stewart in the Spatial Analysis Unit at the Carolina Population Center who, with the leadership of Dr. Penny Gordon-Larsen, developed the unique set of environment variables used for this research. I learned a tremendous amount from them about geographic methodologies, and I am grateful for their help and patience. I also thank Phil Bardsley, Andrea Richardson, Mariah Cheng, and Diane Kaczor for their incredible data management and analytical support.

vi

This work was supported by dissertation grants from the Centers for Disease Control (R36-EH00380), Robert Wood Johnson Foundation Active Living Research program, and Henry Dearman and Martha Stucker and the Royster Society of Fellows at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. Their support of young investigators opens opportunities for not only their grant recipients but also the advancement and evolution of health research.

I thank my family and friends for their virtually unconditional support over so many years. My parents have supported and encouraged me, listened to my generally self-inflicted problems, instilled an appreciation for hard work and contributing to the world around me. Friends at UNC and around the country helped me to, sometimes by force, laugh, relax, and remember that there is more to life than regression modeling. Finally, thank you to Chris, my husband who loves and supports me every minute of every day.

Table of Contents

List	List of Tablesxii			
List	List of Figures			
List	of A	Abbreviations	xiv	
I.	Inti	roduction	1	
	A.	Background	1	
	B.	Research Aims	2	
II.	Lite	erature Review	4	
	A.	Determinants of Physical Activity	4	
		The socio-ecologic framework	4	
		The built and socioeconomic environments	6	
		Dynamic interactions within and between levels of influence	6	
	B.	Research Gaps	7	
		Study populations used in existing research		
		Inter-relationships between built environment characteristics	9	
		Residential self-selection: a major research gap		
	C.	Conclusion		
III.	Me	ethods		
	A.	Study Population and Data Sources		
		Add Health		
		GIS Database		
	B.	Analytical Variables		
		Environment measures		

	Physical activity (outcome)	.27
	Individual-level covariates	. 28
C.	Sample weights and survey clustering	. 28
IV. Bu U.S. ad	ailt and socioeconomic environments: patterning and associations with physical activity in olescents	. 30
A.	Abstract	. 30
B.	Introduction	. 31
C.	Methods	. 32
	Study population and data sources	. 32
	Study variables	. 33
	Statistical analysis	.35
D.	Results	. 37
	Patterning of the built and socioeconomic environments	. 37
	Relationship between built and SES environments	. 38
	MVPA and built and SES environment factor scores: associations and confounding	. 38
	MVPA and built and SES environment single measures: setting the stage for longitudinal settings and external study populations	. 39
E.	Discussion	.40
	Insights about the environment gained from pattern analysis	. 40
	Importance of incorporating many aspects of the environment when estimating neighborhood effects on physical activity	. 42
	Forging ahead with replicable measures into longitudinal settings and external population	s43
	Limitations and Strengths	.45
	Conclusion	.46
V. Re between	esidential self-selection bias in the estimation of built environment effects on physical activi n adolescence and young adulthood	ty . 60
A.	Abstract	. 60
B.	Introduction	.61

	C.	Methods	62
		Study population and data sources	62
		Study variables	63
		Statistical analysis	65
	D.	Results	67
	E.	Discussion	67
		Built environment findings in the Add Health population	68
		Residential self-selection bias: upward, downward, or more complex?	68
		Within-person estimators applied to a life transition period	70
		Restriction by residential relocation status: an additional source of bias?	71
		Strengths and limitations	71
		Conclusions	72
VI.	Syı	nopsis	79
	A.	Do active communities support activity? But first, what is an active community?	80
		Review of environment construct findings	81
		Implications for existing environment measures	82
		Distinguishing proxies and causal agents: the start of a long journey?	83
	B.	Do active communities support activity?	87
		Review of findings	88
		What have we learned?	89
		Some important next steps and complementary research strategies	90
		What if active communities support active people, too?	91
	C. re	Reconnecting with policy, people, and the real environment: some questions for future search	92
		What built environmental modifications should be made first (or simultaneously)?	93
		How dramatic must built environmental modifications be to achieve a meaningful change physical activity in the population?	e in 94

	In what ways do we expect physical activity to change?	96	
	Will built environmental modifications be more or less effective in different subpopula	tions	
	or different types of communities?	97	
D.	Conclusion	100	
Referen	nces	101	

List of Tables

Table 1. Built and socioeconomic environment measures: ¹ data sources and variable descriptions47
Table 2. Individual-level characteristics by sex [mean/% (SE)] ¹ 49
Table 3. Built and socioeconomic environment characteristics: descriptive statistics ¹
Table 4. Built environment factor loadings resulting from exploratory factor analysis ¹
Table 5. Socioeconomic environment factor loadings resulting from exploratory factor analysis ¹ 52
Table 6. Crude associations between built environment factor scores and socioeconomic environment factor quartiles [coeff (95% CI)] ¹
Table 7. Assessment of confounding to associations between built and socioeconomic environmentfactor score quartiles and weekly bouts of MVPA, males (n=8,747) [exp(coeff) (95% CI) [change incoefficient ²] ¹ 54
Table 8. Assessment of confounding to associations between built and socioeconomic environmentfactor score quartiles and weekly bouts of MVPA, females (n=8,694) [exp(coeff) (95% CI) [change incoefficient ²] ¹ 56
Table 9 Association between representative built, social, and economic environment measure quartiles and weekly bouts of MVPA [exp(coeff)] ¹
Table 10 . Sociodemographic characteristics in adolescence and young adulthood: descriptive statistics, by residential relocation status [mean/% (SE)] ¹ 73
Table 11. Baseline and changes in built and socioeconomic environment characteristics between adolescence and young adulthood: descriptive statistics, by residential relocation status ¹ 74
Table 12. Random and within-person effect estimates ¹ of built and socioeconomic environment characteristics on MVPA between adolescence and young adulthood [elasticity (95% CI)]
Table 13. Variation in within-person effect estimates ¹ of built and socioeconomic environment characteristics on MVPA between adolescence and young adulthood by residential relocation status, ² [elasticity (95% CI)] 76
Table 14. Model coefficients and significance for random and within-person effect estimates ¹ of built and socioeconomic environment characteristics on MVPA between adolescence and young adulthood 77
Table 15. Model coefficients and significance for within-person effect estimates ¹ of built and socioeconomic environment characteristics on MVPA between adolescence and young adulthood by residential relocation status ²

List of Figures

Figure 1 Relationships among diet, physical activity, and obesity within the socio-ecologic	
ramework	
Figure 2. Example of one set of 8 km respondent buffers from the larger 42,857 census block groups	
(19% of U.S. block groups) of Add Health Wave I	3

List of Abbreviations

Add Health	National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health
CFA	Confirmatory Factor Analysis
CI	Confidence Interval
EFA	Exploratory Factor Analysis
ESRI	Environmental Systems Research Institute
FIML	Full Information Maximum Likelihood
GIS	Geographic Information Systems
GPS	Global Positioning System
ICC	Intraclass Correlation
MVPA	Moderate to Vigorous intensity Physical Activity
PA	Physical Activity
PCA	Principle Components Analysis
RMSE	Root Mean Square Error
SES	Socioeconomic Status
U.S.	United States
YMCA	Young Men's Christian Association
ZIP	Zone Improvement Plan postal codes

I. Introduction

A. Background

Evidence that built environment features such as parks and connected street networks can support active lifestyles holds tremendous promise for increasing physical activity levels and preventing obesity. Ultimately, built environment characteristics shown to influence physical activity can be used promote active lifestyles. However, substantial methodological limitations in existing research need to be addressed before this literature can adequately inform policy recommendations.

Potential residential self-selection bias, or bias resulting from already active individuals selecting activity-supporting neighborhoods, is considered a primary threat to causal inferences regarding the influence of the built environment on physical activity. Existing research is dominated by cross-sectional designs and little is known about the magnitude or direction of residential self-selection bias. Longitudinal designs can control for residential self-selection due to observed characteristics *and* unobserved characteristics that remain constant over time (e.g., inherent motivation to exercise) using fixed effects models or similar methods. The few existing longitudinal studies focus on changes in health and behavior following residential relocation, yet the environment can change around stationary individuals and exclusion of residentially stable households could lead to selectivity bias. However, cohorts with time-varying environment and individual behaviors have not previously been available.

Additionally, despite evidence that built environment characteristics related to physical activity may differ in children versus adults, built environment research in child and adolescent populations is limited. Most research is based in confined geographic areas, greatly limiting generalizability. Finally, built environment characteristics are inter-related and likely exert joint

effects, but understanding of these complexities is limited due to the small range of built environment characteristics included in most studies. Furthermore, built environment patterning may shift across life stages but has not been studied in adolescents.

For the proposed research, we addressed these limitations by leveraging a unique Obesity and Environment database that comprises the first large scale geographic information system (GIS) to link community- and individual-level data in both space and time in a large ethnically diverse sample. The National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health), a prospective cohort followed from adolescence to young adulthood, provides extensive individual-level health behavior and outcome data, as well as detailed time varying data on a wide range of community-level factors such as land use, recreation facilities, economic, climate, and crime data.

B. Research Aims

The overarching goal of this research was to estimate the influence of diverse built environment characteristics on physical activity during adolescence and young adulthood in a racially and ethnically diverse sample. We achieved this goal through the following aims:

1) Describe the inter-relationships between built and socioeconomic environment characteristics in a nationally representative sample of adolescents.

- a. Using exploratory factor analysis, identify multidimensional built and socioeconomic environment constructs from a large set of objective environment measures.
- Quantify the extent to which inter-related environment constructs confound cross-sectional, multivariate associations with physical activity.
- c. Create replicable measures for use in longitudinal analysis that account for inter-relationships and avoid collinearity.
- 2) Estimate longitudinal effects of the built environment on physical activity and explore the role of potential biases.

- Use fixed effects models to estimate effects of several built and socioeconomic environment characteristics on physical activity while controlling for time invariant, unmeasured characteristics.
- Assess the influence of residential self-selection bias due to time invariant, unmeasured characteristics on estimated environment-physical activity associations by comparing fixed effects and naïve estimates.
- c. Assess the influence of selection bias related to conditioning on residential relocation by comparing fixed effects estimates in individuals who relocate residences versus those who remain in the same home.

II. Literature Review

The domestic (1-3) and global (4) increase in obesity prevalence and its associated morbidities and mortality (5-7) are well known. Individual-level obesity prevention strategies have achieved limited success (8), and recent attention has turned to broad environmental factors as targets for obesity prevention. In particular, associations between physical activity and community design characteristics have generated not only rapid growth in public health and transportation research (9-13), but also shifts in practice such as the creation of "new urbanist" neighborhoods and application of smart growth principles to community planning (14, 15).

However, research on environmental determinants of obesity and associated behaviors is in its infancy, warranting more detailed examination of these relationships in population subgroups and elucidation of methodological shortcomings in existing research. Without additional research that fill these methodological and conceptual gaps, policies and existing practices designed to encourage physical activity through changes to the built environment will remain without a solid scientific evidence base.

A. Determinants of Physical Activity

A rapidly growing body of research examines the role of a vast range of contextual factors in influencing how individuals move throughout the day (16, 17). The socio-ecologic framework in **Figure 1** depicts one major pathway linking behaviors to obesity, chronic disease, and related risk factors. While this example simplifies complex obesity and chronic disease etiologies, it is useful for theorizing and testing behavior determinants across levels of influence.

The socio-ecologic framework

The socio-ecologic framework describes five interactive levels of influence on health-related

behaviors: intrapersonal, interpersonal, institutional/organizational, community, and public policy (18). Historically, health behavior interventions have focused on intrapersonal factors such as knowledge (19) and motivation (20), or interpersonal factors such as influence of a spouse's behavior (21), or organizational factors, such as workplace supports like onsite fitness equipment (22).

While neighborhoods can capture inter-personal influences (e.g., social support, social cues), the majority of neighborhood health research focuses on built and socioeconomic environments (23, 24). The importance of multiple levels of influence in public health (25) has been recognized in the past decade, starting with research showing increased coronary heart disease incidence associated with living in a disadvantaged neighborhood, independent of individual socioeconomic position (26). While each level can be influenced by any other level, public policy can potentially influence all levels and is arguably the ultimate goal of most neighborhood health research (27, 28).



Figure 1 Relationships among diet, physical activity, and obesity within the socio-ecologic framework

Adapted from model developed at the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Workshop: Predictors of Obesity, Weight Gain, Diet, and Physical Activity; August 2004, Bethesda MD

The built and socioeconomic environments

The built environment is a major component of community design comprised of aspects such as buildings, transportation systems, parks, and greenways. It is a particularly promising target for improving population health due to its apparent influence on physical activity and hence chronic disease prevention, as well as its existing linkages with local policies.

Researchers have found relatively consistent relationships between physical activity and urban sprawl (29), alternatively referred to as "walkability" (30), incorporating street connectivity measures, land use mix, housing density, and block lengths or retail floor area. Associations between physical activity and pedestrian and biking infrastructure such as sidewalks and bike lanes have been mixed (31, 32). Physical activity is related to access to recreational resources such as parks or physical activity facilities in youth (33) and adults (34, 35). Retail destinations such as shops and restaurants within walking distance are also correlated with walking behaviors (31, 36).

The socioeconomic environment, comprised of economic factors (e.g., poverty rate) and social factors (e.g., racial composition or crime and safety), are related to physical activity, obesity, and disease in existing research (37, 38).

Dynamic interactions within and between levels of influence

The socio-ecologic framework accommodates dynamic relationships among factors within and between levels of influence. Aspects of the built and socioeconomic environments are correlated (33) and appear to have independent relationships with physical activity (37). Built and socioeconomic environments may also interact: for example, high income neighborhoods may have greater local political influence to lobby for a community center or traffic calming measures, which could theoretically maintain or build social capital and improve socioeconomic indicators in the long run.

Additionally, the neighborhood environment may influence residents' perceptions of their neighborhood. An environment rich in activity opportunities may lower the perceived burden of

engaging in physical activity (intrapersonal factor), act as a visual reminder to be active, or enforce activity as a cultural norm (interpersonal factors) (39). While we do not address perceived measures of the environment in our research, we assume any causal influence of the objective environment on physical activity occurs at least in part through perceptions of the environment (18), thus involving both intra- and interpersonal level factors. While agreement between perceived and objective measures of the environment is low (40, 41), the socio-ecologic framework remains useful as agreement may improve with better characterization of neighborhood boundaries and amenities.

Further, the dynamic relationships among socio-ecologic framework levels imply that intraand interpersonal factors influence community-level exposures, either through changes in the environment around stationary residents, residential relocation, or some combination of the two. By way of simple example, the first mechanism (changes in the environment) would occur if the city opened a new basketball court in response to demand by community members. The second mechanism (residential relocation) would occur if those motivated to exercise choose to move into neighborhoods with parks or close access to fitness facilities. The latter example describes a major criticism of neighborhood health research and one focus of our study: residential self-selection (42). In other words, our concern about self-selectivity raises the question of whether addition of recreation options will enhance activity patterns in any selected neighborhood.

B. Research Gaps

Discussions of challenges and limitations to neighborhood health research have been previously published (42, 43). Of particular relevance to this project, heterogeneity of relationships by life stage and gender has been largely ignored, and many studies are conducted in small geographic areas with limited geographic variability and environment measures. Further, the literature is largely cross-sectional, which is particularly vulnerable to bias due to residential selfselection. We discuss each of these issues in the following sections.

Study populations used in existing research

Adolescence and young adulthood

Physical inactivity is an exceptionally consistent risk factor for obesity in both children (44, 45) and adults (46, 47). Additionally, as physical activity declines dramatically throughout adolescence (48-51) and young adulthood (52), obesity prevalence rises in parallel (53-56). The transition from adolescence to young adulthood is thus a critical period for weight gain as well as behavior change (53, 57-59), making this life stage a promising target for obesity prevention.

The majority of research on built environment effects on physical activity has focused on adults, and findings in child, adolescent (10, 33, 60), and elderly (61, 62) populations are largely similar with some key exceptions. Contrary to findings showing "sprawl" as a barrier to physical activity (63, 64), Nelson and colleagues reported higher physical activity in adolescents living in suburban neighborhoods (65). Likewise, de Vries and colleagues identified the number of parallel parking spaces as a positive correlate of physical activity in grade school children, theorizing that they may create an additional buffer between the sidewalk and street or reduce vehicle speed (66). Additionally, traffic safety appears to be a stronger predictor of active commuting (67, 68) and physical activity (69) in children than adults. These studies suggest that built environment characteristics supporting physical activity may be sensitive to the age of the target population. However, built environment research in children and adolescents is growing but still limited.

Sex differences

Differences in determinants of physical activity between males and females (70) may be even more pronounced in adolescence, when participation in organized physical activity is higher in males (71). Females may also be more influenced by safety concerns (72) and sociodemographic characteristics (70). Indeed, Eid and collegues found differences in urban sprawl-obesity associations by sex (73), and we found stronger built environment-physical associations in males in the Add

Health population in previous studies (74). However, few studies have examined sex-specific associations or sex interactions between the built environment and physical activity.

Geographic scope

Further, most existing research has been conducted in samples derived from confined geographic areas with limited racial and ethnic diversity (e.g., (14, 31, 61, 75)), making generalization of findings difficult. Study of built environment-health relationships in large, sociodemographically diverse samples residing in diverse environmental contexts, particularly in critical age groups, is an essential prerequisite to creating policies and environments that support physical activity.

Inter-relationships between built environment characteristics

Neighborhood environments are extremely complex, composed of a multitude of inter-related characteristics. Correlations between environmental characteristics pose two problems for assessing relationships with behavior. From a statistical perspective, traditional multivariate methods incorporating inter-related independent variables are susceptible to multicollinearity and violation of model assumptions. From a conceptual perspective, single characteristics likely operate not in isolation but as combinations of design features. Examination of patterning among environment variables is valuable not only for understanding how, and to what extent, environment characteristics are inter-related, but also for developing environment measures which account for inter-relationships and avoid multicollinearity.

Several methods can be used to examine inter-relationships among variables, including descriptive approaches, cluster analysis (or its maximum likelihood counterpart, latent class analysis), creation of summary variables that optimize relationships with an outcome of interest, and exploratory or confirmatory factor analysis. Descriptive analyses such as bivariate correlations or tabulations are a valuable first step for any of these analysis strategies, but are limited because they do not account for inter-relationships between three or more variables, and the resulting patterns can become prohibitively cumbersome with large sets of variables. In contrast, cluster analysis identifies

mutually exclusive groups with similar patterning among numerous variables. For example, Nelson et al identified several clusters of adolescents characterized by various patterns of built and socioeconomic environment measures such as newer suburban and low socioeconomic status innercity areas (65). However, the resulting patterns are categorical and data-driven, and thus not easily applied to longitudinal analysis or replication in external populations.

Additional approaches include index measures and reduced rank regression, which create summary variable(s) that explain the maximum amount of variance in the outcome variable(s). Indeed, to account for correlations between measures of urban form, Frank et al (30) developed a walkability index incorporating net residential density, street connectivity, and land-use mix; these components were weighted in a manner that maximized the explained variance in accelerometermeasured moderate physical activity duration per day. This walkability index has been examined in other samples (76), a necessary step because they were created by optimizing relationships with the outcome of interest. However, this walkability index does not incorporate recreational resources such as parks or fitness centers, which are also important elements of the built environment.

In contrast, factor analysis and principle components analysis (PCA) creates composite variables which best explain correlations between, and variation of, a set of variables, independent of the outcomes of interest. For example, Ewing et al and several other investigators (30, 41, 63) used PCA to create urban sprawl or similar summary measures. While PCA and exploratory factor analysis (EFA) are vulnerable to idiosyncratic patterns within a particular study population, they are valuable exploratory tools which, as opposed to confirmatory factor analysis, can accommodate a wider range of variable distributions and do not require extensive prior knowledge of the structure and relevant indicators of environment constructs. However, existing urban sprawl measures also do not incorporate physical activity facilities and were developed based on knowledge about patterning in adult populations and either on a small scale in small geographic areas or a large scale (e.g., counties) in larger geographic areas.

More generally, with these and few other exceptions (32, 61, 65), existing studies consider a single dimension of the built environment in relation to physical activity rather than the combined effect of multiple dimensions. Given the wide range of built and socioeconomic characteristics that are associated with physical activity, even characteristics weakly correlated enough to avoid multicollinearity may confound associations with physical activity. Therefore, concerns about multicollinearity and confounding must be balanced when estimating independent (or joint) effects of environment characteristics on physical activity.

In sum, greater understanding of how a broad range of built and socioeconomic environment characteristics are inter-related in demographically and geographically diverse adolescent populations is needed. Such knowledge will inform strategies to better account for correlations and potential confounding among environmental variables when estimating their independent associations with physical activity.

Residential self-selection: a major research gap

Potential bias due to residential self-selection has been identified as the primary limitation in built environment research (77) and is of particular concern in cross-sectional studies which predominate the existing literature. We refer readers to two excellent reviews on residential selfselection in the context of travel behavior: Bhat and Guo discuss several adjustment methods of control for residential self-selection and present their own simultaneous modeling strategy (78), and Mokhtarian and Cao review methodologies used to address "attitude-induced" residential selfselection, which is driven by travel or residential preferences (79). The following discussion builds on these reviews by incorporating perspectives from health research using epidemiologic and econometric methods.

Residential self-selection bias stems from concern that selection of a neighborhood may be related to both the neighborhood exposure and the health outcome of interest. A frequently overlooked point is that bias can result if factors driving residential selection are either directly or

indirectly related to the exposure and outcome. In the context of built environment effects on physical activity, bias resulting from a direct relationship will result if already physically active individuals select neighborhoods based on their activity-supporting amenities. As an example of indirect relationships which may lead to bias, low income families may choose a neighborhood based solely on the affordability of housing; if these neighborhoods also contain inadequate physical activity resources and the families are less physically active (33), the built environment–physical activity relationship can be overestimated. Put simply, positive relationships between the built environment and physical activity can be attributed to (1) the effect of the environment on physical activity, (2) the effect of predisposition for physical activity, *or characteristics related to physical activity*, on residential choice, or (3) both.

Formally, consider the following model of physical activity (PA) as a function of vectors of environmental exposures of interest (E), sociodemographic characteristics (S), measured residential preferences (P), and unmeasured or unmeasureable characteristics that are related to PA (U). ε is an error term assumed to be random.

(1)
$$PA = \beta_0 + \beta_1 E + \beta_2 S + \beta_3 P + \beta_4 U + \varepsilon$$

Typical analysis of associations between the built environment and physical activity include PA, E, and S using traditional multivariate adjustment of common sociodemographic measures. Some studies include P, which capture measured residential preferences that may influence residential choice. However, U is unmeasured and is thus omitted from the model, and variability in PA explained by U must be relegated to the error term in the model to form a composite error $\varepsilon^*=\beta_4U+\varepsilon$. This is permissible if U is unrelated to E, S, and P. However, if ε^* is correlated with the independent variables, standard estimation methods will lead to biased estimates of the built environment variable coefficients (β_1) while also potentially distorting the estimates of the remaining coefficients in the equation (β_2 , and β_3). Understanding these complex inter-relationships is essential for obtaining precise, robust, and unbiased estimates of neighborhood effects (80).

Components of U related to selection of a neighborhood may include unmeasured preferences

for neighborhood characteristics related to physical activity amenities or other features such as schools, proximity to work or family, or other factors. These components may lead to residential self-selection bias, described as unmeasured confounders by epidemiologists and unobserved heterogeneity by economists (81).

Direct evidence of residential self-selection

Largely, the literature on environmental determinants of physical activity and obesity treats residential decisions as exogenous factors. However, the strong roles of race and income in residential selection are well documented in migration and residential mobility research (82, 83) as well as housing selection studies (84, 85). Coupled with the vast literature demonstrating socioeconomic and racial disparities in physical activity (86), existing knowledge supports the indirect residential self-selection bias mechanism. Further, recreation and other physical activity-related facilities are inequitably distributed across neighborhoods by race-ethnic and SES composition (33).

There is also evidence for the direct residential self-selection bias mechanism. For example, a recent market survey supports increasing yet varied preferences for denser, more centrally located neighborhoods (87). Consumers who prefer such neighborhoods might tend to have higher physical activity levels. Indeed, participants citing access to transit as an important reason for living in a "transit-oriented development" were almost 20 times more likely to use rail transit than those who did not cite this reason (88). Likewise, physical activity and belief that an activity-friendly community will support active transit have been shown to be significant predictors of desiring to live in an activity-friendly community (89). The microeconomic behavioral literature suggests that there may be peer neighborhood effects leading to self-selection or preference for neighborhoods resulting in race/ethnic stratification across neighborhoods, even in the situation of equivalent expenditures (and potentially amenities) across these neighborhoods (90).

While these studies provide evidence of residential selection bias, they rely on self-reported

preference, belief, and behavior data which have important limitations. First, residential choices are determined by a virtually infinite set of variables such as affordability, convenience, and proximity to social support networks that may not be articulated by respondents, so reporting preference for activity-supportive communities has limited meaning (85, 91). Second, preferences are endogenous; unobserved factors such as financial constraints (i.e. affordability) may influence both self-reported preferences and selection of neighborhoods with amenities of interest. Failure to control for the endogeneity of preferences can result in biased estimates for the preference variables.

Strategies to control for residential self-selection bias

Associations between built environment factors and behavioral outcomes have been the topic of investigations across several fields including urban planning, transportation, economics, and epidemiology, each with their own methodological norms, culminating in recent and increased interdisciplinary research (9, 11, 92). To adjust for residential self-selection bias, these researchers have taken various approaches, including adjustment for self-reported residential preferences, adjustment for observed predictors of residential selection, longitudinal designs, and structural equations modeling.

While randomized controlled trials that experimentally assign families or amenities to neighborhoods (93) may help to address residential self-selection bias, experimental assignment of neighborhoods (or neighborhood characteristics) is not often financially or politically feasible. Therefore, we focus on advancements in statistical adjustment methods, availability of richer, longitudinal environmental datasets, and innovative study designs that have, and can continue to, vastly improve the validity of observational studies.

Control for attitudes and preferences. Attitude and residential preference data have been used in some of the first studies to attempt to control for residential self-selection in cross-sectional analyses. As described in greater detail by Mokhtarian and Cao (79), preference data have been used as control

variables in multivariate models (94, 95) or to create variables reflecting the dissonance between residential preferences and objective neighborhood characteristics (96-98).

While these methods are innovative, they require the assumption that preference measures capture true preferences and are not influenced by current environment or transportation behaviors. As we have described, such assumptions may not hold. In studies of built environment determinants of physical activity, preferences and attitudes pose problems beyond those described for studying residential choice. Many economists view an individual's attitudes and preferences as being determined by many of the same factors that determine physical activity and residential selection. Additionally, reporting errors associated with self-reported preferences and behaviors are probably strongly correlated: those who value public transit might be more likely to over-state both their preference for and use of public transit. That is, unobserved factors (U and V) affect both preferences and self-reported physical activity-related behaviors.

For these reasons, self-reported residential preferences are likely endogenous and thus inadequate as control variables in the prediction of self-reported physical activity. There is a large literature on the topic of determinants of preference structure which is outside the purview of this discussion. Ultimately, it is possible that controlling for residential preferences may not only fail to correct for residential self-selection bias but may introduce additional bias due to correlation of errors in reported preferences and behaviors. While self-reported preferences may provide insights about the potential role of preferences in residential choice, this approach is not a substitute for other methods which are less vulnerable to endogeneity and correlated measurement errors.

Control for observed predictors of residential selection. An alternative approach is to control for predictors of observed residential selection using methods such as propensity scores (99, 100). Propensity score methods attempt to control for non-random selection into a treatment (or exposure) group in experimental or observational studies, more recently in the built environment literature. For example, using cross-sectional data, Boer et al. showed that cross-sectional associations between

walkability measures and walking were attenuated after propensity score adjustment, in some cases near or past the null (15).

Propensity score methods model "treatment," defined in this context as living in a neighborhood with activity-supportive characteristics, as a function of measured covariates. These strategies model the probability of living in a particular environment, given individual characteristics. Resulting probabilities (propensity scores) are subsequently used as adjustment or matching variables in models predicting physical activity from environment characteristics. Propensity score methods were developed for binary treatments but can be expanded to multiple-level treatments. However, these methods are not always easily implemented. Indeed, Boer et al were forced to conduct a series of analyses comparing adjacent levels of built environment measures, adjusting for propensity scores reflecting the probability of living in areas with higher versus lower measures within each pair of levels (15). Alternatively, predicted probabilities can be incorporated into weighting variables (inverse-to-probability-of-treatment weighting), which offer the advantage of accommodating multi-level or continuously scaled "treatments" (101).

There are several advantages of propensity score methods over traditional covariate adjustment. The balance of covariates can be explicitly verified, and larger sets of covariates can be included in analysis. In the case of matching and weighting methods, selection bias induced by conditioning on common effects of the outcome and exposure (e.g. residential movement) can be avoided (102). However, propensity score methods only control for observed characteristics and assume adequate measurement of included variables. Therefore, they can control for residential selection bias only to the extent that covariates included in the treatment models capture determinants of selection into activity-supportive neighborhoods (103, 104). Unobserved characteristics correlated with the environment and physical activity will bias the obtained estimates. Thus, propensity score methods may not fully address residential self-selection.

Longitudinal designs. The most ideal observational designs are longitudinal, and assess changes in

physical activity in relation to changes in the built environment. For example, Krizek took advantage of an annual panel survey that followed households who moved within a metropolitan area (105). Krizek used first difference models to estimate change in travel behavior as a function of change in the built environment resulting from residential relocation, finding that an increase in neighborhood accessibility was associated with a decrease in vehicle miles traveled. This study design controls for endogenous characteristics such as motivation for physical activity that *remain constant over time* by subtracting out time invariant components of U in the model above. To illustrate, consider an expansion of Model 1, which distinguishes variables that change (time variant) versus remain constant (time invariant) for individual i over time t:

(2)
$$PA_{it} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 E_{it} + \beta_2 S_i + \beta_3 T_{it} + \beta_4 P_i + \beta_5 U_i + \beta_6 V_{it} + \varepsilon_i + v_{it}$$

S and T are vectors of observed time invariant and variant sociodemographic variables, respectively. U and V are vectors of unobserved time invariant and variant variables, respectively. U might include genetic determinants of propensity to exercise, while V might include factors such as desire to actively commute, which may change over time. Associated error terms are ε_i (random, personspecific error) and v_{it} (random error for person i at time t). Recall that because U and V are unmeasured, and the variability in PA explained by U and V is captured in composite errors $\varepsilon_i^* = \beta_5 U_i$ $+ \varepsilon_i$ and $v_{it}^* = \beta_6 V_{it} + v_{it}$, respectively. Model 2 at time 1 subtracted from Model 2 at time 2 yields the following model, which is estimated by first difference models:

(3)
$$(PA_{i2} - PA_{i1}) = \beta_1(E_{i2} - E_{i1}) + \beta_3(T_{i2} - T_{i1}) + (\nu_{i2}* - \nu_{i1}*)$$

Time invariant sociodemographics (S), measured preferences (P), and person-specific error (ε_i^*) subtract out of Model 3. In particular, ε_i^* captures unmeasured time invariant factors, which will no longer bias the estimates. v_{it}^* , which may capture time unmeasured invariant factors, remains in the model, so first difference models (and fixed effects models) are vulnerable to endogenous characteristics that change over time. However, a recent study suggests that this remaining bias is not problematic: the relationship between sprawl and obesity was completely attenuated when estimated

with first difference models (73), although we might expect stronger, more robust relationships between sprawl and a more proximate measure such as physical activity.

Additionally, the Krizek study is, to our knowledge, the only population-based longitudinal study examining the association between the built environment and physical activity. Others (29, 106, 107) have examined longitudinal associations between urban form and obesity or body mass index, although only Eid and colleagues (73) estimated true first difference models; other studies included time invariant characteristics or baseline measures in their models. However, while each of these studies use longitudinal individual-level sociodemographic and behavior data, the environment data was collected at one point in time. Therefore, these studies were restricted to individuals who moved between time periods in order to obtain variability in the environment variables, potentially leading to selection bias.

Summary. Each of the above described methods has made important contributions to understanding residential self-selection bias, and structural equations modeling strategies (instrumental variables, path analysis, and full information maximum likelihood methods; see Section VI.B) provide additional options. However, recent availability of our nationally representative, time-varying environment database can improve upon the few existing longitudinal studies. Replication of first difference (or fixed effects) estimates in a nationally representative sample containing residentially stable and mobile individuals is a logical next step toward understanding the role of residential self-selection bias.

C. Conclusion

The rapidly growing field of built environmental determinants of health behaviors and outcomes is at a crucial juncture. Without additional longitudinal analyses and an understanding of residential selection bias and methods to overcome such bias, environment-health research will be seriously limited. Our Obesity and Environment database, the first large scale GIS to link community- and individual-level data in both space and time in a large ethnically diverse sample,

presents an unprecedented opportunity to develop a better understanding of built environment patterning in a critical life stage and the role residential selection bias in the relationship between built environment and physical activity.

III. Methods

A. Study Population and Data Sources

The National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health) provides extensive behavioral and individual-level health outcomes collected at multiple time points that were linked and compared to environmental data derived from a geographic information system (GIS).

Add Health

Initially a school-based study, the core sample represents all adolescents attending U.S. public, private and parochial schools, grades 7-12, in the 1994-1995 school year, with special over-sampled groups (e.g., non-Hispanic blacks with a college-educated parent) [N=20,745]. From a primary sampling frame (all U.S. high schools), a stratified sample of 80 high schools and 52 junior high feeder schools was selected and surveyed in-school [N=90,000], with probability proportional to size. Adolescents were randomly selected from in-school survey respondents and school rosters for the Wave I in-home interview conducted in the 1994-1995 academic year (11-21 years). Wave II included all eligible adolescents who would have been in school for the 1995-1996 (excluding those who graduated in 1995). All located Wave I respondents (regardless of participation in Wave II) were eligible for Wave III (2001- 2002). A fourth wave is in progress and will provide future research potential.

GIS Database

Our Obesity and Environment database is a unique large scale GIS that links communitylevel data to individual respondent residential locations in both space and time. Community-level data include density and proximity to recreational facilities, land use pattern, population, economic, climate, and crime statistics, which were linked spatially and temporally to individual-level Add Health behavior and health outcomes data across the study periods.

Objective measures of the built environment

Objective measures of the built environment derived from GIS's have facilitated examination of built environment effects in large population studies. Such measures do not rely on resourceintensive neighborhood audits or other forms of direct observation, and avoid limitations of perceived measures of the environment (12, 108, 109). Many studies have demonstrated relationships between physical activity and GIS-derived measures such as connectivity, land use mix, population density (e.g., (30, 63, 64, 75, 76)) and access to resources (e.g.,(32, 36, 62)). Additionally, these measures are by definition easily quantifiable and thus particularly applicable to planning policies. While perception of environment is an important area of study and objective and perceived environments appear to be jointly associated with physical activity (40, 61, 110, 111) and thus comprise a promising emerging area of research, the study of GIS-derived measures remain important as they enable research in large, diverse samples, and provide quantitative measures that more easily translate into planning policies.

Scope and validity of the database

The Add Health GIS database is linked to individual respondent residential locations. Federal, private, and commercial sources of data were integrated into the GIS and linked spatially and temporally to respondent geocoded residential locations through complex human subject security procedures.

Residential mobility. 67% of Add Health respondents moved residences between Waves I and III, including 19% who moved to a different county and an additional 12% who moved to a different state. These data thus provided sufficient numbers of observations for longitudinal analysis of the health impacts of the built environment during adolescence and young adulthood.

Database validity. Environmental databases are vulnerable to errors due to incomplete records, of particular concern for parks, and out of date records. In the creation of respondent-specific environmental variables, geocoding error and inaccuracies in the street files are additional sources of error. For example, inaccurate placement of a facility or a residence along a street segment during the geocoding process may influence the calculated distance between the facility and a respondent, thus contributing to errors in the count of and distance to facilities. Of these environmental measures, only the physical activity facilities database has been validated for count, attribute, and positional accuracy. Additionally, out of date or otherwise inaccurate street files may contribute to unmatched addresses in the geocoding process, or may influence network distance due to new or closed streets. Validation of respondent specific facility counts, distance to facilities, or similar variables would require access to respondent-specific addresses, which is precluded by confidentiality agreements for Add Health. Ultimately, these potential errors are likely to be random, and are a tradeoff for data available for these two large populations.

Geocoding accuracy. At Wave I, residential locations for adolescents in the probability sample (n=18,924) were determined from the following sources, in order of priority: (1) geocoded home addresses with street-segment matches (n=15,480), (2) global positioning system (GPS) measurements (n=2,996), (3) ZIP/ZIP+4/ZIP+2 centroid match (n=205), (4) respondent's geocoded school location (n=243). At Wave III, residential locations for young adults in the probability sample (n=14,322) were determined from geocoded home addresses with street-segment matches (n=13,039), global positioning system (GPS) measurements (n=1,204), and ZIP/ZIP+4/ZIP+2 centroid matches (n=685). Individual-level and environmental measures differed for respondents located with GPS compared to other sources, reflecting rural locations in which Post Office Boxes or other addresses that cannot be geocoded. Otherwise, individual-level and environmental measures were similar across residential location source.
Spatial analytical methods

Point in polygon overlay analyses were used to identify census and metropolitan location areas to allow linkage of data at specified levels appropriate for each source dataset (e.g., census block, county). All spatial analyses were completed in ESRI ArcGIS (112) GIS and mapping software, and customized by the Carolina Population Center Spatial Analysis Unit with programming languages such as AML (113), Avenue (114), Python (115), Visual Basic (116), NetEngine (117), and C++ (118) to handle the data volume of this comprehensive and national GIS database. Quality assurance/control measures, such as manual, visual comparison of derived data against aerial photograph data were undertaken.





Buffer-based neighborhoods

A series of respondent-specific environmental measures were created using a series of buffers surrounding the location of residence. A circle of 8-km radius was drawn around each respondent (**Figure 2**), based on empirical evidence that this distance would likely capture relevant physical activity and diet-related facilities (39, 119). Specifically, 25% of all trips are less than 1.61 km (75%)

of these are by car), 62% of "social/recreational" trips are within 8.05 km (120) and 72% of walking trips are under 1 km (almost all are under 8.05 km) (119). Built environment characteristics and features within this 8-km buffer were then integrated into the GIS.

Advantage of buffer versus administrative neighborhood definitions. Despite substantial discussion regarding how to validly define a neighborhood using GIS-based data (43, 121, 122), administrative boundaries (e.g., counties, metropolitan statistical areas, ZIP codes, or census tracts or block groups) are, to date, the most commonly used definitions. While these administrative boundaries are readily and inexpensively available, they are somewhat arbitrary. Additionally, census geographies are designed to contain consistent population sizes, so their geographic size decreases as population density increases, resulting in dramatic variability in neighborhood size across regions. Finally, administrative boundaries disregard the respondents' location within the neighborhood. For example, for respondents who reside close to a block group boundary, resources in the adjacent block group may be closer than those in their own block group. These issues likely contribute substantial misclassification and ultimately attenuation of observed built environment-behavior relationships.

In contrast, neighborhood buffers define the neighborhood as the area within a given distance of the location of residence. Euclidean (circular) buffers are areas within a given straight-line distance from each respondent's residence (34, 123). Network buffers define the neighborhood as the area within a given distance along the street networks (30, 62), potentially providing a truer measure of proximity. Both types of buffers provide comparable neighborhood sizes and explicitly place the location of residence in the center of the neighborhood, thus avoiding misclassification related to administratively defined neighborhoods. In sum, buffer defined neighborhoods may help to reduce misclassification and enable more accurate and precise estimation of the effects of the built environment of health behaviors and outcomes.

Buffers and census units used in this project. Within the 8k buffer, 1, 3, 5, and 8k Euclidean and network buffer analyses were possible. Theoretically, the most appropriate buffer may differ among

various built environment characteristics and resources. For example, pedestrian access is widely accepted as one-quarter mile network distance (124) and physical activity facilities are most likely to be used within a 5 km range (39). It is also likely that the relevant buffer size is smaller for children and adolescents than adults.

Therefore, as a precursor to this proposed study, we conducted cross-sectional analyses using 1, 3, 5, and 8 kilometer Euclidean buffers in Add Health Wave I (74). Total area was not available for network buffers, so all analyses used Euclidean buffers for built environment measures. We examined the distribution of each variable derived within each buffer definition and its association with physical activity, stratified by urbanicity, finding that intersection density within 1k buffers and count of physical activity facilities (not including parks) within 3k buffers were most strongly and consistently related to physical activity. Weighted facilities counts yielded associations intermediate to associations with buffer-specific, unweighted counts, so they did not appear to provide additional advantage. Additionally, population density within a 1k buffer was a stronger confounder than within 3k. Because we theorized that street connectivity, population density, and landscape patterning influence physical activity through similar mechanisms, we also used a 1k buffer for landscape patterning variables. Similarly, we treated parks as a type of physical activity facility and thus used counts of parks within a 3k buffer. To summarize, we used 3k buffers for physical activity resources and parks and 1k buffers for street connectivity, population density, and landscape patterning.

Census variables were calculated at the county, census tract, and block group levels. In other preliminary analysis (unpublished), census-tract level poverty, education, and racial composition were most strongly and consistently related to physical activity. Therefore, we used census tract-level measures for all census-based sociodemographic variables.

B. Analytical Variables

Environment measures

As described in the previous section, we analyzed environment variables calculated within buffers or census geographies selected based on preliminary analysis. Detailed descriptions and data sources of the following environment variables are presented in Section IV, **Table 1**.

Physical activity facilities/resources were obtained from a commercially purchased timevarying national dataset containing street addresses and 8-digit Standard Industrial Classification codes (SIC). The database was validated against a field-based census of recreational facilities and resources, and demonstrated high overall agreement between commercial and field data in an urban and non-urban setting. Moreover, the patterns of error observed in the commercial data suggested that estimates of environment-health outcomes would not be substantially altered (125). Youth organizations are comprised primarily of YMCA's; due to the virtual duplication in these variables, YMCA's were excluded from analysis. All analyses used unweighted counts of facilities within 3k buffers.

Local parks and recreation areas <200 acres were hypothesized to more strongly influence routine activities than regional or national parks. Counts of local parks within 3k of each respondent residence were extracted from the parks component of ESRI StreetMap Pro. This data source has not been validated, and there is evidence that electronic sources of parks do not capture all parks; however, these data provide comparable parks information in our nationally representative population.

Several *street connectivity* measures were calculated from the ESRI StreetMap 2000 dataset within 1k buffers. *Population counts* were calculated by averaging census block-group population counts, weighted according to the proportion of block-group area captured within 1k and 3k buffers; *population density* was calculated by dividing by the corresponding buffer area (square kilometers).

Land cover data were derived from the software package Fragstats (126) based on the national land cover dataset. Total area, mean patch size, patch count, and patch density were available for each of six land pattern classes: (1) water or perennial ice, (2) low & medium density developed, (3) high density developed, (4) recreational developed, (5) undeveloped/natural, and (6) agricultural. Fractal dimension indices and patch density of recreational and undeveloped land cover were also included in analysis.

Measures of the socioeconomic environment included the following: *neighborhood sociodemographics* included median household income (1990 measures inflated to 2000 dollars); proportion of households below poverty and owning (versus renting) their homes; proportion of persons with at least a college education, of minority race/ethnicity was determined from the 1990 and 2000 U.S. Census. Non-violent and violent *crimes* per 100,000 population was assessed from Uniform Crime Reporting data, which reports county-level measures.

Physical activity (outcome)

Physical activity was the outcome of interest for this study because we hypothesize that it is the outcome most directly related to the built environment. Add Health interviews employed a standard activity recall that elicited weekly frequency (bouts) of the following activities. (1) *working around the house*, such as cleaning, cooking, laundry, yardwork, or caring for a pet; (2) *hobbies*, such as collecting baseball cards, playing a musical instrument, reading, or doing arts and crafts; (3) *sedentary activities*, such as watching television or videos, or play video games; (4) *roller-blading, roller skating, skate-boarding, or bicycling*; (5) *playing an active sport*, such as baseball, softball, basketball, soccer, swimming, or football; (6) *exercise*, such as jogging, walking, karate, jumping rope, gymnastics or dancing; (7) *hang out* with friends. Skating & cycling, exercise, and active sports correspond with moderate-vigorous physical activity (MVPA); total number weekly bouts of these leisure activities was analyzed as MVPA bouts. This activity recall was modeled after self-report

questionnaires that were validated in other large-scale epidemiologic studies with regard to physical activity (127, 128).

Individual-level covariates

Multivariate analyses analyzing physical activity as an outcome adjusted for the following individual-level characteristics: *Race/ethnicity* was self-reported at baseline (Wave I): respondents were classified as white, black, Asian, Native American, or Hispanic based on adolescent self-report and parental report. *Age* was calculated based on self-reported date of birth and interviewer-recorded interview date. *Sex* was self-reported at each study period and was used as a stratification variable or examined as a potential effect modifier due to known sex differences in determinants of physical activity. *Socioeconomic position* in young adulthood can be characterized by a complex array of behaviors and achievements (129, 130) which are likely predictors of residential relocation, so we used parent-reported household income and highest education attained to indicate socioeconomic position in both waves.

C. Sample weights and survey clustering

While multi-level (hierarchical) modeling has been encouraged for examining neighborhood effects on health (131), these methods are most appropriately applied to administrative or other boundary-defined neighborhoods. This project used buffer-defined built environment measures, which are individual-level exposures.

While census tracts and counties could be considered additional levels for neighborhood-level sociodemographic variables, they are not nested within schools, the primary sampling unit and therefore a more important source of clustering. That is, in Add Health, students were sampled from a stratified sample of schools, rather than from a sampling frame of neighborhood units such as census units. Indeed, MVPA intraclass correlations within census tracts and counties were minimal in Wave I (0.04 within census tracts, 0.03 within counties) and even smaller in Wave III, after many respondents moved away from the school from which they were sampled (0.03 within census tracts, 0.03 within censu

0.02 within counties). Furthermore, sparse, unbalanced observations within census tracts is another concern for multilevel models (132), with an average of 8.1 individuals (median=2, range=1 to 287 per census tract) at Wave I and an average of 2.4 individuals (median=1, range=1 to 108 per census tract) at Wave III. We therefore used single-level regression models which corrected for complex survey sampling. All descriptive analyses and, where possible, regression analyses were weighted for national representation.

IV. Built and socioeconomic environments: patterning and associations with physical activity in U.S. adolescents

A. Abstract

Inter-relationships among built and socioeconomic environmental characteristics may result in confounding of associations between environment exposure measures and health behaviors or outcomes, but traditional multivariate adjustment can be inappropriate due to collinearity.

We used principle factor analysis to describe inter-relationships between a large set of geographic information system-derived built and socioeconomic environment measures for adolescents in the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health; Wave I, 1995-96, n=17,441). Using resulting factors in sex-stratified multivariate negative binomial regression models, we tested for confounding of associations between various built and socioeconomic environment characteristics and moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA). Finally, we used knowledge gained from factor analysis to construct replicable environmental measures that account for inter-relationships and avoid collinearity.

We identified three built environment constructs (homogenous landscape and development intensity with large counts of either pay or public facilities) and two socioeconomic environment constructs (advantageous economic environment, disadvantageous social environment). In regression analysis, confounding of built environment-MVPA associations by socioeconomic environment factors was stronger than among built environment factors. In fully adjusted models, MVPA was negatively associated with homogenous land cover in males [exp(coeff) (95% CI): 0.91 (0.86, 0.96)] and intensity (pay facilities) in females [exp(coeff) (95% CI): 0.91 (0.85, 0.98)]. Single proxy measures (Simpson's diversity index, count of pay facilities, count of public facilities, median

household income, and crime rate) representing each environmental construct replicated associations with MVPA.

In conclusion, environmental characteristics are inter-related, and both the built and SES environments should be incorporated into analysis in order to minimize confounding. Single environmental measures may be useful proxies for environmental constructs in longitudinal analysis and replication in external populations, but more research is needed to better understand mechanisms of action, and ultimately identify policy-relevant environment characteristics with causal influence on physical activity.

B. Introduction

Numerous aspects of the built environment such as physical activity facilities (e.g., parks, recreation centers) (34, 133), "walkability" (76, 134), and neighborhood socioeconomic status (SES) (38, 135, 136) are related to physical activity and other key health behaviors and outcomes (37, 137, 138). However, built and SES environments are theoretically and empirically correlated; for example, physical activity facilities are more common in wealthier neighborhoods (33) and streets may be more connected in the poor inner-city (139). Therefore, neighborhood health studies that examine single or narrow sets of environmental characteristics are vulnerable to confounding by other environmental variables.

While strong correlations between environmental measures raise concerns about potential confounding, they also preclude extensive covariate adjustment due to collinearity. Pattern analysis techniques, such as factor analysis, are a common strategy for overcoming collinearity and accounting for the potentially interactive effects of environmental characteristics (105, 139-142). However, because the resulting factors are data-driven and population specific, analyzing the resulting factors longitudinally or in external populations is not straightforward. Finally, while replicable "walkability" and "urban sprawl" index measures are available (30, 63) they do not incorporate other potentially important environmental determinants of physical activity such as availability of physical

activity facilities (33, 34). Further, most work has been in constrained geographic areas (30) or large geographic units such as counties (63).

Using nationally representative data on U.S. adolescents, a group at risk for dramatic declines in physical activity (50, 51), we sought to (1) describe inter-relationships between a large set of built and SES environment measures in a nationally representative sample of adolescents, (2) quantify the extent to which inter-related environment measures confound associations with moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA), and (3) demonstrate a strategy for using pattern analysis results to construct replicable environmental measures that accounts for inter-relationships and avoids collinearity. While this study is largely exploratory, we hypothesized that (1) inter-relationships between and among built and SES environment measures would be substantial, (2) both built and SES environment measures would confound built environment associations with MVPA, and (3) indicator measures with the largest loadings in exploratory factor analysis (EFA) would adequately represent each environment factor.

C. Methods

Study population and data sources

We used cross-sectional Wave I data from The National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health), a cohort study of 20,745 adolescents representative of the U.S. school-based population in grades 7 to 12 (11-22 years of age) in 1994-95. Add Health included a core sample plus subsamples of selected minority and other groupings collected under protocols approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. The survey design and sampling frame are described elsewhere (143).

Neighborhood-level variables were created using a geographic information system (GIS) that links community-level data to Add Health respondent residential locations in space and time. Residential locations for adolescents in the probability sample (n=18,924) were determined from the following sources, in order of priority: (1) geocoded home addresses with street-segment matches (n=15,480), (2) global positioning system (GPS) measurements (n=2,996), (3) ZIP/ZIP+4/ZIP+2 centroid match (n=205), (4) respondent's geocoded school location (n=243). Individual-level and environmental measures differed for respondents located with GPS compared to other sources, reflecting rural locations in which Post Office Boxes or other addresses that cannot be geocoded. Otherwise, individual-level and environmental measures were similar across residential location source. Residential locations were linked to attributes of the circular area within 1, 3, 5, and 8.05 kilometers (k) of each respondent residence (Euclidean neighborhood buffer) and block group, tract, and county attributes from U.S. Census and other federal sources, which were merged with individual-level Add Health interview responses.

To facilitate national representation of adolescent neighborhood environments, missing environmental data (n=463, 2.4%) was the only exclusion criterion for environmental patterning analyses, resulting in 18,461 adolescents. In estimation of associations with MVPA, exclusions included self-reported pregnancy (n=401) or mobility disability (n=122) and Native Americans due to small sample size (n=156); of the remaining sample (18,248), those with missing analytic variables (n=366 missing individual-level variables, 433 missing environmental variables, 8 missing both) were also excluded for an analytical sample of 17,441 adolescents.

Study variables

GIS-derived environmental characteristics

We examined built and SES environment measures with conceptual relevance or evidence of physical activity relationships in existing literature; see **Table 1** for variable definitions and data sources and additional details below. While our environmental variables were created within various neighborhood buffers or Census geographies, we used neighborhoods (e.g., 1 or 3k buffer, or Census tracts) consistent with the strongest associations with MVPA in previous analysis (74).

PA facility counts were obtained from a commercial dataset of U.S. businesses validated against a field-based census of PA facilities in an urban and non-urban setting; results demonstrated

high overall agreement between commercial and field data (125). Facilities were classified according to 8-digit Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) codes into overlapping types (**Table 1**). Several measures of *landscape diversity and complexity* (144) were created by analyzing national land cover data using the software package Fragstats (126). We examined several measures of *street connectivity* calculated based on classical graph theory (145). High *street connectivity* provides numerous route options and is characterized by dense, parallel routes, many intersections, and few cul de sacs and dead end streets (11). Census population counts within 1k buffers were calculated as averages weighted according to the proportion of the block-group area captured within 1k, then divided by the buffer area to obtain *population density*.

SES environment measures included economic (median household income and proportion of persons below poverty, college degree or greater) and social (proportion minority race/ethnicity, and owning their homes; crime rate) environment characteristics.

Individual-level self-reported behaviors and sociodemographics

Weekly frequency (bouts) of MVPA (skating & cycling, exercise, and active sports) was ascertained using a standard, interview administered activity recall based on questionnaires validated in other epidemiologic studies (146).

Individual-level sociodemographic control variables included age at Wave I interview, selfidentified race (white, black, Asian, Hispanic), parent-reported annual household income and highest level of education (<high school, high school or GED, some college, \geq college degree), and administratively determined U.S. region (West, Midwest, South, and Northeast). Distributions of these variables in the analytical sample are reported in **Table 2**.

Statistical analysis

Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA)

EFA was used to describe the inter-relationships among a large set of built and SES environment characteristics (**Table 1**). Our final results used the principle factors estimator because it did not impose distributional constraints, and oblique rotation (oblimin, gamma=0) because environmental constructs are theoretically and empirically correlated. The maximum likelihood estimator (applied to variables with acceptable distributions; also corrected for sampling design and weights) and alternative oblique rotation methods yielded similar results. The number of factors was guided by the Kaiser Criterion (Eigenvalue>1), scree plots, and interpretability. Variables with weak loadings (<0.4) on all factors and variables of interest with substantial cross-loadings (>0.3) were removed from the EFA model. If two or fewer variables loaded strongly on a single factor, corresponding variables were removed from analysis. To address negative Eigenvalues, percent variance explained by each factor was calculated using the trace of the correlation matrix as the divisor (147).

EFA of SES environment variables was conducted separately using the same procedure. This approach facilitated comparison between more readily modifiable built environment characteristics and less modifiable SES environment measures.

Regression analysis

We fit two sets of regression models to estimate the relationships (1) among the resulting built and SES environment factors and (2) between the built and SES environment factors and MVPA. Because street connectivity measures did not load onto factors but are built environment features of interest, we selected one index (alpha) that was not highly correlated with the built environment factors to examine as a single variable in our models. Buffer-based measures are individual-level variables, and while census tracts and counties could comprise a second level in multi-level analysis, they are not nested within schools, the primary sampling unit and therefore a

more important source of clustering. Intraclass correlations (ICC) for ln(MVPA) were minimal (0.03 for census tract, 0.02 for county, 0.05 for school; ICC's are not definable for Poisson distributed outcomes (148)). Furthermore, sparse, unbalanced observations within census tracts is another concern for multilevel models (132), with an average of 8 individuals (median=2, range=1 to 287 per census tract). We therefore used single-level regression models which corrected for complex survey sampling and were weighted for national representation. All statistical analyses were conducted in Stata version 10.1.

First, we used crude linear regression to model each built environment factor and alpha street connectivity index as a function of SES environment factor quartiles. Second, to investigate confounding of built environment-MVPA associations by other built and SES environment variables, we fit a series of negative binomial regression models estimating weekly MVPA bouts as a function of built environment factor quartiles, controlling for cumulative sets of variables in Models 1-4. Model 1 included built environment factors separately, Model 2 incorporated individual-level sociodemographic variables, Model 3 further incorporated all three built environment factors and alpha, and Model 4 further added a 1-dimensional SES environment factor. In Model 5, a 2-dimensional SES environment construct replaced the 1-dimensional factor. Models were sexstratified due to sex differences in physical activity determinants shown in previous studies (74). Quartiles accounted for non-linearity and, in contrast with continuous variables with higher-order terms, facilitated comparability with parallel analysis using single measures to represent each factor. Results are reported as exponentiated coefficients, representing the proportion increase in MVPA bouts compared to the lowest quartile.

Confounding was quantified based on percent change in coefficient [100*(current model – previous model)/previous model] between each model and the preceding model for built environment characteristics; Models 4 and 5 were compared to Model 3. Because large percent changes reflect negligible absolute changes when coefficients are very small, confounding was defined as $>\pm 20\%$

change in coefficient, and percent change was omitted if coefficients remained within ± 0.04 , corresponding to the approximate magnitude of marginally statistically significant coefficients.

As suggested by Riitters and colleagues (149), we evaluated single environmental measures that could potentially serve as proxies for their respective constructs by replicating Models 1-5 above using single measures representing each factor. Selection of measures was guided by strength of factor loadings and conceptual considerations. Simpson's diversity index was selected to represent the homogenous landscape factor for interpretability; because it was negatively correlated with the homogenous landscape factor, quartiles were reverse-coded for comparability. For the intensity factors, the counts of each type of facility were unstable, so non-overlapping pay facility types (instruction, member, and public fee) were summed. For public facilities, public (rather than youth) facilities were selected because their relevance may carry longitudinally into adulthood. To separate the availability of resources from density, Model 6 uses alternative facilities variables calculated as the number of facilities per 1,000 population.

D. Results

Patterning of the built and socioeconomic environments

The geographic diversity of the Add Health population is demonstrated by several measures of variability for built and SES environment variables included in the final factor solutions and subsequent analysis (**Table 3**). Built environment measures were inter-correlated, loading onto three factors explaining 70.8% of variation (**Table 4**). Landscape variables loaded onto a single *homogeneous landscape* factor (high scores indicate non-diverse landscape) and two development *intensity* factors representing the degree of high intersection and population density and counts of either pay or public physical activity facilities (high scores indicate high development intensity). Conceptually, we expected correlation between facilities counts and population and intersection density, so cross-loadings for population and intersection density were retained. Unweighted correlations with *homogeneous landscape* were -0.03 and -0.02 for *intensity (pay facilities)* and

intensity (public facilities), respectively; and 0.58 between *intensity (pay facilities)* and *intensity (public facilities)*. Other street connectivity indices did not load onto any factors and were therefore removed from factor analysis.

Two SES environment factors (**Table 5**; unweighted correlation -0.43; 59.5% of variation explained) were consistent with our theorized constructs. One represented *advantageous economic environment* (high scores indicate low poverty, high college and median household income), the other characteristics generally corresponding with less desirable health outcomes (*disadvantageous social environment*; high scores indicate high proportion of racial/ethnic minorities and renters and high crime). Because the second factor marginally met inclusion criteria (Eigenvalue=0.97), a 1-dimensional SES factor was also examined (43.3% of variation explained).

Relationship between built and SES environments

Using factor scores generated from factor analysis, we examined built environment constructs as a function of the 2-dimensional SES environment constructs. Street connectivity indices measured a built environment feature of interest but were not derived into the final factor solution, thus we examined one street connectivity index (alpha) as a single variable in this and subsequent analysis. Built environment factors or alpha street connectivity index varied across quartiles of SES factors (**Table 6**). Interestingly, the two SES environment factors were inversely related, but both were positively associated with the intensity factors. SES factors were inconsistently associated with less homogeneous landscape and the minority factor was positively associated with connectivity.

MVPA and built and SES environment factor scores: associations and confounding

Next, we examined MVPA as a function of built and SES environment factor scores. By sequentially adjusting for additional variables in Models 1 through 5, we tested for confounding by individual-level and environmental characteristics, quantified by the percent change in coefficients (**Tables 7 and 8**; negative percent changes indicate attenuation of the association). In crude models (Model 1), the highest built environment factor and alpha street connectivity index quartiles were

associated with up to an 11% change in weekly MVPA bouts compared to the lowest quartile. Adjustment for individual-level covariates (Model 2) attenuated or magnified these relationships, particularly for intensity (pay facilities). The magnitude and direction of associations often varied by sex: MVPA was most strongly related to landscape homogeneity in males and to the intensity factors in females. Inclusion of all four built environment measures demonstrated confounding by other built environment features, but the absolute change in estimates were small (Model 2 vs. 3).

SES environment factors were also related to MVPA, with up to an 11% change in MVPA for the highest versus lowest SES factor quartile in fully adjusted models (Models 4 and 5). Comparison of Model 3 to Models 4 and 5 indicated confounding of MVPA associations with Intensity (public facilities) and alpha by SES environment measures. The 2-dimensional SES factor (Model 5) influenced these associations to a greater extent than the 1-dimensional SES factor (Model 4). However, absolute changes in estimates were small. The significant built environment-MVPA associations were otherwise relatively robust.

MVPA and built and SES environment <u>single measures</u>: setting the stage for longitudinal settings and external study populations

Because factors are data-driven and population specific, we used knowledge gained from factor analysis to identify measures replicable in future Add Health waves or external populations. Associations between MVPA and representative indicator measures (selected based on empirical and conceptual rationale as per Methods, and noted in **Tables 3 and 4**) in **Table 9** (Models 3 & 5) are generally consistent with corresponding factor score-MVPA associations, suggesting that the single measures adequately represent the underlying construct. In one exception, percent minority was not as strongly related to MVPA, and did not influence built environment-MVPA associations as much as the disadvantageous social environment factor (data not shown). Crime rate reproduced the relationships with MVPA and was therefore used to represent disadvantageous social environment (**Table 9**).

The emergence of "intensity" factors suggests that facilities counts may reflect a general density of development and resources. Model 6 used alternative facilities variables scaled by population, generally attenuating facilities-MVPA associations.

E. Discussion

Neighborhood environments that may encourage or discourage physical activity are complex and multidimensional, but most existing research examines single or only a few aspects of the environment. Our study shows inter-relatedness of environmental characteristics in nationally representative adolescent population and reveals several patterns of built and SES environments reflecting constructs consistent with research in adult populations. Further, we show important correlations between these environments that appear to result in confounding to estimated associations with MVPA, demonstrating the complexity of potential environmental influences on physical activity.

Insights about the environment gained from pattern analysis

Factor analysis revealed patterning in built and SES environments not necessarily apparent from examining sets of single measures. Our findings suggest that factor analysis can be used to identify inter-relationships between environmental measures and corresponding sets of variables too tightly correlated to analyze simultaneously as individual measures, while less inter-correlated environmental characteristics can be analyzed using traditional multivariate methods.

Inseparability of environmental features. Several environmental characteristics were strongly linked. For example, it is intuitive that more physical activity facilities are located in areas with greater population and intersection densities, and Cervero and colleagues (142) introduced the concept of intensity, representing dense population and resources and interpreted as a measure of density. It is therefore important to adjust for density in estimation of physical activity facilities' effects, yet statistical adjustment may be inappropriate due to strong correlation between density

measures and facilities counts. Instead, we found that ratios of physical activity facilities per 1,000 population was a useful strategy for separating density from count of facilities, similar to Diez Roux and colleagues (34). Further, intersection density is a common measure of street connectivity (30, 150-152), but may reflect the general density of development. Indeed, dense, gridded streets are common in city centers (153), which represent a multitude of built, economic, social, cultural, and other features.

In contrast, other street connectivity measures did not load onto factors in our study, indicating that they were not strongly correlated with each other or with other aspects of the built environment. Our results contrast with other studies showing constructs with multiple connectivity index indicators (139, 140). This discrepancy may be explained by the national scope of Add Health as opposed to one or more metropolitan areas in the studies noted. Connectivity indices are ratios of various components such as number of intersections, street segments, and route alternatives, so they may reflect different constructs in areas with high versus low component values to varying extents. Likewise, Ewing et al (63) reported a single principle component representing urban sprawl characterized by residential density, land use mix, and street accessibility in a national sample, but their study was also limited to metropolitan areas and used block size measures rather than connectivity indices to represent street accessibility. Alternatively, our buffer-defined areas may have influenced intersection and street segment counts, particularly in rural areas with few streets, altering the meaning of the connectivity indices.

Dimensionality of environmental constructs. Factor solutions distinguished different dimensions of similar constructs, which in turn were differentially related to MVPA. Building on prior research showing higher MVPA in Census block groups with more physical activity-related facilities (33), factor analysis identified two types of facilities which were related to MVPA in different ways. For example, in females, MVPA was negatively associated with intensity (pay facilities) but marginally positively associated with intensity (public facilities) in fully adjusted

models. Likewise, two SES environment factors emerged, one reflecting economic and education characteristics, the other reflecting social characteristics. These factors were correlated but appear to be differentially related to the built environment and MVPA, with corresponding implications for their role in confounding, discussed in the next section.

Importance of incorporating many aspects of the environment when estimating neighborhood effects on physical activity

Factors allowed a wide range of environmental measures to be simultaneously incorporated into the analysis, revealing confounding by environment characteristics. In particular, built and SES factors were strongly associated, and adjustment for SES environment factor(s) resulted in changes to several built environment-MVPA associations. Further, the 2-dimensional SES environment construct was a stronger confounder of associations between MVPA and intensity (public facilities) and, in females, street connectivity, compared to the 1-dimensional construct. Such confounding could reflect placement of public facilities in areas of greatest need. Likewise, high street connectedness is common in poor inner-city areas where physical activity may be influenced by social contexts particularly relevant to females such as crime (72), which is better captured by the 2dimensional SES environment construct.

Mutual confounding among built environment characteristics was stronger in males, but absolute changes to estimates were small and did not change potential conclusions made from the results. Theorized behavior-specific effects (154) suggest that street connectivity might influence active transportation (16) while physical activity facilities may be stronger supports for leisure time exercise. In this scenario, weak associations between the given outcome and alternative built environment measures would minimize confounding. Additionally, the built environment factors are multidimensional and account for correlations between built environment measures; individual built environment measures may confound other measures loading onto the same factor, but strong correlations preclude formal testing of this hypothesis.

These findings suggest that failure to adjust for both economic and social aspects of the SES environment may lead to biased estimates of some built environment-MVPA associations. Fortunately, census variables are readily available. In contrast, relatively weak confounding by other built environment characteristics is encouraging for studies that do not have the wide range of measures used in this study. However, where present, mutual confounding was negative; that is, simultaneously adjusting for multiple built environment measures magnified the associations. The degree of confounding by built and SES environment characteristics in our study may have been minimized by weak built environment-MVPA relationships, but in studies showing stronger associations, omission of additional built environment characteristics may lead to more substatial underestimation of effects. Additionally, consistent with the multitude of health behavior determinants, associations between the environment and physical activity in the extant literature are generally weak, so even small degrees of confounding may influence conclusions drawn from this research.

Forging ahead with replicable measures into longitudinal settings and external populations

Factor analysis demonstrated inter-relationships between built and SES environment characteristics. The resulting multidimensional factors allowed us to simultaneously examine a large set of measures with respect to MVPA. In a next step, we used the knowledge gained from factor analysis to create simplified measures (**Table 9**) that incorporate inter-relationships, yet are more easily replicable for future studies. We emphasize that our simplified measures represent the set of variables identified in pattern analysis and should be interpreted as such. In fact, replication of regression results with single indicators demonstrates that these measures, which are often analyzed on their own, may act as proxies for underlying environmental constructs.

Two branches of investigation are needed to better understand the potential causal effects of these measures. First, these simplified measures can be used in longitudinal analyses and

examination in external populations. Longitudinal study design can establish temporality and better address bias due to residential self-selection (79, 155). As opposed to other strategies such as scale measures, they are readily understandable and examined in prior research, and selection of single indicators reduces the number of measures needed to replicate findings in other populations. Additionally, due to the potentially bidirectional, dynamic relationships between various built and SES characteristics, investigation of interactions and mediation is needed. For example, street connectivity and land cover diversity may have synergistic effects, and crime may mediate, rather than confound, relationships between built and SES environment measures and physical activity.

Second, investigation of mechanisms leading to the observed associations will help to distinguish between proxies and policy-relevant determinants of physical activity. For example, we found that crime rather than racial composition drove the association between the minority factor and MVPA, but how crime might influence physical activity, or if yet another characteristic is the causal agent, is unknown. Research incorporating psychological measures (e.g., self-efficacy and perceived barriers) or detailed audit-based environment data (e.g., aesthetics and quality of facilities) can improve understanding of behavioral mechanisms. Such research may reveal additional layers, possibly showing our multidimensional environmental constructs as proxies for more qualitative inter-personal or cultural aspects of the environment.

Determining whether patterning of environmental measures is similar in other populations is an important next step. We examined patterning of environmental measures in a nationally representative sample of adolescents. Yet adults without children in the household may reside in neighborhoods with different environmental attributes, potentially altering observed patterning. If patterning in other age groups differs substantially from the Wave I Add Health population, our simple measures may have limited ability to represent the constructs in this study and thus must be tested before applying them in other populations.

We found differences in built environment-MVPA associations by sex, which is consistent with previous work showing differences in physical activity determinants for males versus females (70). Homogenous landscape appears to be a negative correlate of MVPA for males but not females, possibly because males may be more likely to be active outdoors (156) with less regard to safety or other concerns. Intensity (pay facilities) was associated with lower MVPA in females but not males. On the other hand, count of public facilities corrected for population was associated with higher MVPA in females but not males, perhaps also due to safety concerns addressed by access to facilities. It will be valuable to determine whether these sex differences are maintained into adulthood, when overall physical activity levels are lower (50).

Further investigation of the dose-response relationship between built environment and MVPA is another opportunity for future research. We found non-linear associations between the four aspects of the built environment and MVPA. The strongest associations were generally observed for the largest quartile, which contained very large factor score or measure values. Using quartile measures allowed comparability between associations with factors versus single indicators, but closer examination of dose-response and shape of the relationship is warranted. Shifts in the shape of the dose-response relationships – often alternating between monotonic and U-shaped – with additional covariates add complexity and should be further examined.

Limitations and Strengths

Limitations include cross-sectional study design, which do not imply causality. Yet, we identified replicable measures that set the stage for longitudinal analyses. Second, we examined overall leisure time physical activity frequency, which does not distinguish between possible behavior-specific effects (e.g. associations with active transit versus exercise) (154) or incorporate physical activity duration or intensity. Third, there was some temporal mismatch between individual-level interviews (1995-96) and GIS data sources (e.g., StreetMap 2000, 1992 land cover dataset), but our GIS is unique in providing historical data approximately contemporaneous with multiple survey waves. Our county-level crime measure was crude, yet it provided an objective measure of safety available across the U.S. that was strongly associated with MVPA. Fourth, despite the extensive

number of environmental variables analyzed, we did not consider quality of facilities, perceived environment measures, or other potential psychological mediators. Fifth, we did not address urbanicity, which may be an important moderator (74, 157, 158) of built environment-MVPA relationships, but we examined measures applicable longitudinally during periods in which individuals may move in or out of urban areas.

These limitations are balanced with several strengths. We examined a wide range of environment measures in a nationally representative sample of adolescents, an understudied population. We explicitly examined and compared built and SES environment characteristics, which were strongly related. Finally, we used pattern analysis methods to not only investigate interrelationships, but also to inform the creation of replicable measures.

Conclusion

Our study demonstrates substantial inter-relationships between environmental characteristics and suggests that many aspects of the built and SES environments should be incorporated into analysis in order to minimize confounding. Further, commonly used built environment measures may reflect more general environmental patterning and should be interpreted as such. Examination of how a broad range of environmental characteristics mutually influenced relationships with physical activity suggested complex mechanisms involving a myriad of social and cultural factors. Finally, we present simplified, replicable measures that are cross-sectionally related to physical activity in adolescents. Better characterization of the environment, longitudinal analysis, and exploration of mechanisms in future studies can increase our understanding of built environment features that should be targeted in physical activity promotion policy.

Data source (year); Measure	Geographic Area ²	Variable description
ESRI StreetMap (2000)		
Street connectivity		
Alpha index ³	1k	Ratio of observed to maximum possible route alternatives between nodes (intersections); high values indicate high connectivity.
Beta index ³	1k	Ratio of links (connections between nodes) to nodes; high values indicate high connectivity.
Cul de sac density ³	1k	Number of cul de sacs (single-link nodes) per square kilometer: low values indicate high connectivity.
Cyclomatic index ³	1k	Number of route alternatives between nodes; high values indicate high connectivity
Gamma index ³	1k	Ratio of observed links to the maximum number of links; high values indicate high connectivity
Intersection density	1k	Number of 3- or more-way intersections (≥links in a single node) per square kilometer
Commercial database of U.S. busi	nesses (1995)	single noue) per square interneter
Physical activity facilities		
Instruction (count)	3k	Dance studios, basketball instruction, martial arts
Member (count)	3k	Athletic club and gymnasium, tennis club, basketball club
Outdoor (count)	3k	Sporting and recreation camps, swimming pools
Public (count)	3k	Public beach, pools, tennis courts, recreation centers
Public fee (count)	3k	Physical fitness facilities, bicycle rental, public golf courses
Youth organization (count)	3k	Boy/Girl Scouts, youth centers
ESRI StreetMap Pro, parks compo	onent (2003)	
Parks (count)	3k	Local parks and recreation areas, classified by Census Bureau classification code
National land cover dataset (1992)	<u>)</u>	
Landscape diversity		
Mean patch size	1k	Total land patch area divided by the number of patches
Root mean square error (RMSE) patch size	1k	Square root of the sum of the squared deviations of each patch area from the mean patch area, divided by the number of patches
Land patch density	1k	Number of land patches per hectare
Simpson's diversity index	1k	Represents the probability that any two pixels selected at random would be different patch types.
Contagion index	1k	Measures texture based on aggregation and interspersion of land patch types
Perimeter-fractal dimension	1k	Measures perimeter and shape complexity
Patch richness ³	1k	Number of different patch types (classes)
Mean shape index ³	1k	Mean shape index, which measures patch shape and compaction.
Mean fractal dimension index ³	1k	Measures perimeter and shape complexity across a range of spatial scales (patch sizes)

Table 1. Built and socioeconomic environment measures:¹ data sources and variable descriptions

(continued next page)

Table 1, continued

Data source (year); Measure	Geographic Area ²	Variable description
U.S. Census (1990)		
Population count	1k	Count of persons within buffer
% below poverty	СТ	Percent of persons living in housedholds with income below the federal poverty level
% minority	СТ	Percent of persons with race/ethnicity other than white non-Hispanic
Median household income	СТ	Median household income
% homeowners	СТ	Percent of households who own (versus rent) their homes
Uniform Crime Reporting data	(1995)	
Crime rate	Co	Number of non-violent and violent crimes per 100,000 population

¹From the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health Obesity Environment Database ²Examined in exploratory factor analysis but excluded from final factor solutions based on criteria described in Methods

 3 1k, 3k = 1 and 3 kilometer Euclidean buffer; CT=census tract; Co=County. Selected neighborhood definitions were selected because they yielded the strongest associations between environment measures and physical activity in previous analysis.

	Males	Females
Count	8,747	8,694
Race/ethnicity (%)		
White	68.1 (2.9)	68.3 (3.0)
Black	16.1 (2.2)	16.0 (2.1)
Asian	3.5 (0.7)	3.4 (0.7)
Hispanic	12.4 (1.8)	12.3 (1.8)
Parent education (%)		
<high school<="" td=""><td>15.0 (1.4)</td><td>15.6 (1.4)</td></high>	15.0 (1.4)	15.6 (1.4)
High school/GED	32.3 (1.2)	33.2 (1.2)
Some college	28.5 (0.9)	26.9 (0.9)
College or greater	24.3 (1.6)	24.2 (1.6)
Region (%)		
West	15.0 (1.4)	15.7 (1.4)
Midwest	31.1 (2.2)	32.7 (2.6)
South	39.2 (1.8)	38.0 (1.9)
Northeast	14.7 (1.0)	13.6 (0.9)
Age (mean)	15.5 (0.1)	15.3 (0.1)
MVPA (mean # weekly bouts)	4.1 (0.1)	3.3 (0.1)
Household income (mean)	42.9 (1.5)	43.3 (1.5)

Table 2. Individual-level characteristics by sex $[mean/\% (SE)]^1$

¹National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health, Wave I (1995-96), n=17,441. GED, Graduate Equivalency Degree; MVPA, moderate to vigorous physical activity; SE, standard error

			25 th		75 th	
Measure	mean (SE)	minimum	percentile	median	percentile	maximum
Street connectivity						
Alpha index	0.32 (0.01)	-8	0.22	0.30	0.38	8
Intersection density	29.50 (1.64)	0	8.6	26.7	44.6	168.1
Population density	1,393 (178)	0.03	129	772	1,777	29,961
Landscape diversity						
Mean patch size	30,203 (1,572)	7,411	14,209	19,158	30,794	315,000
RMSE patch size	171,513 (6,873)	21,151	88,185	131,701	205,798	939,810
Land patch density	52.4 (1.7)	3.2	32.5	52.2	70.4	134.9
Simpson's diversity index	0.54 (0.01)	0.01	0.45	0.58	0.67	0.83
Contagion index Perimeter-fractal	48.2 (0.9)	9.1	36.2	45.8	57.8	98.3
dimension	1.48 (0.01)	1.06	1.44	1.50	1.54	1.67
Physical activity facilities						
Instruction	2.3 (0.2)	0	0	1	3	100
Member	2.0 (0.2)	0	0	1	3	52
Outdoor	1.2 (0.1)	0	0	1	2	15
Public	0.9 (0.1)	0	0	0	1	22
Public fee	1.4 (0.1)	0	0	1	2	22
Youth organization	1.3 (0.2)	0	0	0	2	38
Parks	4.7 (0.5)	0	0	1	8	44
Census measures						
% below poverty	0.15 (0.01)	0	0.06	0.11	0.21	0.85
$\% \geq$ college education	0.11 (0.01)	0	0.05	0.08	0.14	0.60
% minority	0.25 (0.02)	0	0.03	0.12	0.37	1
Median household income	29,766 (942)	4,999	21,003	28,193	35,708	150,001
% homeowners	0.68 (0.01)	0	0.57	0.72	0.83	0.98
Crime rate	5,473 (237)	108	3,523	5,528	6,975	13,723

Table 3. Built and socioeconomic environment characteristics: descriptive statistics¹

¹National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health, Wave I (1995-96), n=18,461. Excludes built environment characteristics examined but not included in subsequent analysis

RMSE, root mean square error; SE, standard error

	Homogenous	Intensity	Intensity
	landscape	(pay facilities)	(public facilities)
RMSE patch size	0.98		
Contagion index	0.90		
Simpson's diversity index	-0.90 ²		
Mean patch size	0.87		
Land patch density	-0.82		
Perimeter-fractal dimension	-0.81		
Intersection density	-0.20	0.49	0.33
Population density		0.40	0.50
Facilities - instruction		0.82 ²	
Facilities - member		0.81 ²	
Facilities - outdoor		0.80	
Facilities - public fee		0.73 ²	
Facilities - public			0.96 ²
Facilities – youth organization			0.90 ²
Parks		0.40	0.34

Table 4. Built environment factor loadings resulting from exploratory factor analysis¹

¹ National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health, Wave I (1995-96), n=18,461.Obtained from exploratory factor analysis using a principle factors estimator and oblique oblimin (gamma=0) rotation. Unweighted correlations with *non-diverse landscape* were -0.03 and -0.02 for *intensity (pay facilities)* and *intensity (public facilities)*, respectively; and 0.58 between *intensity (pay facilities)* and *intensity (public facilities)*.

² Indicator variable(s) used to represent corresponding factor in **Table 9**

--For clarity, loadings with absolute value <0.2 were omitted

RMSE, root mean square error

		<u> </u>	
	2 factor solution		Alternative: 1 factor solution
	Advantageous economic environment	Disadvantageous social environment ²	Advantageous socioeconomic environment
Median household income	0.89 ³		0.82
$\% \geq$ college education	0.80		0.56
% below poverty	-0.63	0.40	-0.85
% minority		0.72	-0.60
Crime rate		0.70 ³	-0.38
% homeowners	0.22	-0.56	0.62

Table 5. Socioeconomic environment factor loadings resulting from exploratory factor analysis¹

¹National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health, Wave I (1995-96), n=18,461.Obtained from exploratory factor analysis using a principle factors estimator and oblique oblimin (gamma=0) rotation. Unweighted correlations between Advantageous economic environment and Disadvantageous social environment factors was -0.43

² Marginally met inclusion criteria (Eigenvalue=0.97)
 ³ Indicator variable(s) used to represent corresponding factor in Table 9

--For clarity, loadings with absolute value <0.2 were omitted

lactor quartiles						
	Homogenous	Intensity	Intensity	Connectivity		
	landscape	(pay facilities)	(public facilities)	(alpha)		
Advantageous economic environment score quartile (1=referent, lowest income category omitted)						
2	-0.13 (-0.50, 0.23)	0.43 (0.24, 0.62)*	0.16 (-0.03, 0.35)	0.00 (-0.07, 0.06)		
3	-0.38 (-0.78, 0.01)	0.58 (0.34, 0.82)*	0.20 (-0.02, 0.43)	-0.02 (-0.09, 0.06)		
4	-0.46 (-0.89, -0.03)*	0.87 (0.61, 1.13)*	0.36 (0.15, 0.57)*	-0.06 (-0.13, 0.01)		
Disadvantageou	is social environment score	re quartile (1=referent, lo	west minority, crime ca	ategory omitted)		
2	0.09 (-0.17, 0.36)	0.35 (0.22, 0.48)*	0.34 (0.22, 0.45)*	0.06 (0.00, 0.13)*		
3	-0.25 (-0.48, -0.02) *	0.65 (0.36, 0.94)*	0.61 (0.40, 0.82)*	0.03 (-0.02, 0.09)		
4	-0.18 (-0.59, 0.24)	1.31 (1.00, 1.63)*	1.39 (1.04, 1.74)*	0.09 (0.03, 0.16)*		

Table 6. Crude associations between built environment factor scores and socioeconomic environment factor quartiles $[coeff (95\% CI)]^1$

¹National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health, Wave I (1995-96), n=18,461. Based on linear regression modeling each built environment factor from **Table 4** (or street connectivity variable) as a function of quartiles of Advantageous economic and Disadvantageous social environment factor scores (**Table 5**). Referent category is lowest quartile.

CI, confidence interval; coeff, coefficient

*Statistically significant (p<0.05)

Quartile	Model 1	Model 2	Model 2	Madal 4	Model 5
Homogenous landscape s	score	Widdel 2	Widdel 5	Widdel 4	Wodel 5
1[-0.86(-1.43,-0.68)]	1	1	1	1	1
2 [-0.49 (-0.68 -0.27)]	0.98(0.93, 1.04)	0.98(0.93, 1.03)	0.98(0.93, 1.03)	0.98(0.93, 1.03)	0.98(0.93, 1.03)
2 [0.49 (0.00, 0.27)] 3 [0.00 (-0.27, 0.35)]	0.90(0.95, 1.04) 0.97(0.90, 1.03)	0.95(0.91, 1.00)[34%]	0.95(0.91, 1.00)[-3%]	0.95 (0.91 1.00)* [9%]	0.90(0.95, 1.05) 0.95(0.91, 1.00)*[7%]
4 [1 04 (0 35 5 45)]	0.97 (0.90, 1.09)	0.93(0.91, 1.00)[5470] 0.92(0.88, 0.97)*[7%]	0.93(0.91, 1.00)[-370] 0.91(0.86, 0.96)*[14%]	0.95(0.91, 1.00) [970] 0.91(0.87, 0.96)* [-4%]	0.95(0.91, 1.00) [776] 0.91(0.86, 0.96)* [-2%]
= [1.04 (0.55, 5.45)] Intensity (nav facilities)	0.92 (0.07, 0.99)	0.52(0.00, 0.57) [770]	0.91 (0.00, 0.90) [1470]	0.91 (0.07, 0.90) [-470]	0.91(0.00, 0.90) [-270]
$1 \begin{bmatrix} -0.82 \\ -1.45 \\ -0.68 \end{bmatrix}$	1	1	1	1	1
$2 \begin{bmatrix} -0.52 & (-1.43, -0.08) \end{bmatrix}$	1 05 (0 99 1 11)	1 04 (1 00 1 09) [-11%]	1 02 (0.98 1 07) [-53%]	1 01 (0 97 1 06)	1 02 (0 98 1 06)
$2 \begin{bmatrix} -0.51 & (-0.57, -0.25) \end{bmatrix}$ $3 \begin{bmatrix} -0.01 & (-0.25, 0.37) \end{bmatrix}$	1.03(0.99, 1.11) 1.03(0.97, 1.09)	1.04 (1.00, 1.07) [-1170]	1.02 (0.96, 1.07) [-3570]	1.01 (0.97, 1.00)	1.02(0.95, 1.00)
$4 \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0.4 & (0.27, 13, 06) \end{bmatrix}$	1.03(0.97, 1.09) 1.07(1.00, 1.14)*	1.01(0.90, 1.00) 1.02(0.07, 1.08) [64%]	1.01(0.90, 1.07) 1.05(0.08, 1.12)[0.60/1]	1.00(0.95, 1.00) 1.04(0.98, 1.12)[-70/1]	1.01(0.95, 1.07) 1.05(0.08, 1.12)[10/]
4 [0.94 (0.97, 13.90)]	$1.07(1.00, 1.14)^{\circ}$	1.02 (0.97, 1.08) [-0476]	1.05 (0.98, 1.12) [9070]	1.04 (0.98, 1.12) [-776]	1.03 (0.98, 1.12) [-170]
$1 \begin{bmatrix} 0.74 \\ 1.25 \\ 0.67 \end{bmatrix}$		1	1	1	1
$1 \left[-0.74 \left(-1.23, -0.07\right)\right]$	I 1.02 (0.00, 1.07)	I 1.01.(0.07, 1.05)	1	1	
2 [-0.58 (-0.67, -0.39)]	1.02 (0.98, 1.07)	1.01 (0.97, 1.05)	0.99 (0.95, 1.03)	0.99 (0.95, 1.03)	0.99 (0.95, 1.04)
3 [-0.06 (-0.39, 0.41)]	0.97 (0.91, 1.02)	0.95 (0.91, 1.00)* [33%]	0.93 (0.87, 0.98)* [64%]	0.93 (0.88, 0.99)* [-8%]	0.95 (0.89, 1.01) [-27%]
4 [1.15 (0.41, 9.76)]	1.05 (0.99, 1.11)	1.03 (0.98, 1.08) [-49%]	1.00 (0.94, 1.07)	1.02 (0.96, 1.08)	1.03 (0.96, 1.10)
Street Connectivity (alph	a)				
1 [0.17 (-8.00, 0.21)]	1	1	1	1	1
2 [0.26 (0.21, 0.30)]	1.00 (0.94, 1.06)	0.99 (0.93, 1.04)	0.98 (0.93, 1.04)	0.99 (0.95, 1.05)	0.99 (0.95, 1.04)
3 [0.34 (0.30, 0.38)]	0.97 (0.91, 1.03)	0.95 (0.91, 1.01) [45%]	0.96 (0.91, 1.01) [-5%]	0.97 (0.93, 1.02) [39%]	0.97 (0.93, 1.02) [-40%]
4 [0.45 (0.38, 8.00)]	0.95 (0.90, 1.02)	0.95 (0.90, 1.01) [2%]	0.98 (0.93, 1.03) [-57%]	1.00 (0.95, 1.05)	1.00 (0.95, 1.05)
Advantageous economic	environment score ³				
1 [-1.07 (-2.58, -0.67)]				1	1
2 [-0.29 (-0.67, 0.03)]				1.04 (0.99, 1.09)	1.01 (0.96, 1.07)
3 [0.22 (0.03, 0.52)]				1.04 (0.98, 1.11)	1.04 (0.99, 1.09)
4 [0.88 (0.52, 5.99)]				1.11 (1.04, 1.18)*	1.06 (0.99, 1.13)
(continued next page)				· · /	× · /

Table 7. Assessment of confounding to associations between built and socioeconomic environment <u>factor score quartiles</u> and weekly bouts of <u>MVPA</u>, <u>males</u> (n=8,747) [exp(coeff) (95% CI) [change in coefficient²]¹

Quartile [median (min, max)]	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5
Disadvantageous social en	vironment score				
1 [-0.94 (-1.37, -0.67)]					1
2 [-0.38 (-0.67, -0.09)]					0.96 (0.92, 1.00)
3 [0.10 (-0.08, 0.46)]					0.95 (0.89, 1.01)
4 [1.09 (0.46, 3.38)]					0.94 (0.88, 1.01)

¹National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health, Wave I (1995-96). Based on sex-stratified negative binomial regression models; value represents proportion increase in MVPA bouts. Referent category is lowest quartile.

²Change in coefficient reflects change in coefficient [(current model –previous model)/previous model]*100 for built environment characteristics only. Model 5 coefficients are compared to Model 3 coefficients. Change in estimates were omitted if both coefficients were $\leq \pm 0.04$. Negative percent changes indicate attenuation of the association.

³Ranges for 1-dimensional factor quartiles: (1) -1.17 (-3.50, -0.61); (2) -0.11 (-0.61, 0.15); (3) 0.35 (0.15, 0.61); (4) 0.92 (0.61, 4.56)

Model 1: Built environment characteristics separately, crude associations

Model 2: Built environment characteristics separately, adjusted for individual-level sociodemographics (age, race, parental education, household income, region) Model 3: Built environment characteristics in the same model, adjusted for individual-level sociodemographics

Model 4: Built environment characteristics in the same model, adjusted for individual-level sociodemographics and 1-dimensional neighborhood SES factor

Model 5: Built environment characteristics in the same model, adjusted for individual-level sociodemographics and for 2-dimensional neighborhood SES factor

CI, confidence interval; exp(coeff), exponentiated coefficient; MVPA, moderate to vigorous physical activity *Statistically significant (p<0.05)

Quartile			-		
[median (min, max)]	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5
Homogenous landscape s	core				
1 [-0.86 (-1.43, -0.68)]	1	1	1	1	1
2 [-0.49 (-0.68, -0.27)]	1.04 (0.98, 1.11)	1.03 (0.98, 1.09) [-21%]	1.04 (0.99, 1.10)	1.04 (0.99, 1.10)	1.04 (0.98, 1.10)
3 [0.00 (-0.27, 0.35)]	1.01 (0.96, 1.08)	1.00 (0.96, 1.05)	1.02 (0.97, 1.06)	1.01 (0.97, 1.06)	1.01 (0.97, 1.06)
4 [1.04 (0.35, 5.45)]	0.98 (0.91, 1.06)	0.99 (0.95, 1.04)	1.02 (0.97, 1.08)	1.02 (0.97, 1.08)	1.02 (0.96, 1.08)
Intensity (pay facilities) s	score				
1 [-0.82 (-1.45, -0.68)]	1	1	1	1	1
2 [-0.51 (-0.67, -0.25)]	1.02 (0.95, 1.09)	0.98 (0.93, 1.02)	0.96 (0.91, 1.01)	0.96 (0.91, 1.01) [11%]	0.96 (0.91, 1.02) [-2%]
3 [-0.01 (-0.25, 0.37)]	1.06 (0.99, 1.14)	1.01 (0.96, 1.06) [-83%]	0.99 (0.93, 1.05) 0.91 (0.84, 0.98)* [-	0.98 (0.92, 1.04)	0.99 (0.93, 1.05)
4 [0.94 (0.37, 13.96)]	0.97 (0.89, 1.05)	0.93 (0.88, 0.99)* [115%]	32%]	0.91 (0.85, 0.97)* [0%]	0.91 (0.85, 0.98)* [-8%]
Intensity (public facilities	s) score				
1 [-0.74 (-1.25, -0.67)]	1	1	1	1	1
2 [-0.58 (-0.67, -0.39)]	0.98 (0.91, 1.06)	0.96 (0.91, 1.02)	0.96 (0.91, 1.02) [13%]	0.96 (0.91, 1.02) [-2%]	0.97 (0.91, 1.02) [-17%]
3 [-0.06 (-0.39, 0.41)]	1.00 (0.93, 1.08)	0.98 (0.93, 1.04)	1.01 (0.95, 1.08)	1.01 (0.95, 1.08)	1.04 (0.98, 1.11)
4 [1.15 (0.41, 9.76)]	0.94 (0.86, 1.03)	0.96 (0.90, 1.03) [-40%]	1.02 (0.94, 1.10)	1.03 (0.95, 1.11)	1.06 (0.98, 1.14) [188%]
Street Connectivity (alph	a)				
1 [0.17 (-8.00, 0.21)]	1	1	1	1	1
2 [0.26 (0.21, 0.30)]	1.00 (0.93, 1.07)	0.99 (0.93, 1.05)	0.98 (0.92, 1.05)	0.99 (0.92, 1.06)	0.99 (0.93, 1.06)
3 [0.34 (0.30, 0.38)]	0.99 (0.93, 1.06)	0.99 (0.94, 1.05)	0.99 (0.93, 1.06)	1.00 (0.94, 1.07)	1.01 (0.95, 1.08)
4 [0.45 (0.38, 8.00)]	0.89 (0.83, 0.97)*	0.92 (0.87, 0.98)* [-28%]	0.91 (0.85, 0.98)* [14%]	0.92 (0.86, 0.99)* [13%]	0.93 (0.87, 1.00) [27%]
Advantageous economic	environment score ³				
1 [-1.07 (-2.58, -0.67)]				1	1
2 [-0.29 (-0.67, 0.03)]				1.04 (0.98, 1.10)	0.99 (0.94, 1.04)
3 [0.22 (0.03, 0.52)]				1.02 (0.96, 1.10)	1.02 (0.96, 1.09)
4 [0.88 (0.52, 5.99)]				1.07 (0.99, 1.14)	1.04 (0.98, 1.11)
(continued next page)					

Table 8. Assessment of confounding to associations between built and socioeconomic environment <u>factor score quartiles</u> and weekly bouts of <u>MVPA</u>, <u>females</u> (n=8,694) [exp(coeff) (95% CI) [change in coefficient²]¹

Quartile					
[median (min, max)]	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5
Disadvantageous social en	vironment score				
1 [-0.94 (-1.37, -0.67)]					1
2 [-0.38 (-0.67, -0.09)]					0.95 (0.90, 1.00)
3 [0.10 (-0.08, 0.46)]					0.93 (0.87, 1.00)*
4 [1.09 (0.46, 3.38)]					0.91 (0.84, 0.98)*

¹National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health, Wave I (1995-96). Based on sex-stratified negative binomial regression models; value represents proportion increase in MVPA bouts. Referent category is lowest quartile.

²Change in coefficient reflects change in coefficient [(current model –previous model)/previous model]*100 for built environment characteristics only. Model 5 coefficients are compared to Model 3 coefficients. Change in estimates were omitted if both coefficients were $\leq \pm 0.04$. Negative percent changes indicate attenuation of the association.

³Ranges for 1-dimensional factor quartiles: (1) -1.17 (-3.50, -0.61); (2) -0.11 (-0.61, 0.15); (3) 0.35 (0.15, 0.61); (4) 0.92 (0.61, 4.56)

Model 1: Built environment characteristics separately, crude associations

Model 2: Built environment characteristics separately, adjusted for individual-level sociodemographics (age, race, parental education, household income, region) Model 3: Built environment characteristics in the same model, adjusted for individual-level sociodemographics

Model 4: Built environment characteristics in the same model, adjusted for individual-level sociodemographics and 1-dimensional neighborhood SES factor

Model 5: Built environment characteristics in the same model, adjusted for individual-level sociodemographics and for 2-dimensional neighborhood SES factor

CI, confidence interval; exp(coeff), exponentiated coefficient; MVPA, moderate to vigorous physical activity *Statistically significant (p<0.05)

Quartile	•	Males (n=8,747)			Females (n=8,694)	
[median (min, max)]	Model 3	Model 5	Model 6	Model 3	Model 5	Model 6
Simpson's Diversity Inde	ex ²					
1 [0.71 (0.66, 0.83)]	1	1	1	1	1	1
2 [0.62 (0.58, 0.66)]	0.96 (0.92, 1.01)	0.96 (0.91, 1.01)	0.96 (0.92, 1.01)	1.03 (0.97, 1.09)	1.03 (0.97, 1.09)	1.03 (0.97, 1.09)
3 [0.53 (0.46, 0.58)]	0.91 (0.88, 0.95)*	0.91 (0.88, 0.95)*	0.92 (0.88, 0.95)*	1.03 (0.98, 1.09)	1.03 (0.98, 1.09)	1.02 (0.97, 1.08)
4 [0.33 (0.01, 0.46)]	0.91 (0.86, 0.95)*	0.91 (0.86, 0.95)*	0.91 (0.87, 0.95)*	1.00 (0.94, 1.06)	1.00 (0.94, 1.06)	0.99 (0.94, 1.05)
Count of pay facilities						
1 [0 (0, 1)]	1	1	1	1	1	1
2 [3 (2, 4)]	1.02 (0.98, 1.06)	1.01 (0.98, 1.05)	1.03 (0.97, 1.10)	0.96 (0.92, 1.01)	0.96 (0.91, 1.01)	0.93 (0.87, 0.99)*
3 [7 (5, 9)]	1.02 (0.98, 1.07)	1.02 (0.98, 1.07)	0.99 (0.95, 1.04)	0.97 (0.92, 1.02)	0.97 (0.92, 1.01)	0.95 (0.91, 0.99)*
4 [14 (10, 174)]	1.04 (0.99, 1.09)	1.05 (1.00, 1.10)	1.03 (0.99, 1.08)	0.92 (0.86, 0.98)*	0.92 (0.87, 0.98)*	0.96 (0.91, 1.01)
Count of public facilities	3					
1 [0 (0, 0)]	1	1	1	1	1	1
2 [1 (1, 1)]	0.96 (0.91, 1.01)	0.96 (0.91, 1.02)	1.05 (0.99, 1.12)	1.02 (0.97, 1.08)	1.03 (0.98, 1.08)	1.03 (0.95, 1.12)
3 [3 (2, 20)]	1.02 (0.97, 1.06)	1.04 (0.99, 1.08)	1.00 (0.96, 1.04)	1.05 (0.99, 1.10)	1.07 (1.02, 1.13)*	1.04 (1.00, 1.08)
Street Connectivity (alph	na)					
1 [0.17 (-8.00, 0.21)]	1	1	1	1	1	1
2 [0.26 (0.21, 0.30)]	0.97 (0.92, 1.03)	0.99 (0.94, 1.04)	0.99 (0.94, 1.04)	0.99 (0.93, 1.06)	1.00 (0.94, 1.07)	0.99 (0.93, 1.06)
3 [0.34 (0.30, 0.38)]	0.95 (0.90, 1.00)*	0.97 (0.93, 1.02)	0.97 (0.93, 1.01)	0.99 (0.94, 1.06)	1.02 (0.96, 1.09)	1.02 (0.96, 1.09)
4 [0.45 (0.38, 8.00)]	0.98 (0.93, 1.03)	1.00 (0.95, 1.05)	1.01 (0.96, 1.06)	0.92 (0.86, 0.99)*	0.95 (0.88, 1.02)	0.95 (0.88, 1.02)
Median household incon	ne ⁴					
1 [1.7 (0.5, 2.1)]		1	1		1	1
2 [2.5 (2.1, 3.0)]		1.01 (0.97, 1.06)	1.00 (0.96, 1.05)		1.02 (0.97, 1.07)	1.02 (0.97, 1.07)
3 [3.4 (3.0, 3.8)]		1.03 (0.99, 1.08)	1.03 (0.98, 1.07)		1.04 (0.97, 1.11)	1.04 (0.98, 1.11)
4 [4.5 (3.8, 13.7)]		1.08 (1.02, 1.15)*	1.07 (1.01, 1.14)*		1.09 (1.02, 1.17)*	1.10 (1.03, 1.18)*

Table 9 Association between representative built, social, and economic environment measure quartiles and weekly bouts of MVPA $[exp(coeff)]^1$

(continued next page)
Quartile		Males (n=8,747)			Females (n=8,694)	
[median (min, max)]	Model 3	Model 5	Model 6	Model 3	Model 5	Model 6
*Crime rate/100,000 popul	ation					
1 [2,629 (108, 3,647)]		1	1		1	1
2 [4,899 (3,696, 5,612)]		0.95 (0.90, 1.01)	0.96 (0.91, 1.01)		0.97 (0.92, 1.03)	0.98 (0.92, 1.03)
3 [6,177 (5,623, 6,975)]		0.94 (0.89, 0.99)*	0.96 (0.90, 1.01)		0.93 (0.86, 0.99)*	0.94 (0.88, 1.00)
4 [8,317 (7,084, 13,723)]		0.95 (0.91, 1.00)*	0.95 (0.91, 1.00)*		0.92 (0.86, 0.98)*	0.93 (0.87, 0.99)*

¹National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health, Wave I (1995-96). Based on sex-stratified negative binomial regression models; value represents proportion increase in MVPA bouts. Referent category is lowest quantile. Environmental measures representing each factor were generally selected based on the highest loadings, with the following exceptions: non-overlapping pay facility types (instruction, member, and public fee) were summed, public (rather than youth) facilities were selected for longitudinal relevance; and crime rate replicated MVPA associations more closely than percent minority, the highest loading variable. For brevity, only Models 3, 5, and 6 are presented; their names are retained to be consistent with **Tables 7 and 8**.

²Negatively associated with homogenous land cover factor, so reverse coded to for comparability

³Tertiles

⁴In 10,000's

Model 3: Built environment characteristics in the same model, adjusted for individual-level sociodemographic variables

Model 5: Built environment characteristics in the same model, adjusted for individual-level sociodemographics, median household income, and crime rate

Model 6: Built environment characteristics (facilities counts scaled by population) in the same model, adjusted for individual-level sociodemographics, median household income, and crime rate

CI, confidence interval; exp(coeff), exponentiated coefficient; MVPA, moderate to vigorous physical activity

*Statistically significant (p<0.05)

V. Residential self-selection bias in the estimation of built environment effects on physical activity between adolescence and young adulthood

A. Abstract

Built environment research is dominated by cross-sectional study designs, which are particularly vulnerable to residential self-selection bias resulting from unmeasured characteristics related to neighborhood choice and health-related outcomes. This study used cohort data from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Wave I, 1994-95; Wave III, 2001-02; n=12,797) and a time-varying geographic information system to estimate longitudinal relationships between moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA) bouts and several built and socioeconomic environment measures from adolescence to young adulthood. After controlling for measured and time invariant unmeasured characteristics using within-person estimators (fixed effects models), MVPA was higher with greater physical activity pay facilities per population in males, and lower with higher crime rates in males and females; other associations were null or in the counter-intuitive direction. Comparison of within-person estimates to estimates not adjusted for unmeasured characteristics suggested that residential self-selection can bias associations toward the null, as opposed to its typical characterization as a positive confounder. Additionally, differential environment-MVPA associations by residential relocation status suggest that selection bias may be a concern in studies examining changes following residential relocation. The authors discuss complexities of adjusting for residential self-selection bias and selectivity of residential relocation, particularly during the adolescent to young adult transition.

B. Introduction

Built environment characteristics, such as walkability (29, 60) and availability of recreation centers (33, 34), are associated with physical activity (PA) in a growing literature. However, existing research is dominated by cross-sectional studies, which are particularly vulnerable to residential self-selection bias, as unmeasured neighborhood selection factors related to both built environment exposures and PA could contribute to observed associations (79, 155).

Longitudinal designs can address residential self-selection bias by establishing temporality and controlling for unmeasured characteristics. In two key longitudinal studies (73, 105), investigators used "first difference" models to estimate the influence of urban form on travel behavior or obesity. First difference models and a similar method, "fixed effects" models, use within-person estimators to control for unmeasured characteristics that remain constant throughout the study period (148, 155, 159) (e.g., genetics or resilient attitudes toward exercise) by analyzing variation in the exposure and outcome within person, over time. Within-person estimation is particularly valuable when confounders are difficult to measure (e.g., residential selection factors), and, as described by Glymour, is most appropriate for exposure-outcome relationships with short lag times (160) such as theorized built environment influences on PA and, to a lesser extent, body weight.

Prior longitudinal studies (29, 73, 105, 107) examined changes in behavior (or body weight) in response to changes in urban form resulting from residential relocation. However, the environment can change around stationary residents. Furthermore, residential relocation is generally triggered by events such as marriage or change in employment (161), which may also influence health-related behaviors. Therefore, restriction based on residential relocation is a potential source of selection bias (102).

In this study, our primary objective was to estimate within-person effects of several built and socioeconomic environment characteristics on moderate to vigorous PA (MVPA) in a nationally representative sample with time-varying geographic information system (GIS) environment measures.

Secondary objectives were to (a) assess the influence of time invariant, unmeasured characteristics on environment-PA associations by comparing within-person estimates to alternative estimates which do not address unmeasured characteristics (naïve estimates), and (b) explore selectivity related to residential relocation. We hypothesized that (1) greater MVPA bouts would be related to higher landscape diversity, pay and public facilities counts, street connectivity, and median household income and to lower crime rates; (2a) controlling for time invariant, unmeasured characteristics would attenuate estimated effects, and (2b) environment-MVPA associations would vary by residential relocation status.

C. Methods

Study population and data sources

We used Wave I (1994-95) and III (2001-02) data from The National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health), a cohort study of 20,745 adolescents representative of the U.S. school-based population in grades 7 to 12 (11-22 years of age) in 1994-95 followed into adulthood. Add Health included a core sample plus subsamples of selected minority and other groupings collected under protocols approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. The survey design and sampling frame have been discussed elsewhere (143).

A GIS linked community-level data to Add Health respondent residential locations determined in Wave III from geocoded home addresses with street-segment matches (n=13,039), global positioning system (GPS) measurements (n=1,204), and ZIP/ZIP+4/ZIP+2 centroid match (n=685) among 14,322 Wave III respondents in the probability sample; analogous Wave I information is published elsewhere (162). Differences in individual-level and environmental measures across location sources were consistent with greater reliance on GPS or ZIP codes (compared to geocodes) among rural respondents, who often use Post Office Boxes or other addresses that could not be geocoded. Residential locations were linked to attributes of circular areas of various radii surrounding each wave-specific respondent residence (Euclidean neighborhood buffer) and

block group, tract, and county attributes from time-matched U.S. Census and other federal sources, which were merged with individual-level Add Health interview responses.

Of 18,924 Wave I respondents in the probability sample, 6% refused participation and 19% could not be located or were unable to participate for other reasons, leaving 14,322 Wave III respondents. Exclusions included mobility disability (n=87) or self-reported pregnancy at Wave I or III (n=578) and Native Americans due to small sample size (n=121). Of the remaining sample (n=13,546), those missing individual-level variables (n=272), environmental variables (n=472), or both (n=5) were excluded. Those excluded due to missing data (n=749) were similar to the analytical sample (n=12,797) with regard to Wave I and III individual sociodemographics, MVPA, and environmental variables; exceptions were lower census tract-level median income and Wave III landscape diversity, and higher Wave III MVPA in excluded respondents (data not shown).

Study variables

GIS-derived environmental characteristics

We examined variables calculated within neighborhoods (e.g., 1 or 3k buffer, or census tracts) consistent with the strongest associations with MVPA (74) and shown to adequately represent multidimensional environmental constructs (162). Detailed variable definitions have been described previously (162). *Residential relocation* (move vs. not move) was defined as greater than ¹/₄ mile Euclidean distance between Wave I and III residential locations.

PA facilities were obtained from a commercial dataset of U.S. businesses (Wave 1: 1995, Wave III: 2001) validated against a field-based census (125). Facilities were classified according to 8-digit Standard Industrial Classification codes. Population counts within 3k buffers were calculated by averaging census block-group population counts, weighted according to the proportion of block-group area captured within 3k. Pay (member, instruction, public fee) and public facilities counts within 3k were divided by population count/10,000 to obtain *pay* and *public facilities counts per 10,000 population*.

Simpson's Diversity Index, an indicator of *landscape diversity* and complexity (144), was calculated within 1k based on national land cover data (Wave I: 1992, Wave III: 2001) using Fragstats software (126) and represents the probability that any two randomly selected pixels are different land patch types. *Alpha index* calculated within 1k from StreetMap 2000 files indicated the degree of street connectivity (145), which provides numerous route options and is characterized by dense, parallel routes, many intersections, and few cul de sacs and dead end streets (11).

The socioeconomic environment was represented by census tract-level *median household income* (U.S. census, Wave I: 1990, inflated to 2000 dollars using the Consumer Price Index; Wave III: 2000), and county-level *non-violent and violent crime rate* per 100,000 population obtained from Uniform Crime Reporting data (Wave I: 1995, Wave III: 2001).

Individual-level self-reported behaviors and sociodemographics

Weekly frequency (bouts) of MVPA (skating & cycling, exercise, and active sports) was ascertained at Waves I and III using a standard, interview administered activity recall based on questionnaires validated in other epidemiologic studies (146). The Wave III questionnaire was modified to include age-appropriate activities, so Wave III bouts were scaled for comparability with Wave I (163).

Individual-level sociodemographic control variables included Wave I self-identified race (white, black, Asian, Hispanic), parent-reported annual household income and highest education attained (<high school, high school or GED, some college, ≥college degree), and administratively determined U.S. region (West, Midwest, South, and Northeast); and age at Wave I and III interviews. Socioeconomic position in young adulthood can be characterized by a complex array of behaviors and achievements (129, 130) which are likely predictors of residential relocation, so we used parent income and education to indicate socioeconomic position in both waves.

Statistical analysis

Descriptive analysis

Individual-level and environment variables were compared by residential relocation status (95% confidence level) using adjusted Wald tests and design-based F-tests for continuous and categorical variables, respectively, weighted for national representation and corrected for complex survey design. Some environmental variables were skewed, so we report median and interquartile range and performed statistical tests on natural-log transformed pay and public facilities counts and median household income.

Regression analysis

Within-person effects of built and socioeconomic environment measures on MVPA bouts from adolescence (Wave I) to young adulthood (Wave III) were estimated using fixed effects Poisson regression (Objective 1). Fixed effects (versus first differences) accommodate nonlinear models, as required for our dependant variable (weekly counts of MVPA bouts). Fixed effects models analyze deviations of the outcome and exposures from person-specific means, but, as demonstrated elsewhere (73, 155, 159), interpretation of the coefficients is unchanged from traditional regression models.

"Random effects" estimates incorporate both between- and within-person variation and thus do not control for unmeasured characteristics (naïve estimation; Objective 2a). Fixed and random effects estimates were tested formally using the Hausman specification test. All models were fit using the xtpoisson function in Stata 10.1 (164), which provided comparable estimates but does not accommodate probability weights. Sample weighted, school cluster-corrected, within-person estimates obtained using an alternative method (159) were substantively similar, but comparable random effects estimates were not possible given the available software. School-level clustering was corrected in random effects models by including school indicator variables (165); fixed effects regression models within-person variation, which is not influenced by higher-level clustering.

The MVPA bouts distribution was overdispersed (the standard deviation was larger than assumed by the Poisson distribution), but the conditional likelihood for the negative binomial distribution required for fixed effects models is problematic (159). However, additional error terms in random and fixed effects models (148) and correction for school-level variation may help to address overdispersion by allowing for sources of variability not included in a standard Poisson model; further, estimates from cross-sectional Poisson and negative binomial models are virtually identical (166).

Buffer-based environment measures were individual-level variables. While census tracts or counties could comprise a third level in multi-level analysis, they are not nested within schools, our primary sampling unit and more important source of clustering. Data within census tracts and counties were unbalanced and sparse (132), and intraclass correlations were small (≤ 0.03 within census tracts, ≤ 0.02 within counties).

Natural log transformations of environment measures linearized relationships with MVPA bouts in preliminary analysis. Because both the dependent and independent variables are logged, random and fixed effect model coefficients were interpreted as elasticities, or the percent change in MVPA bouts predicted from a 1% change in the independent variable. Time invariant individual-level variables were included in random effects models but are not estimated in fixed effects models. Time varying age was included in both models. Sex interactions with each environmental variable were tested; for comparability, interaction terms were retained if significant (Wald p<0.10) in the random or fixed effects model. Further interaction with residential relocation status (Objective 2b) in fixed effects models was examined by including significant (Wald p<0.10; lower order terms were retained) two- and three-way interactions between residential relocation status, sex, and each environment measure.

D. Results

Individual-level and environment characteristics are presented in **Tables 10** and **11**, respectively. 68.8% (SE 1.2%) of the analytical sample moved between Waves I and III (data not shown), and changes in environmental measures observed between Waves I and III (**Table 11**) provided sufficient variability for estimation of within-person effects, even for non-movers.

Random and within-person estimates indicated that with more pay facilities in the neighborhood, MVPA bouts were higher in males but lower in females (**Table 12**). MVPA bouts was negatively associated with crime and, for males in random effects models, with median household income. Landscape diversity, public facilities, and alpha index were unrelated to MVPA.

Random effects and within-person model coefficients were significantly different (Hausman p<0.0001), indicating that unexplained variation was correlated with the independent variables. Compared to random effect estimates, within-person elasticities were almost two times larger for pay facilities and, in males, over two times larger for crime rate. Negative random effects for median household income (in males) and crime (in females) were attenuated by the within-person estimator (**Table 12**).

Several associations varied by residential relocation status and sex (**Table 13**). Elasticities between MVPA bouts and crime were substantially larger in non-movers than movers, and landscape diversity was negatively associated with MVPA bouts only in male non-movers. Sex- and relocation-specific associations between public facilities and MVPA bouts varied in magnitude and direction, but none were statistically significant. Model coefficients and p-values corresponding to **Tables 12** and **13** are reported in **Tables 14** and **15**, respectively.

E. Discussion

We investigated longitudinal relationships between several built and socioeconomic environment characteristics and MVPA bouts in a prospective study of adolescents as they transition into young adulthood. To our knowledge, ours is the first study to examine built environment changes resulting from either residential relocation or changes around stationary residents. After adjusting for unmeasured time invariant characteristics, pay facilities were related to greater MVPA bouts in males, and higher crime was related to fewer MVPA bouts in males and females. Other associations were null or in the counter-intuitive direction. However, as described below, several methodological issues should be considered when interpreting our results and designing future longitudinal studies. In particular, comparison of random and within-person effects estimated conflict with the hypothesized direction of residential self-selection bias, and differences in within-person estimates by residential relocation status have implications for selection bias.

Built environment findings in the Add Health population

In contrast to a vast body of literature showing relatively consistent cross-sectional associations between the built environment and PA (16, 17), many cross-sectional (166) and random effects associations were weak or null in the Add Health population. Possible methodological explanations for these differences are discussed elsewhere (74, 162, 166) and include our nonspecific MVPA measure (154), buffer-based environment measures, and complications related to broad geographic variation and measurement of complex environments. Of course, null associations may reflect a lack of causal effects in adolescents, young adults, or the general population. Eid and colleagues also found weak longitudinal associations between urban sprawl and obesity in a national study population (73); however, we expected a stronger, more robust relationship with PA, a more proximal outcome. Ultimately, several naïve estimates (cross-sectional and random effects) were null or counterintuitive, so corresponding within-person estimates do not appear to result from adjustment for unmeasured time invariant characteristics.

Residential self-selection bias: upward, downward, or more complex?

Residential self-selection is typically presented as a positive confounder which may create or magnify associations between the built environment and PA (78, 79, 155). This characterization assumes that the hypothesized built environment promoters of PA are: (1) preferred by, or correlated

with other neighborhood characteristics selected by people with higher PA levels (e.g., high performing schools), or (2) uncommon in areas selected by people with generally lower PA (e.g., lack of resources in affordable neighborhoods). These assumptions are supported by disproportionate allocation of recreation resources to more affluent neighborhoods (33, 167-169) and by attenuation of relationships between urban form and health-related outcomes by first difference models (73) and other adjustment methods (79, 96, 170).

However, some PA-promoting features may be less common in advantaged areas. For example, pay facilities may encourage PA but may be more common in commercial centers potentially selected less often by advantaged families (with higher PA levels). In this scenario, residential self-selection factors are negative confounders, consistent with stronger positive estimated within-person (versus random) effects of pay facilities on MVPA in males.

On the other hand, among females in this study, random effects models underestimated a *negative* within-person effect of pay facilities on MVPA bouts, suggesting that both pay facilities and self-selection factors operate in the opposite direction in females versus males. Alternatively, pay facilities may reflect another environment characteristic that more plausibly functions differently by sex. For example, pay facilities could reflect commercial activity and employment opportunity; through influences on perceived safety, females with sufficient resources may choose to live closer to work but encounter PA barriers related to dense development. Overall, these results suggest that residential self-selection may magnify or attenuate built environment-PA associations and involves multifaceted relationships among complex environments and sex-specific determinants of residential relocation and PA.

Furthermore, the direction of confounding has implications for the common concern that positive environment-PA associations may be due to selection of neighborhoods based on their activity-related amenities (79). Such a mechanism implies positive confounding, yet may not imply the absence of causal effects. That is, the selected amenities may help active individuals to maintain or increase their activity levels, formally defined as "effect in the treated" (171). Alternatively,

placement of activity-related amenities in areas of greatest need implies "effect in the untreated." Investigation of such heterogeneous effects can help to understand the potential value of various built environment modification strategies.

Within-person estimators applied to a life transition period

Within-person estimators control for unmeasured characteristics that remain constant over time, a major strength for addressing residential selection factors, which are challenging, if not impossible, to measure accurately (155). However, within-person estimators do not control for time *varying* unmeasured characteristics. Further, null associations do not necessarily imply that bias has been fully addressed because residential self-selection may attenuate estimated relationships.

In the general population, residential relocation is typically triggered by events such as marriage, childbearing, or employment opportunities (161), which may lead to changes PA determinants, thus comprising time varying, potentially unmeasured confounders. Such events characterize the adolescent to young adulthood transition (172) but are rare in adolescence, providing insufficient variability to analyze as time varying measures and leaving a potentially large proportion of bias unaddressed. For example, magnification of negative crime-MVPA associations by within-person estimation in males could be explained by movement into urban centers (with higher crime) for employment, which may limit leisure time and thus PA. Additionally, unmeasured residential selection factors relevant to parents in Wave I but respondents in Wave III may contribute additional bias.

Further, random effects and within-person estimation assume constant causal effects between time points (160), a questionable assumption during periods of shifting PA determinants. Crosssectional Wave I and III associations were different (166), though further evaluation of potential causal effects in adolescents versus young adults should be further investigated.

Similar residential relocation triggers occur throughout middle and later adulthood, with similar implications if they are not sufficiently measured. On the other hand, previous neighborhood

characteristics are the most powerful predictors of subsequent neighborhood characteristics (82, 173), suggesting that key unmeasured characteristics remain constant, and may be shared between generations. Within-person effects are also particularly valuable for capturing theorized short-term effects (relative to time periods typically studied) (160). In sum, within-person estimation has limitations, but is a valuable approach for addressing residential self-selection bias.

Restriction by residential relocation status: an additional source of bias?

These issues suggest that restriction or stratification by residential relocation status may result in selection bias. In the adolescent to young adulthood transition, biases related to residential stability may be at least as strong as residential relocation: those remaining in the parent's home may do so for reasons also associated with health behaviors (e.g., care for young children, inability to find employment, or attendance at a local college), and neighborhoods change systematically (e.g., disadvantaged groups more often live in neighborhoods with less advantageous environment trajectories (82)). Indeed, individual characteristics differ between movers and non-movers in this and prior studies (174).

These hypothesized biases are consistent with comparisons by residential relocation status: greater landscape diversity (perhaps reflecting uneven development patterns) was related to fewer MVPA bouts only in male non-movers, and negative crime-MVPA associations were stronger in nonmovers than movers. However, other environment-MVPA associations were similar by relocation status. Overall, associations were weaker or equivalent in movers than non-movers, but these patterns could be reversed in adulthood when residential stability is the norm. Future research should examine analytical methods to address residential relocation status without inducing selection bias through covariate adjustment or stratification (102).

Strengths and limitations

Limitations of this study include the methodological concerns raised above. Our definition of residential relocation may have misclassified respondents who moved a short distance or moved but

returned to the same location by Wave III, and did not capture duration of residence. Second, changes in socioeconomic environment variables around a given location may have resulted from shifts in census boundaries between 1990 and 2000. Third, loss to follow-up and missing data could have led to biased estimates. Finally, the direction of effect remains ambiguous, as we examined simultaneous changes in the environment and in MVPA bouts.

However, our unique time-varying environment database captures residential locations of a large, nationally representative population followed through a critical life stage. By including six built and socioeconomic environment measures shown to adequately represent key environmental constructs, we addressed environmental confounders while avoiding collinearity (162). Our longitudinal data was used to address residential self-selection bias and explore bias related to residential relocation.

Conclusions

After controlling for residential self-selection bias using within-person estimators, MVPA bouts were related only to pay facilities in males and crime in males and females in the expected directions. Our results suggest that the magnitude and direction of residential self-selection bias can vary across environmental and individual characteristics. Within-person estimators are valuable for controlling for residential self-selection bias, but their application to major life transitions is complex. Further research and development of methods that can address predictors of residential relocation while simultaneously controlling for unobserved measures are needed.

Table 10. S	Sociodemographic	characteristics in a	adolescence and	young adulthood:	descriptive statistics,	by residential r	elocation status	[mean/%
(SE)] ¹					-	-		-

		Male				Female		
	Total (n=6291)	Movers $(n=4110)$	Non-movers (n=2181)	p ²	Total (n=6506)	Movers (n=4506)	Non-movers (n=2000)	p ²
MVPA - Wave I (mean bouts/week)	41(01)	41(01)	43(01)	0.05	33(01)	33(01)	3.5 (0.1)	0.05
MVPA - Wave III (mean bouts/week)	19(00)	1.8(0.1)	20(01)	0.05	13(00)	12(00)	14(01)	0.06
$A \sigma e = Wave I (mean)$	155(0.0)	157(01)	152(01)	< 0.001	153(01)	154(01)	149(01)	< 0.001
$\Delta ge = Wave III (mean)$	21.9(0.1)	221(01)	21.6(0.1)	< 0.001	21.7(0.1)	21.8(0.1)	21.3(0.2)	< 0.001
Parental household income – Wave I	21.9 (0.1)	22.1 (0.1)	21.0 (0.1)	0.9	21.7 (0.1)	21.0 (0.1)	21.5 (0.2)	0.06
(mean, in 10,000's)	43.1 (1.5)	43.1 (1.7)	43.0 (1.4)		44.6 (1.6)	44.0 (1.7)	46.1 (1.8)	
Race/ethnicity (%)				< 0.001				0.009
White	68.3 (2.9)	71.0 (2.8)	62.8 (3.7)		70.0 (2.9)	71.7 (2.8)	65.8 (3.7)	
Black	15.6 (2.1)	15.5 (2.2)	15.8 (2.4)		14.9 (2.0)	14.9 (2.1)	15.1 (2.2)	
Asian	3.6 (0.7)	2.9 (0.6)	5.1 (1.2)		3.3 (0.7)	2.9 (0.6)	4.1 (1.1)	
Hispanic	12.4 (1.8)	10.6 (1.6)	16.2 (2.7)		11.8 (1.8)	10.5 (1.6)	15.0 (2.8)	
Highest parental education (%)		· · · ·		0.09		× /		0.8
<high school<="" td=""><td>14.7 (1.4)</td><td>13.7 (1.3)</td><td>16.9 (1.9)</td><td></td><td>15.2 (1.4)</td><td>15.3 (1.4)</td><td>14.9 (1.8)</td><td></td></high>	14.7 (1.4)	13.7 (1.3)	16.9 (1.9)		15.2 (1.4)	15.3 (1.4)	14.9 (1.8)	
High school/GED	31.5 (1.3)	31.8 (1.5)	31.0 (1.6)		32.4 (1.2)	31.9 (1.4)	33.5 (1.6)	
Some college	28.5 (1.0)	28.5 (1.1)	28.4 (1.4)		26.9 (0.9)	27.0 (1.1)	26.6 (1.4)	
College or greater	25.3 (1.7)	26.1 (1.9)	23.7 (1.9)		25.6 (1.7)	25.8 (1.8)	24.9 (1.9)	
Region (%)	~ /	× ,		0.008		· · · ·	· · · ·	0.001
West	15.6 (1.4)	15.4 (1.6)	16.0 (2.0)		16.4 (1.4)	15.7 (1.5)	18.2 (2.3)	
Midwest	30.2 (2.3)	31.8 (2.8)	26.7 (2.2)		32.5 (2.6)	33.8 (2.9)	29.5 (3.0)	
South	39.7 (1.8)	40.5 (2.2)	38.1 (2.5)		36.7 (1.8)	38.7 (2.2)	32.0 (2.4)	
Northeast	14.5 (0.9)	12.2 (1.1)	19.2 (1.9)		14.3 (1.0)	11.8 (1.3)	20.3 (2.1)	

¹ National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health, Wave I (1994-95) and Wave III (2001-02). Residential relocation defined as >1/4 mile Euclidean distance between Wave I and Wave III residential locations ² Test of difference between movers and non-movers in males and females determined from adjusted Wald tests (continuous variables) and design-based F-tests

(categorical variables), weighted and corrected for clustering

GED, Graduate Equivalency Degree; MVPA, moderate-vigorous physical activity (bouts per week); SE, standard error

t	Movers (n=8,616)		Non-m		
Measure (geographic area ³)	mean (SE)	median (IQR)	mean (SE)	median (IQR)	p ²
Landscape diversity (1k)					
Baseline	0.53 (0.01)	0.58 (0.43, 0.67)	0.54 (0.01)	0.58 (0.46, 0.67)	0.3
Change (Wave III-Wave I)	-0.01 (0.01)	-0.02 (-0.15, 0.12)	-0.04 (0.01)	-0.03 (-0.14, 0.06)	0.002
Pay facilities, count/10k population (3k)					
Baseline	2.65 (0.23)	1.71 (0.00, 3.74)	2.42 (0.20)	1.61 (0.34, 3.40)	1.0
Change (Wave III-Wave I)	1.97 (0.20)	1.36 (-0.06, 3.97)	2.10 (0.23)	1.02 (0.06, 3.04)	0.07
Public facilities, count/10k population (3k)					
Baseline	0.30 (0.05)	0.00 (0.00, 0.29)	0.28 (0.05)	0.00 (0.00, 0.31)	0.7
Change (Wave III-Wave I)	0.32 (0.05)	0.00 (0.00, 0.53)	0.18 (0.05)	0.00 (0.00, 0.30)	0.02
Alpha street connectivity (1k)					
Baseline	0.31 (0.02)	0.30 (0.22, 0.38)	0.33 (0.02)	0.30 (0.22, 0.38)	0.4
Change (Wave III-Wave I)	-0.002 (0.019)	-0.006 (-0.097, 0.076)	-0.018 (0.016)	-0.003 (-0.023, 0.012)	0.5
Median household income, \$1,000's (CT)					
Baseline	38.9 (1.3)	36.9 (27.4, 46.9)	41.2 (1.3)	39.7 (28.7, 52.0)	0.002
Change (Wave III-Wave I)	0.17 (0.99)	1.88 (-7.92, 9.83)	2.40 (0.35)	2.48 (-1.53, 5.80)	0.03
Crime, per 100,000 population (Co)					
Baseline	5,298 (247)	5,369 (3,072, 6,975)	5,546 (238)	5,528 (3,647, 6,459)	0.005
Change (Wave III-Wave I)	-553 (170)	-676 (-1,944, 309)	-878 (161)	-1,081 (-1,645, -350)	0.005

Table 11. Baseline and changes in built and socioeconomic environment characteristics between adolescence and young adulthood: descriptive statistics, by residential relocation status¹

¹ National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health, Wave I (1994-95) and Wave III (2001-02). Residential relocation defined as >1/4 mile Euclidean distance between Wave I and Wave III residential locations

² Test of difference between movers and non-movers in males and females determined from adjusted Wald tests (continuous variables) and design-based F-tests (categorical variables), weighted and corrected for clustering. statistical tests were performed on natural log-transformed pay facilities, public facilities, and median household income to correct for skewness.

³Geographic areas consistent with the strongest associations with moderate to vigorous physical activity (bouts per week) in a previous analysis were selected for each variable.

1k and 3k, radius of Euclidean neighborhood buffer in kilometers (k); CT, Census Tract; Co, County; IQR, Interquartile Range; SE, standard error

	Random Effects ²	Within-Person Effects ²
Landscape diversity	-0.004 (-0.024, 0.016)	-0.025 (-0.051, 0.002)
Pay facilities (count/10k population)		
Males	0.024 (0.006, 0.042)*	0.047 (0.023, 0.071)*
Females	-0.026 (-0.045, -0.007)* ³	-0.046 (-0.072, -0.019)* ³
Public facilities (count/10k population)	0.006 (-0.024, 0.036)	-0.008 (-0.045, 0.029)
Alpha Index	-0.009 (-0.113, 0.095)	0.002 (-0.152, 0.155)
Median household income ⁴		
Males	-0.042 (-0.077, -0.008)*	0.005 (-0.046, 0.056)
Females	$0.025 (-0.012, 0.061)^3$	-0.051 (-0.104, 0.002)
Crime (per 100,000 population)		
Males	-0.071 (-0.106, -0.037)*	-0.165 (-0.209, -0.120)*
Females	-0.065 (-0.102, -0.029)*	$-0.020(-0.071, 0.030)^3$

Table 12. Random and within-person effect estimates¹ of built and socioeconomic environment characteristics on MVPA between adolescence and young adulthood [elasticity (95% CI)]

¹National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health, Wave I (1994-95) and Wave III (2001-02), n=12,797. ²Estimated from Poisson random and fixed effects regression modeling MVPA as a function of natural logtransformed built and socioeconomic environment measures. Fixed effects models adjusted for time varying age and do not estimate parameters for time invariant individual-level variables; random effects models additionally adjusted for time invariant sex, race, parental income and education, and region. ³Statistically significant (p<0.1) interaction with sex; sex interactions were included if significant in either random or fixed effects models.

⁴Wave I values inflated to 2000 U.S. dollars

CI, Confidence Interval; MVPA, moderate-vigorous physical activity (bouts per week)

*Statistically significant elasticity (p<0.05)

	Movers	Non-movers
Landscape diversity		
Males	0.006 (-0.033, 0.044)	-0.143 (-0.219, -0.067)*
Females	-0.018 (-0.062, 0.026)	-0.033 (-0.124, 0.059)
Pay facilities (count/10k population)		
Males	0.048 (0.0	23, 0.073)*
Females	-0.050 (-0.0)77, -0.022)*
Public facilities (count/10k population)		
Males	-0.042 (-0.097, 0.012)	0.032 (-0.076, 0.139)
Females	0.037 (-0.023, 0.098)	-0.090 (-0.232, 0.052)
Alpha Index	-0.006 (-0	.159, 0.148)
Median household income ³	-0.023 (-0	.060, 0.014)
Crime		
Males	-0.143 (-0.190, -0.096)*	-0.234 (-0.317, -0.151)*
Females	-0.012 (-0.065, 0.041)	-0.103 (-0.190, -0.016)*

Table 13. Variation in within-person effect estimates¹ of built and socioeconomic environment characteristics on MVPA between adolescence and young adulthood by residential relocation status,² [elasticity (95% CI)]

¹National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health, Wave I (1994-95) and Wave III (2001-02), n=12,797. Estimated from Poisson fixed effects regression modeling MVPA as a function of natural log-transformed built and socioeconomic environment measures, adjusted for time varying age; fixed effects models do not estimate parameters for time invariant individual-level variables.

²Residential relocation was defined as greater versus less than ¹/₄ mile Euclidean distance (Mover (n=8,616) and Non-mover (n=4,181), respectively) between Wave I and III respondent locations. 3- and 2-way interactions between sex, residential relocation status, and environment measures were included if statistically significant (p<0.1); if a 3-way interaction was significant, all corresponding 2-way interactions were retained.

CI, Confidence Interval; MVPA, moderate-vigorous physical activity (bouts per week)

³Wave I values inflated to 2000 U.S. dollars

*Statistically significant elasticity (p<0.05)

	Random effects ²		Within-person effect	ets ²
	Coefficient (95% CI)	р	Coefficient (95% CI)	р
Landscape diversity Pay facilities (count/10k	-0.004 (-0.024, 0.016)	0.69	-0.025 (-0.051, 0.002)	0.06
population)	0.024 (0.006, 0.042)	0.01	0.047 (0.023, 0.071)	< 0.001
Female*Pay facilities ³ Public facilities (count/10k	-0.050 (-0.073, -0.027)	< 0.001	-0.093 (-0.127, -0.060)	< 0.001
population)	0.006 (-0.024, 0.036)	0.70	-0.008 (-0.045, 0.029)	0.67
Alpha street connectivity	-0.009 (-0.113, 0.095)	0.86	0.002 (-0.152, 0.155)	0.98
Median household income ⁴ Female*Median household	-0.042 (-0.077, -0.008)	0.02	0.005 (-0.046, 0.056)	0.84
income ³	0.067 (0.024, 0.110)	0.002	-0.056 (-0.129, 0.017)	0.13
Crime (per 100,000 population)	-0.071 (-0.106, -0.037)	< 0.001	-0.165 (-0.209, -0.120)	< 0.001
Female *Crime ³	0.006 (-0.030, 0.042)	0.73	0.144 (0.079, 0.210)	< 0.001

Table 14. Model coefficients and significance for random and within-person effect estimates¹ of built and socioeconomic environment characteristics on MVPA between adolescence and young adulthood

¹ National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health, Wave I (1994-95) and Wave III (2001-02), n=12,797. Corresponds to estimates reported in **Table 12**.

² Estimated from Poisson random and fixed effects regression modeling MVPA as a function of natural logtransformed built and socioeconomic environment measures. Fixed effects models adjusted for time varying age and do not estimate parameters for time invariant individual-level variables; random effects models additionally adjusted for time invariant sex, race, parental income and education, and region.

³Sex interactions were included if significant (p < 0.1) in either random or fixed effects models.

⁴Wave I values inflated to 2000 U.S dollars

CI, Confidence Interval; MVPA, moderate-vigorous physical activity (bouts per week)

	Coefficient (95% CI)	Р
Landscape diversity	-0.143 (-0.219, -0.067)	< 0.001
Mover*Landscape diversity	0.149 (0.064, 0.234)	0.001
Female*Landscape diversity	0.110 (-0.008, 0.228)	0.07
Mover*Female*Landscape diversity	-0.134 (-0.266, -0.003)	0.04
Pay facilities (count/10k population)	0.048 (0.023, 0.073)	< 0.001
Female*Pay facilities	-0.098 (-0.133, -0.063)	< 0.001
Public facilities (count/10k population)	0.032 (-0.076, 0.139)	0.56
Mover*Public facilities	-0.074 (-0.193, 0.045)	0.22
Female*Public facilities	-0.122 (-0.298, 0.054)	0.18
Mover*Female*Public facilities	0.202 (0.010, 0.394)	0.04
Alpha street connectivity	-0.006 (-0.159, 0.148)	0.94
Median household income ³	-0.023 (-0.060, 0.014)	0.23
Crime (per 100,000 population)	-0.234 (-0.317, -0.151)	< 0.001
Mover*Crime	0.091 (0.007, 0.175)	0.03
Female*Crime	0.131 (0.065, 0.197)	< 0.001

Table 15. Model coefficients and significance for within-person effect estimates¹ of built and socioeconomic environment characteristics on MVPA between adolescence and young adulthood by residential relocation status²

¹ National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health, Wave I (1994-95) and Wave III (2001-02), n=12,797. Corresponds to estimates reported in **Table 13**. Estimated from Poisson fixed effects regression modeling MVPA as a function of natural log-transformed built and socioeconomic environment measures. Fixed effects models adjusted for time varying age and do not estimate parameters for time invariant individual-level variables.

²Residential relocation was defined as greater versus less than $\frac{1}{4}$ mile Euclidean distance (Mover (n=8,616) and Non-mover (n=4,181), respectively) between Wave I and III respondent locations. 3- and 2-way interactions between female sex, residential relocation, and environment measures were included if statistically significant (p<0.1); if a 3-way interaction was significant, all corresponding 2-way interactions were retained. ³Wave I values inflated to 2000 U.S. dollars

CI, Confidence Interval; MVPA, moderate-vigorous physical activity (bouts per week)

VI. Synopsis

The overall purpose of this research was to better understand whether "active communities support activity, or support active people." That is, we sought to estimate the extent to which built environment characteristics typically used to characterize "active communities" influence physical activity. Because the goal of built environment research is to inform policies and strategies intended to promote physical activity and health through community design, elucidation of and correction for major threats to causal inference are critical but, to date, generally overlooked objectives. Ultimately, building strong evidence for causality is needed to not only build political support for policies and funding, but also, once support is won, to reduce the possibility that vast resources dedicated for community infrastructure changes will fail to result in corresponding improvements in physical activity levels and related public health outcomes.

Unfortunately, the issues that make causal conclusions so important also make randomized controlled trials, the strongest evidence for causal inference, generally infeasible. Randomized assignment of built environment changes faces political barriers and high financial costs, and randomized assignment of families to different neighborhoods involves practical and ethical concerns. Further, such randomized strategies and analogous natural experiments involve self-selected samples, for whom in this context we might expect systematic loss to follow-up, with associated concerns about generalizability and selection bias, respectively. While randomized trials and natural experiments are important for estimating causal effects, much can be learned from observational studies. We therefore focus on existing and potential contributions, as well as opportunities for improvement, of observational research.

This research addressed several threats to causal inference in observational built environment research stemming from the complexity of the environment and discretion of individuals and

households over where they live. Specifically, we explored complex patterning in the environment, estimated the degree to which associations between physical activity and built environment characteristics are confounded by other aspects of the built and socioeconomic environments, and examined the magnitude and direction of residential self-selection bias after applying one adjustment strategy.

In the following sections, we review our findings, how they contribute to understanding of these issues, and future research needed to address the limitations in our studies and strengthen causal inference in built environment research. We end by discussing a series of policy-relevant knowledge gaps and corresponding research strategies using Add Health and similar study populations as well as complimentary approaches.

A. Do active communities support activity? But first, what is an active community?

The concepts of "active communities," "healthy places," and their converse, "urban sprawl" have intuitive appeal, but are difficult to quantify. Neighborhood environments are tremendously complex, involving inter-relationships between commonly measured built and sociodemographic aspects, less quantifiable markers of social disorder and cohesion, quality and aesthetic appeal of physical attributes, cultural and attitudinal influences of the broader community, and potentially unmeasureable aspects such as attitudes of leaders in various social hierarchies.

In this study, we investigated complexities in the neighborhood environment using a large set of commonly used built and sociodemographic environment characteristics. We describe how these environment features are inter-related and discuss implications for measurement and future research needs.

Review of environment construct findings

Our first step was to use factor analysis to identify natural patterning among existing, commonly used measures of the built and socioeconomic environments. Factor analysis served two purposes: first, as a data reduction technique that allowed us to examine inter-relationships among physical activity and constructs underlying the broad range of built and socioeconomic environment variables available in our environment database; second, to reveal environment patterning and guide the selection of a reduced set of measures for subsequent analyses. This is the first study to conduct factor analysis on both physical-activity related facilities and walkability measures. We identified three built environment constructs (homogeneous landscape and two development intensity constructs) and two socioeconomic environment constructs (advantaged economic environment and disadvantaged social environment).

The two development intensity constructs were characterized by high population and intersection density and distinguished by for-pay versus public facilities, which were differentially related to both physical activity and to socioeconomic aspects of the environment. We found that several dimensions of land cover pattering (diversity, complexity, and uniformity) represented a single landscape pattern construct. Socioeconomic environment constructs were consistent with our hypothesized dimensions: advantaged economic environment (high median household income, low neighborhood poverty, high education) and social variables typically associated with poorer health (high proportion of racial/ethnic minorities and renters, high crime rate). Finally, correlations between these environments appear to confound estimated associations with MVPA, demonstrating the complexity of potential environmental influences on physical activity.

In the following sections, we discuss the implications of these findings for interpretation of previous, current and future research findings, and analytical strategies for future studies. We also describe research opportunities to advance measurement of the environment and address related limitations of our research, primarily regarding the scope of measures included and potential proxy effects.

Implications for existing environment measures

Factor analysis findings have implications for studies analyzing environment characteristics representing our constructs as single measures. In particular, the intensity constructs reflect population density, intersection density, and physical activity facilities, each examined as single measures in other studies. We also showed that physical activity was similarly associated with the environment constructs and single, representative indicator measures. Therefore, while intersection density is often used as an indicator of street connectivity and physical activity facility counts are assumed to represent active recreation opportunities, both may act as proxies for general development intensity.

By calculating pay and public physical activity facilities counts scaled by population, we attempted to separate physical activity facilities, the characteristic of interest, from population density. Other representative indicator measures which replicated associations with physical activity included the Simpson's Diversity Index (representing the landscape homogeneity construct), median household income (advantaged economic environment), and crime rate (social environment characteristics typically associated with poorer health).

Insights gained from measured environment characteristics. While our study revealed multidimensional constructs underlying several environment measures, these constructs appear to represent additional complexities in the environment. Even among measured environmental characteristics, we found that the socioeconomic environment influenced several of the associations between built environment constructs and physical activity. For example, in cross-sectional analysis in females, adjustment for the social environment magnified the positive association between public facilities intensity and physical activity: higher public facilities intensity construct scores were related to higher physical activity (albeit not significantly) only after adjusting for social environment, presumably because public facilities were more common in disadvantaged areas.

Our assessment of confounding by other measured environment characteristics suggests that inconsistent findings in existing literature may, in part, result from differences in control variables across studies. Many studies only control for individual-level characteristics, others for one or two environment characteristics. The immediate implication is that studies should control for a wide range of potential confounders (conceptually or empirically justified), to the extent that collinearity is avoided.

Possible influences of unmeasured characteristics. Our multidimensional constructs may also reflect additional, *unmeasured* environmental characteristics. In particular, our intensity constructs are consistent with previous "walkability" measures, except that physical activity facilities in our study may represent land use mix or retail floor area in prior studies. Therefore, it is possible that physical activity facilities could represent the degree of commercial activity (pay facilities) or public services (public facilities). It is also possible that development intensity reflects degree of urbanicity, another intuitive yet difficult to define concept. Similar explanations could be applied to any built environment measure used in this or other studies.

The ambiguity of existing environment measures suggests two simultaneous, interacting trajectories of research. First, as described in the next section, identification of causal agents of behavior change requires a better understanding of underlying mechanisms and the "real world" environments represented by existing measures. Second, existing environment measures, which appear to represent more complex constructs associated with physical activity in many study populations and settings, can be used to investigate various biases and statistical adjustment methods (described in Section VI.B).

Distinguishing proxies and causal agents: the start of a long journey?

A basic requirement for estimating causal effects is valid and reliable measurement of hypothesized outcomes and exposures. In this study, measurement of physical activity has developed over half a century of research. In contrast, built environment research is relatively young and its

associated measures are, as discussed above, correspondingly crude. While some of our environment measures have been used for several decades, they were originally developed to study other outcomes (e.g., landscape diversity effects on wildlife migration patterns) and have only recently been used to study urban form and physical activity.

On the other hand, physical activity measurement began much like the current state of healthrelated neighborhood measurement. For example, higher coronary heart disease risk in bus, trolley, and train drivers (who sat down during the workday) compared to conductors (who walked up and down the aisles) provided some of the first evidence that physical activity may protect against heart disease (175). In retrospect, these early indicators of physical activity were crude, but they are similar to neighborhood environment measures in that they compare naturally occurring patterning to an outcome of interest and, more optimistically, will continue to evolve with future research. Key areas of future research include:

Development of a conceptual framework. While physical activity measurement remains challenging, physical activity measures can be validated within a framework of known physiologic responses established in controlled experimental settings. In contrast, the built and socioeconomic environments are hypothesized to influence behavior within newly developing frameworks which may, in fact, depend on the constraints and freedoms of free-living individuals. That is, choices such as auto versus bike transit are influenced by a complex web of factors including time and budget constraints (176, 177), preferences, and perhaps community design; without time and budget constraints, we expect that the role of community design in such decisions would change dramatically. Such complexities, along with conflicting disciplinary norms and perhaps distraction by the multitude of other methodological challenges may explain the lack of progress in establishing a working conceptual framework.

A conceptual framework describing theorized mechanisms of influence on physical activity can guide validation and improvement of environment measures. Within the socio-ecologic

framework (Section II) commonly used in public health-based built environment research, community-level factors such as neighborhood amenities may influence individual-level factors such as perceived barriers and facilitators to various types of physical activity behaviors, which may in turn influence physical activity. However, current measures of the neighborhood environment are remarkably *unrelated* to perceptions of the environment. Furthermore, such theories lack specificity with regard to *how* the environment influences behavior. For example, street connectivity is theorized to influence behavior by providing more route options, hence reducing distance and travel time. Do we hypothesize that this mechanism operates through deliberate decisions (I walk to the store because there is a short and direct route to get there), subconscious choice (I walk to the store because it seems easier than driving), or creation of other barriers (I walk to the store because there are too many stop lights and it is too difficult to park)? As described by King and colleagues (178), sociological theories provide more specific, testable mechanisms. For example, the theory of physical incivilities posits that broken windows and similar visual cues connote a feeling of disorder, which will discourage use of public spaces such as sidewalks and parks (178). However, existing sociological theories appropriately focus on social, rather than built aspects of the environment.

In the absence of a conceptual framework, neighborhood environment measures are implicitly validated against the outcomes of interest. The result is a collection of environment measures which are associated with physical activity, without understanding their mechanisms or in some cases of what is being measured. Development of a conceptual framework may be facilitated by a better understanding of how our environment measures correspond with the "real world" environment indicated by more detailed objective data, and research using perceived environment measures and qualitative data.

Comparison to detailed objective data. Environmental measures can also be collected with neighborhood audits, in which researchers collect information via direct observation (walking or driving through the neighborhood). While neighborhood audits add an element of subjectivity on the

part of the observer, they use standard protocols and audit tools and minimize correlated errors that may result when respondents report both environments (perceived measures) and behaviors. Furthermore, neighborhood audits provide detail about the environment not apparent from GIS data such as sidewalks, tree cover, aesthetics, social disorder (e.g., graffiti, poorly maintained properties), and quality of facilities. Neighborhood audits are labor intensive and thus conducted in small geographic areas, but exploration of how GIS-based measures correspond with audit-based measures can help to understand what each GIS-measure represents. For example, our above described hypothesis that pay facilities may reflect commercial activity and perhaps busy, unpleasant streets could be tested with neighborhood audit data.

In preliminary analysis, we performed confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) on a limited set of environmental variables. The resulting poor model fit or failure to converge may be attributed to insufficient characterization of the environment. CFA requires extensive knowledge of factor structure and relevant indicators which have not yet been established in the context of built of socioeconomic environments. Perhaps neighborhood audit data can help to gain the requisite understanding of these details, making it possible to conduct CFA in other populations.

Beyond descriptive studies, neighborhood audit and GIS data can be used together to investigate independent, confounding, and moderating influences on physical activity. Suppose sidewalks are more common in areas with well-connected streets but encourage leisure walking regardless of street connectivity. Sidewalks would thus be an independent predictor of walking not captured in GIS-based analysis, and could confound associations with physical activity. Further suppose that street connectivity influences walking for transportation only if sidewalks are present; in the absence of neighborhood audit data, GIS-based research would underestimate associations between street connectivity and physical activity. Existing and future studies using audit-based measures are valuable in their own right, but can also help to interpret GIS measures.

Self-reported environments and qualitative research. As noted above, the socio-ecologic framework for built environment influences on physical activity theorizes that the built environment acts through perceptions of the environment, such as alteration of perceived barriers and facilitators to physical activity. While objective and perceived measures are relatively uncorrelated, this framework may still be viable. For example, perceived safety may be influenced by unrecorded verbal harassment or bullying, but uncorrelated with objective crime rate. That is, the objective measure may be insufficient. Understanding how relationships between perceived and objective environment measures vary across subgroups may help to generate hypotheses explaining their discordance.

Insights may also be gained from qualitative research (e.g., focus groups or in-depth interviews) in which neighborhood residents describe how they are impacted by their neighborhood environment. Qualitative data can provide understanding of decision making processes and the influences of less tangible aspects of the environment. Built environment influences may act through unconscious shifts in perceptions influenced by individual circumstances that might not captured in a perceived environment measure. Perceived and qualitative data can help to improve objective measures, develop and improve a conceptual framework, and provide initial insights into mechanisms and how perceived barriers and facilitators can be altered (e.g., shifts in cycling culture) within a given objective environment.

Of course, all of these data cannot be collected for every study, or even a single populationbased study. But as a field, using a wide range of data and approaches can provide a more complete description of the environment, identify systematic biases, improve our measures and interpretation, and push us closer to identifying causal agents and mechanisms.

B. Do active communities support activity?

Residential self-selection bias is one of the most common criticisms of built environment research. It can be viewed as confounding by unmeasured individual characteristics related to both neighborhood selection and to physical activity. It is distinct from confounding by other

environmental characteristics because it involves an inherently temporal sequence: if individuals were randomly assigned into neighborhoods, we could conceivably estimate causal effects using crosssectional data if environmental confounders were adequately measured and controlled for in analysis, while longitudinal data is needed to adequately study residential self-selection bias.

In the vast majority of existing studies, the exposure and outcomes were measured at the same time and could be easily reversed, estimating characteristics and behaviors (exposures) of people who choose certain neighborhood features (outcome), rather than the influence of neighborhood features (exposure) on individual behaviors (outcome). Instead, we leveraged a unique longitudinal dataset to estimate changes in physical activity in response to changes in built and socioeconomic environment characteristics using within-person estimation.

Review of findings

After controlling for measured and time invariant unmeasured characteristics using withinperson estimators (fixed effects models), physical activity was higher with greater physical activity pay facilities in males and lower with increased crime rate; other associations were null or in the counter-intuitive direction. Comparison of within-person and random effects estimates suggested that residential self-selection can bias associations toward the null, as opposed to their typical characterization as positive confounders in prior discussions (79, 96, 155). Additionally, differences in associations between built environment features and physical activity by residential relocation status suggest that restriction of analyses to movers only, as performed in prior studies, may induce selection bias.

In the following sections, we discuss the contributions of our research to understanding of residential self-selection bias and next steps that can address limitations in our study. Key limitations included complications related to the studying changes within the adolescent to young adult transition and lack of adjustment for time varying unmeasured characteristics.

What have we learned?

While within-person estimation of longitudinal effects of the built environment on physical activity is a major step forward, more must be learned to better understand "if active communities support activity." However, our methodological findings suggest additional research questions and can inform future longitudinal studies.

In particular, our finding that residential self-selection may bias associations toward or away from the null challenges common characterization of this problem. Understanding that residential self-selection can attenuate associations may impact framing of the problem and resulting adjustment techniques. For example, adjustment for neighborhood and travel preferences assumes that residential self-selection will create or magnify positive associations. It may also influence conclusions made by investigators, such as Eid and collegues (73), who concluded that attenuation to the null indicated that first differences models completely adjusted for residential self-selection bias. Additionally, evidence that residential relocation status may be either an effect modifier or a source of bias helps to interpret existing study findings and underscores the importance of time-varying environmental data.

The challenges related to the transition stage of the Add Health populations helped to clarify issues relevant to studies of any population. Specifically, we could not control for time varying characteristics related to major life transitions such as marriage and children due to lack of variability in the adolescent time point. However, even without this sparse data problem, the determinants and consequences of transition events are likely to change from adolescence to young adulthood; that is, their meaning changes between life stages. While this issue may be more pronounced in the adolescence to young adulthood transition, the meaning of life transition events may continue to shift throughout adulthood. Similarly, as discussed in a previous chapter, time-varying unmeasured confounders are not addressed by within-person estimation and may be particularly influential during the adolescence to young adulthood transition, but can also be problematic in other life stages.

Some important next steps and complementary research strategies

It will be valuable to replicate our within-person estimation methods in adult populations in which life transition events can be included as time-varying covariates, and in populations yielding stronger cross-sectional effects which will better indicate the influence of controlling for unmeasured time invariant characteristics. Explicit investigation of mobility patterns may help to estimate the direction and magnitude of bias and to identify important adjustment variables.

Alternative study designs are also valuable for controlling for residential selection bias. For example, natural experiments already underway have the advantage of testing relatively modest, feasible changes to the environment such as installation of a walking path or construction of a new planned community. On the other hand, investigation of the influences of larger scale characteristics may rely on observational studies.

Additionally, the following alternative adjustment methods can be used to adjust for time varying unmeasured confounders:

Instrumental Variables. Structural equations modeling accommodates endogenous variables by explicitly modeling error common to multiple equations of interest (e.g., determinants of residential selection and physical activity). One example is instrumental variables analysis, a traditional econometric approach to controlling for endogeneity. An instrument is a variable that (i) has a causal effect on the exposure, (ii) affects the outcome only through the exposure, and (iii) does not share common causes with the outcome (unobserved characteristics correlated with the instrument and the outcome) (179). While instrumental variables can be powerful in controlling for endogeneity due to unobserved characteristics, their effectiveness depends on the validity of the instrument. Violation of criteria ii or iii will introduce bias to the association between the exposure and outcome, which will be amplified if the instrument is only weakly associated with the exposure. While the Sargon test assesses the validity of the instrument, others note that criteria ii and iii are not empirically verifiable (179, 180).

In sum, the instrumental variables approach is promising, but introduces the challenge of identifying a valid instrument. Even if a potential instrument is not *explicitly* related to travel behavior (or physical activity), it may not be valid due to complex inter-relationships between various environmental characteristics and preferences, behaviors, and sociodemographics. Other researchers have suggested school quality, which may be an important driver of residential selection, or time lagged environmental variables as potential instruments.

Full information maximum likelihood (FIML). Other forms of structural equations modeling include FIML methods such as factor and path analysis, which can simultaneously test multiple pathways. Cross-sectional studies on the relationships among residential preferences, neighborhood characteristics, and behavior, show that attitudes and preferences are the strongest correlates of behavior and neighborhood environment (170, 181). Given the limitations of self-reported preferences, these findings are unsurprising. However, FIML will accommodate longitudinal data and is a powerful tool for testing dynamic pathways among individual characteristics, mobility, and neighborhood environments at multiple time points. This approach is underway by colleagues at the Carolina Population Center (155).

What if active communities support active people, too?

In addition to estimation of causal effects of the built environment on physical activity in the population, the following two questions illustrate another distinction: (1) among those who move into active communities, do features in that community help those individuals to be more active? And (2) among those who do not live in active communities, would they be more active if they lived in an active community? In other words, there may be heterogeneous effects, defined respectively as "effect in the treated" (in individuals with characteristics similar to those who live in active communities) and "effect in the untreated" (in individuals with characteristics similar to those who do not live in active communities) (171).

The concepts of effects in the treated and untreated are linked to the alternative adjustment methods described above and in previous sections. Instrumental variables estimate the effect in the treated (182). Additionally, while propensity score methods can only adjust for observed characteristics, they accommodate estimation of effects in various groups. In essence, propensity score-derived weights can be constructed to create a psuedopopulation with covariate patterns reflecting the treated, untreated, or total population (183, 184).

These distinctions have several policy implications. The typical characterization of residential self-selection bias is that individuals choose to live in neighborhoods which support their existing activity levels. However, if the activity-related amenities help those individuals to maintain or increase their physical activity levels (effect in the treated), meeting demand with *affordable* options for such environments may increase physical activity levels in the population. The most beneficial result to public health is an effect in the untreated, which is implied by efforts to increase activity-supportive amenities in communities in which physical activity levels are low.

C. Reconnecting with policy, people, and the real environment: some questions for future research

We addressed three questions regarding major vulnerabilities to causal inference in observational built environment research: (1) How do we adequately measure complex environments using quantitative data? (2) What environment features influence physical activity: built environment characteristics examined in existing research, or other correlated environmental characteristics? (3) To what extent can observed relationships between the environment and physical activity be explained by systematic sorting of individuals and households into different types of neighborhoods? Our research makes progress and suggests additional avenues of study that will provide more complete answers, but these are the first of many questions requiring answers before built environment research can provide practical guidance to policymakers. Once we can identify environmental characteristics with sufficient evidence of causal effects on physical activity behaviors, many additional issues may be important for creation of policies within the realities of constrained resources and political environments. Understanding of such issues will require more nuanced measurement, study design, and analytical methods, and will benefit from more collaborative work among academic disciplines, planners, and policymakers. In the following sections, we discuss some key policy-relevant knowledge gaps, initial insights provided by and additional limitations of our current research, and opportunities for future studies using similar and complementary research methods.

What built environmental modifications should be made first (or simultaneously)?

In the context of limited resources, policymakers working to improve community design must target specific built environment characteristics among the wide array studied in existing research.

Relative strength of effects. Knowledge of the relative strength of effects among built environment characteristics will help to inform these decisions. The current study estimated elasticities, or the percent change in physical activity in response to 1% change in a given built environment measure, which provides a comparable metric across environmental characteristics measured on very different scales. While this is an improvement over estimates corresponding to changes in physical activity in response to 1 unit changes in environment measures, some built environment features are more easily modifiable than others. Effect estimates that incorporate resources required for modification of any given characteristic may provide valuable supplemental information, perhaps converting into changes in physical activity in response to a dollar value assigned to certain amount of environmental change.

Interactive effects. Another consideration is whether modifications to some built environment features should occur together, either to capitalize on synergistic effects that can maximize physical activity changes with a given investment, or to address environment features that only affect physical

activity together. Our factor analysis results demonstrated strong correlations between built and socioeconomic environment measures, and the resulting factors suggest that the relationships with physical activity may occur through multidimensional constructs. That is, combinations of environment features, rather than any single characteristic, may influence behavior. Testing of interactions among the built and socioeconomic characteristics examined in this study would be an important next step. Assessment of whether single characteristics (e.g., crime rate, as opposed to the social environment construct) are independently related to physical activity may require stratified sampling strategies which compare neighborhoods similar on all but the characteristic(s) of interest (e.g.,(185)). Existing and future work investigating interactive effects between built and socioeconomic characteristics with aspects of the social and cultural environments (e.g., social norms, social support) is also an important element of this question.

How dramatic must built environmental modifications be to achieve a meaningful change in physical activity in the population?

A related issue is that a more complete understanding of expected changes in physical activity with various degrees of built environment changes will help to determine how drastic modifications to the built environment must be in order to expect change in behavior.

Dose response. Different dose response relationships imply various policy strategies and should thus be examined carefully: linear effects would suggest that incremental changes, which may be most politically and economically feasible, may be effective; saturation effects would imply a point of diminishing returns, of particular interest because we expect that costs rise exponentially with more extreme community design changes; threshold effects might indicate that a certain minimum investment is required for any amount of behavior change; and curvilinear effects could imply an optimal level for promoting physical activity. Many studies use categorical built environment variables, and among those using continuous measures, most appear to assume, rather than test for, linear dose response relationships.
In this study, we examined natural log-transformed environmental variables, which served to linearize their relationships with physical activity, thereby simplifying the longitudinal analysis by allowing us to examine changes in continuous variables and to calculate readily interpretable elasticities. Linearization by log transformation implies a saturation effect, but additional examination with more flexible models such as splines would be valuable. Log transformations also minimized the influence of large values of environment measures, but these values may be interesting in their own right, warranting further examination of whether they exert specific effects and of the environments in which they are found.

Regional versus neighborhood scale. A broader issue is the scale at which modifications should be made. While there are complex issues related to the modifiable areal unit problem (186, 187), in which aggregation of environmental measures within different areas can yield vastly different values for a given residential location, they are outside the scope of this discussion. Here we focus on regional- or metropolitan-level versus neighborhood-level changes. This study examined neighborhood-level characteristics, which may be more readily modifiable with regard to both resources and time. It is also likely that neighborhood-level effects are more susceptible to residential self-selection bias. Because inter-city or -state moves are expensive and are generally driven by employment or education opportunities or proximity to family and social networks, decisions regarding macro-level location are unlikely to be related to physical activity. In contrast, selection of a neighborhood is likely influenced by more local features such as school quality, affordability, or physical-activity related amenities.

Some existing studies examine metropolitan-level urban sprawl, which could independently influence physical activity through large-scale factors such as public and active transportation networks or city-wide culture. Macro-level environments are also more likely to capture residents' total activity space, comprised of the areas in which individuals spend their time including home, work, school, and friends and family. However, few studies have examined both macro- and

neighborhood-level changes; understanding of their independent and interactive effects can inform optimal strategies for changing the built environment.

In what ways do we expect physical activity to change?

Modifications to the built environment may change any or all dimensions of physical activity (frequency, duration, intensity, and type), with implications for expected downstream health effects as well as complimentary environmental or transportation impacts with varying leverage for potential political support. Our physical activity measure captured weekly frequency (bouts) of moderate to vigorous leisure time physical activities, a tradeoff for the size and scope of the Add Health study.

Frequency and duration. The built environment may influence patterns of physical activity throughout the day or week. Active transit may be performed as many short bouts, while those exercising in a fitness center may perform longer, less frequent bouts, potentially with similar health benefits. Therefore, examination of frequency provided an incomplete understanding of the influence of the built environment of total amount of physical activity as well as the potential health benefits. More research is needed with more detailed physical activity measures.

Type and intensity. As discussed in recent literature (154), built environment features may exert behavior-specific effects in which, for example, street connectivity may influence active transportation but not leisure walking, and recreation centers may influence active sports but not cycling. Examination of specific types of physical activity may have yielded stronger, more robust results. Additionally, different types of physical activity correspond with different intensities and corresponding health benefits, so estimation of behavior specific effects could help to translate expected changes in physical activity to expected improvements in downstream health outcomes.

On the other hand, examination of total physical activity can complement type-specific analysis by addressing substitutive effects (11), in which active transit could be performed in place of structured exercise, yielding no net gain in total physical activity. However, to address substitutive effects, total physical activity measures should include a broad range of activities, including occupational, utilitarian, household, and leisure time activities.

Also of interest to policy makers are behaviors with potentially complimentary effects on other outcomes of policy interest. Even in the presence of substitutive effects *among physical activity types*, there is evidence that increases in active transportation has a positive influence on traffic congestion and air pollution (76). However, better understanding of the influence of urban form on substitutive effects *among transportation modes* (e.g., whether trips made using active modes are performed in place of, or in addition to, trips made by car) will be generated by current (188) and future transportation research.

The fifth dimension: location. Lastly, in addition to the traditional dimensions of physical activity, "location" is also an important dimension in built environment research. Studies already underway (189) will provide insights into *where* various types of physical activities take place, relative to one's home and in other areas in the community. This and similar work will also inform the extent to which focus on environments surrounding residential locations rather than work or school limits current studies.

Will built environmental modifications be more or less effective in different subpopulations or different types of communities?

We examined built environment features as predictors of physical activity in a large, nationally representative sample of adolescents as they age into young adults. National representation is a key strength when seeking federally allocated resources, and the sociodemographic and geographic diversity in our dataset accommodates examination and comparison of effects in population subgroups. Investigation of heterogeneous effects is important for understanding causality as well as for allocating resources to certain areas and populations to maximize return on investment and balancing equality and disparities considerations.

Life stages. It is likely that determinants of physical activity shift from adolescence, when structured sports and activities are readily accessible, to young adulthood, when physical activity may be more self-motivated or utilitarian. Residential mobility, preferences, and constraints are also likely to shift with age, which may result in varying influences of residential self-selection bias across age groups. Indeed, in prior analysis, we found differences in cross-sectional built environment-physical activity associations between Waves I and III. Greater understanding of causal effects from younger childhood through older adulthood will help to design and estimate potential impacts of built environment modifications.

Sex differences. We also found differences in environment-physical activity relationships between males and females in cross-sectional and longitudinal analysis. Such differences could arise from differences in physical activities (influenced by different built environment characteristics) common in males and females, sex differences in residential selection decisions, or from varying influences of perceived safety, social norms, or constraints related to sex-specific roles. Sex-related differences have implications for targeting modifications to address existing sex disparities in physical activity, and understanding of the underlying mechanisms may reveal other environmental modifications needed in conjunction with changes to the built environment.

Socioeconomic position. The influence of environment features may also vary by socioeconomic position. Differences in association by socioeconomic position could result from differential influences of environmental confounders (e.g., crime or culture) or residential selection, or from causal modifying effects. An example of causal modifying effects is that individuals with high socioeconomic position may be able to pay for a fitness club membership, have access to a car for travel to club sports events, or join an employer-sponsored walking group. In contrast, those with lower socioeconomic position may have fewer options and be more sensitive to their neighborhood environment. Like modification by sex, knowledge of effect modification by socioeconomic position

may help to target built environment modifications and inform additional strategies to reduce socioeconomic disparities.

Urbanicity. In other analyses conducted in the Add Health population (74), we show that both the magnitude and shape of the dose response relationship varies by degree of urbanicity. Conceptually, built environment features may have varying relevance and relative influence in rural, suburban, and urban environments. "Walkability" characterized by well-connected streets and nearby retail destinations is perhaps irrelevant in rural areas, and relatively unimportant in urban centers where "walkability" is ubiquitous but safety is not.

Further study of urbanicity differences is needed but requires better strategies to define and identify intuitive types of environments such as the inner city and suburban developments. Such definitions are challenging in the Add Health dataset because, due to confidentiality concerns, analysts do not have knowledge of respondent locations relative to geographic markers (e.g., an urban center) or to each other. Gentrification in urban centers and movement of the poor to the urban fringe in recent decades adds further complexity; that is, we do not expect area-level socioeconomic indicators to be useful components in neighborhood definitions. Existing and future studies that focus on defined metropolitan areas will be valuable for teasing apart effects of proximity to urban centers (e.g., suburb, urban fringe, rural) versus built environment characteristics typically associated with urban centers (e.g., walkability).

Future research should also address selectivity into rural, suburban, and urban areas. Also shown in our prior research (74), this selectivity issue is further complicated by the non-comparability of the ranges of many built environment characteristics across urbanicity levels; density measures in particular were high in urban areas and low in non-urban areas, with little overlap between urban classifications. Therefore, adjustment for urbanicity ignores the selectivity issue and would rely almost entirely on extrapolation beyond the observed data and is therefore inappropriate. Our present research did not address urbanicity due to these concerns, particularly in a longitudinal setting where

individuals can move in and out of urban areas. Exploration and, if needed, development of methods that will address selectivity related to urbanicity in cross-sectional and longitudinal settings is also an important area of future study.

More individual-level research. A better understanding of key activities performed and the barriers and facilitators of specific activities for each of these subgroups will help to both understand differences in built environment effects across subgroups and address needs related to modifiable aspects of the environment.

D. Conclusion

The built environment is a promising leverage point for obesity and chronic disease prevention and health promotion by facilitating active lifestyles. This study addressed several threats to causal inference in built environment research and provided substantive knowledge, insights into appropriate methodologies, and new questions that can move the field toward an understanding of whether "active communities support activity." We outlined an extensive set of knowledge gaps that constrain environmental policy solutions to the urgent problems of obesity and chronic disease as well as a broad range of environmental, social, and economic issues.

Solutions to these public health problems should not wait for the conclusion of optimallydesigned, long-term prospective studies. Similarly, experimental designs are important components of the field, but have their own limitations related to generalizability, feasibility, time and resource intensity, and availability of natural experiment opportunities. Observational research has an important role in understanding of the direction and magnitude of biases so that existing and future cross-sectional or short-term (experimental or observational) study findings can be better interpreted, and for informing which environment changes should be tested in experimental settings. Indeed, coordination of diverse research efforts will be important for guiding policy solutions already in progress and in years to come.

References

- (1) Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Curtin LR, McDowell MA, Tabak CJ, Flegal KM. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the United States, 1999-2004. *Jama*. 2006; 295: 1549-1555.
- (2) Flegal KM, Carroll MD, Ogden CL, Johnson CL. Prevalence and trends in obesity among US adults, 1999-2000. *Jama*. 2002; 288: 1723-1727.
- (3) Ogden CL, Flegal KM, Carroll MD, Johnson CL. Prevalence and trends in overweight among US children and adolescents, 1999-2000. *Jama*. 2002; 288: 1728-1732.
- (4) Popkin BM, Gordon-Larsen P. The nutrition transition: worldwide obesity dynamics and their determinants. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. 2004; 28 Suppl 3: S2-9.
- (5) Must A, Jacques PF, Dallal GE, Bajema CJ, Dietz WH. Long-term morbidity and mortality of overweight adolescents. A follow-up of the Harvard Growth Study of 1922 to 1935. N Engl J Med. 1992; 327: 1350-1355.
- (6) Berenson GS, Srinivasan SR, Bao W, Newman WP, 3rd, Tracy RE, Wattigney WA. Association between multiple cardiovascular risk factors and atherosclerosis in children and young adults. The Bogalusa Heart Study. *N Engl J Med.* 1998; 338: 1650-1656.
- (7) Mahoney LT, Burns TL, Stanford W, et al. Coronary risk factors measured in childhood and young adult life are associated with coronary artery calcification in young adults: the Muscatine Study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1996; 27: 277-284.
- (8) Sharma M. School-based interventions for childhood and adolescent obesity. *Obes Rev.* 2006; 7: 261-269.
- (9) Ewing R. Can the physical environment determine physical activity level? *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.* 2005; 33: 69-75.
- (10) Davison KK, Lawson CT. Do attributes in the physical environment influence children's physical activity? A review of the literature. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* 2006; 3: 19.
- (11) Saelens BE, Sallis JF, Frank LD. Environmental correlates of walking and cycling: findings from the transportation, urban design, and planning literatures. *Ann Behav Med.* 2003; 25: 80-91.
- (12) Owen N, Humpel N, Leslie E, Bauman A, Sallis JF. Understanding environmental influences on walking; Review and research agenda. *Am J Prev Med.* 2004; 27: 67-76.
- (13) Humpel N, Owen N, Leslie E. Environmental factors associated with adults' participation in physical activity: a review. *Am J Prev Med.* 2002; 22: 188-199.
- (14) Rodriguez DA, Khattak AJ, Evenson KR. Can New Urbanism encourage physical activity? *J Am Plan Assn.* 2006; 72: 43-54.
- (15) Boer R, Zheng Y, Overton A, Ridgeway GK, Cohen DA. Neighborhood design and walking trips in ten U.S. metropolitan areas. *Am J Prev Med.* 2007; 32: 298-304.

- (16) Saelens BE, Handy SL. Built environment correlates of walking: a review. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2008; 40: S550-566.
- (17) Wendel-Vos W, Droomers M, Kremers S, Brug J, van Lenthe F. Potential environmental determinants of physical activity in adults: a systematic review. *Obes Rev.* 2007; 8: 425-440.
- (18) Sallis JF, Owen N. Ecologic models of health behavior. In Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research, and Practice. 3rd edition. Edited by Glanz K, Rimer BK, Lewis FM. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 2002: 462-484
- (19) Haskell WL, Lee IM, Pate RR, et al. Physical activity and public health: updated recommendation for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2007; 39: 1423-1434.
- (20) Marcus BH, Owen N. Motivational readiness, self-efficacy, and decision making for exercise. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*. 1992; 22: 3-16.
- (21) Gorin AA, Wing RR, Fava JL, et al. Weight loss treatment influences untreated spouses and the home environment: evidence of a ripple effect. *Int J Obes (Lond).* 2008; 32: 1678-1684.
- (22) Pratt CA, Lemon SC, Fernandez ID, et al. Design characteristics of worksite environmental interventions for obesity prevention. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2007; 15: 2171-2180.
- (23) Ball K, Timperio AF, Crawford DA. Understanding environmental influences on nutrition and physical activity behaviors: where should we look and what should we count? *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* 2006; 3: 33.
- (24) Popkin BM, Duffey K, Gordon-Larsen P. Environmental influences on food choice, physical activity and energy balance. *Physiol Behav.* 2005; 86: 603-613.
- (25) Diez-Roux AV. Multilevel analysis in public health research. *Annu Rev Public Health.* 2000; 21: 171-192.
- (26) Diez-Roux AV, Nieto FJ, Muntaner C, et al. Neighborhood environments and coronary heart disease: a multilevel analysis. *Am J Epidemiol*. 1997; 146: 48-63.
- (27) Lee C, Moudon AV. Physical activity and environment research in the health field: Implications for urban and transportation planning practice and research. *Journal of Planning Literature*. 2004; 19: 147-181.
- (28) Sallis JF, Cervero RB, Ascher W, Henderson KA, Kraft MK, Kerr J. An ecological approach to creating active living communities. *Annu Rev Public Health*. 2006; 27: 297-322.
- (29) Ewing R, Brownson RC, Berrigan D. Relationship between urban sprawl and weight of United States youth. *Am J Prev Med.* 2006; 31: 464-474.
- (30) Frank LD, Schmid TL, Sallis JF, Chapman J, Saelens BE. Linking objectively measured physical activity with objectively measured urban form: findings from SMARTRAQ. *Am J Prev Med.* 2005; 28: 117-125.

- (31) Krizek KJ, Johnson PJ. Proximity to trails and retail: effects on urban cycling and walking. *J Am Plan Assn.* 2006; 72: 33-42.
- (32) Giles-Corti B, Donovan RJ. The relative influence of individual, social and physical environment determinants of physical activity. *Soc Sci Med.* 2002; 54: 1793-1812.
- (33) Gordon-Larsen P, Nelson MC, Page P, Popkin BM. Inequality in the built environment underlies key health disparities in physical activity and obesity. *Pediatrics*. 2006; 117: 417-424.
- (34) Diez Roux AV, Evenson KR, McGinn AP, et al. Availability of recreational resources and physical activity in adults. *Am J Public Health*. 2007; 97: 493-499.
- (35) Giles-Corti B, Broomhall MH, Knuiman M, et al. Increasing walking: how important is distance to, attractiveness, and size of public open space? *Am J Prev Med.* 2005; 28: 169-176.
- (36) Handy S, Cao X, Mokhtarian PL. Self-selection in the relationship between the built environment and walking. *J Am Plan Assn.* 2006; 72: 55-74.
- (37) Rundle A, Field S, Park Y, Freeman L, Weiss CC, Neckerman K. Personal and neighborhood socioeconomic status and indices of neighborhood walk-ability predict body mass index in New York City. Soc Sci Med. 2008; 67: 1951-1958.
- (38) Wen M, Browning CR, Cagney KA. Neighbourhood deprivation, social capital and regular exercise during adulthood: A multilevel study in Chicago. Urban Studies. 2007; 44: 2651-2671.
- (39) Sallis JF, Hovell MF, Hofstetter CR, et al. Distance between homes and exercise facilities related to frequency of exercise among San Diego residents. *Public Health Rep.* 1990; 105: 179-185.
- (40) McGinn AP, Evenson KR, Herring AH, Huston SL. The relationship between leisure, walking, and transportation activity with the natural environment. *Health Place*. 2007; 13: 588-602.
- (41) McGinn AP, Evenson KR, Herring AH, Huston SL, Rodriguez DA. Exploring Associations between Physical Activity and Perceived and Objective Measures of the Built Environment. J Urban Health. 2007; 84: 162-184.
- (42) Oakes JM. The (mis)estimation of neighborhood effects: causal inference for a practicable social epidemiology. *Soc Sci Med.* 2004; 58: 1929-1952.
- (43) Diez Roux AV. Investigating neighborhood and area effects on health. *Am J Public Health*. 2001; 91: 1783-1789.
- (44) Moore LL, Gao D, Bradlee ML, et al. Does early physical activity predict body fat change throughout childhood? *Prev Med.* 2003; 37: 10-17.
- (45) Yang X, Telama R, Viikari J, Raitakari OT. Risk of obesity in relation to physical activity tracking from youth to adulthood. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2006; 38: 919-925.

- (46) Schmitz KH, Jacobs DR, Jr., Leon AS, Schreiner PJ, Sternfeld B. Physical activity and body weight: associations over ten years in the CARDIA study. Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. 2000; 24: 1475-1487.
- (47) Jakicic JM, Otto AD. Physical activity considerations for the treatment and prevention of obesity. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2005; 82: 226S-229S.
- (48) Kimm SY, Glynn NW, Kriska AM, et al. Decline in physical activity in black girls and white girls during adolescence. *N Engl J Med.* 2002; 347: 709-715.
- (49) Sallis JF. Age-related decline in physical activity: a synthesis of human and animal studies. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2000; 32: 1598-1600.
- (50) Gordon-Larsen P, Nelson MC, Popkin BM. Longitudinal physical activity and sedentary behavior trends: adolescence to adulthood. *Am J Prev Med*. 2004; 27: 277-283.
- (51) van Mechelen W, Twisk JW, Post GB, Snel J, Kemper HC. Physical activity of young people: the Amsterdam Longitudinal Growth and Health Study. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2000; 32: 1610-1616.
- (52) Anderssen N, Jacobs DR, Jr., Sidney S, et al. Change and secular trends in physical activity patterns in young adults: a seven-year longitudinal follow-up in the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults Study (CARDIA). *Am J Epidemiol*. 1996; 143: 351-362.
- (53) Gordon-Larsen P, Adair LS, Nelson MC, Popkin BM. Five-Year obesity incidence in the transition period between adolescence and adulthood: the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2004; 80: 569-575.
- (54) McTigue KM, Garrett JM, Popkin BM. The natural history of the development of obesity in a cohort of young U.S. adults between 1981 and 1998. *Ann Intern Med.* 2002; 136: 857-864.
- (55) Lewis CE, Jacobs DR, Jr., McCreath H, et al. Weight gain continues in the 1990s: 10-year trends in weight and overweight from the CARDIA study. Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2000; 151: 1172-1181.
- (56) Thompson DR, Obarzanek E, Franko DL, et al. Childhood overweight and cardiovascular disease risk factors: the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Growth and Health Study. *J Pediatr.* 2007; 150: 18-25.
- (57) Telama R, Yang X, Viikari J, Valimaki I, Wanne O, Raitakari O. Physical activity from childhood to adulthood: a 21-year tracking study. *Am J Prev Med.* 2005; 28: 267-273.
- (58) Tammelin T, Laitinen J, Nayha S. Change in the level of physical activity from adolescence into adulthood and obesity at the age of 31 years. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. 2004; 28: 775-782.
- (59) Kvaavik E, Tell GS, Klepp KI. Predictors and tracking of body mass index from adolescence into adulthood: follow-up of 18 to 20 years in the Oslo Youth Study. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2003; 157: 1212-1218.

- (60) Frank L, Kerr J, Chapman J, Sallis J. Urban form relationships with walk trip frequency and distance among youth. *Am J Health Promot.* 2007; 21: 305-311.
- (61) Li F, Fisher KJ, Brownson RC, Bosworth M. Multilevel modelling of built environment characteristics related to neighbourhood walking activity in older adults. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* 2005; 59: 558-564.
- (62) King WC, Belle SH, Brach JS, Simkin-Silverman LR, Soska T, Kriska AM. Objective measures of neighborhood environment and physical activity in older women. *Am J Prev Med.* 2005; 28: 461-469.
- (63) Ewing R, Schmid T, Killingsworth R, Zlot A, Raudenbush S. Relationship between urban sprawl and physical activity, obesity, and morbidity. *Am J Health Promot.* 2003; 18: 47-57.
- (64) Cervero R, Duncan M. Walking, bicycling, and urban landscapes: evidence from the San Francisco Bay Area. *Am J Public Health.* 2003; 93: 1478-1483.
- (65) Nelson MC, Gordon-Larsen P, Song Y, Popkin BM. Built and social environments associations with adolescent overweight and activity. *Am J Prev Med.* 2006; 31: 109-117.
- (66) de Vries SI, Bakker I, van Mechelen W, Hopman-Rock M. Determinants of activity-friendly neighborhoods for children: results from the SPACE study. *Am J Health Promot.* 2007; 21: 312-316.
- (67) Barriers to children walking to or from school--United States, 2004. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2005; 54: 949-952.
- (68) Timperio A, Ball K, Salmon J, et al. Personal, family, social, and environmental correlates of active commuting to school. *Am J Prev Med.* 2006; 30: 45-51.
- (69) Carver A, Timperio A, Crawford D. Playing it safe: The influence of neighbourhood safety on children's physical activity-A review. *Health Place*. 2008; 14: 217-227.
- (70) Frank LD, Kerr J, Sallis JF, Miles R, Chapman J. A hierarchy of sociodemographic and environmental correlates of walking and obesity. *Prev Med.* 2008.
- (71) Vilhjalmsson R, Kristjansdottir G. Gender differences in physical activity in older children and adolescents: the central role of organized sport. *Soc Sci Med.* 2003; 56: 363-374.
- (72) Roman CG, Chalfin A. Fear of walking outdoors. A multilevel ecologic analysis of crime and disorder. *Am J Prev Med.* 2008; 34: 306-312.
- (73) Eid J, Overman HG, Puga D, Turner MA. Fat city: Questioning the relationship between urban sprawl and obesity. *Journal of Urban Economics*. 2008; 63: 385-404.
- (74) Boone-Heinonen J, Gordon-Larsen P, Song Y, Popkin BM. What is the relevant neighborhood area for detecting built environment relationships with physical activity? *(forthcoming).* 2009.
- (75) Frank LD, Andresen MA, Schmid TL. Obesity relationships with community design, physical activity, and time spent in cars. *Am J Prev Med.* 2004; 27: 87-96.

- (76) Frank LD, Sallis JF, Conway TL, Chapman JE, Saelens BE, Bachman W. Many pathways from land use to health. *J Am Plan Assn.* 2006; 72: 75-87.
- (77) Diez Roux AV. Estimating neighborhood health effects: the challenges of causal inference in a complex world. *Soc Sci Med.* 2004; 58: 1953-1960.
- (78) Bhat CR, Guo JY. A comprehensive analysis of built environment characteristics on household residential choice and auto ownership levels. *Transportation Research Part B-Methodological*. 2007; 41: 506-526.
- (79) Mokhtarian PL, Cao X. Examining the impacts of residential selection on travel behavior: a focus on methodologies. *Trans Research Part B.* 2008; 42: 204-228.
- (80) Duncan GJ, Raudenbush SW. Neighborhoods and adolescent development: how can we determine the links? In Does It Take a Village? Community Effects on Children, Adolescents, and Families. Edited by Booth A, Crouter N. State College, PA: Pennsylvania State University Press; 2001: 105-136
- (81) Zohoori N, Savitz DA. Econometric approaches to epidemiologic data: relating endogeneity and unobserved heterogeneity to confounding. *Ann Epidemiol.* 1997; 7: 251-257.
- (82) Sampson RJ, Sharkey P. Neighborhood selection and the social reproduction of concentrated racial inequality. *Demography*. 2008; 45: 1-29.
- (83) Ioannides YA, Zabel JE. Interactions, neighborhood selection and housing demand. *Journal* of Urban Economics. 2008; 63: 229-252.
- (84) Song Y, Knaap, Gerrit. New urbanism and housing values: a disaggregate assessment. *Journal of Urban Economics*. 2003; 54: 218-238.
- (85) Nechyba TJ, Strauss RP. Community choice and local public services: A discrete choice approach. *Regional Science and Urban Economics*. 1998; 28: 51-73.
- (86) Gordon-Larsen P, Adair LS, Popkin BM. Ethnic differences in physical activity and inactivity patterns and overweight status. *Obes Res.* 2002; 10: 141-149.
- (87) Myers D, Gearin E. Current preferences and future demand for denser residential environments. *Housing Policy Debate*. 2001; 12: 633-659.
- (88) Lund H. Reasons for living in a transit-oriented development, and associated transit use. *J Am Plan Assn.* 2006; 72: 357-366.
- (89) Librett JJ, Yore MM, Schmid TL, Kohl HW, 3rd. Are self-reported physical activity levels associated with perceived desirability of activity-friendly communities? *Health Place*. 2007; 13: 767-773.
- (90) Epple D. Modeling population stratification across locations: An overview. In.; 2003: 189-196.
- (91) Song Y, Knaap GJ. New urbanism and housing values: a disaggregate assessment. *Journal of Urban Economics*. 2003; 54: 218-238.

- (92) Sloane DC. From congestion to sprawl: planning and health in historical context. *J Am Plan Assn.* 2006; 72: 10-18.
- (93) Cummins S, Petticrew M, Higgins C, Findlay A, Sparks L. Large scale food retailing as an intervention for diet and health: quasi-experimental evaluation of a natural experiment. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* 2005; 59: 1035-1040.
- (94) Handy S, Cao X, Mokhtarian PL. Correlation or causality between the built environment and travel behavior? Evidence from Northern California. *Transportation Research Part D.* 2005; 10: 427-444.
- (95) Kitamura R, Mokhtarian PL, Laidet L. A micro-analysis of land use and travel in five neighborhoods in the San Francisco Bay Area. *Transportation*. 1997; 24: 125-158.
- (96) Schwanen T, Mokhtarian PL. What if you live in the wrong neighborhood? The impact of residential neighborhood type dissonance on distance traveled. *Transportation Research Part* D. 2005; 10: 127-151.
- (97) Schwanen T, Mokhtarian PL. What affects commute mode choice: neighborhood physical structure or preferences toward neighborhoods? *J Transp Geography*. 2005; 13: 83-99.
- (98) Frank LD, Saelens BE, Powell KE, Chapman JE. Stepping towards causation: Do built environments or neighborhood and travel preferences explain physical activity, driving, and obesity? *Soc Sci Med.* 2007.
- (99) Rosenbaum PR, Rubin DB. The central role of the propensity score in observational studies for causal effects. *Biometrika*. 1983; 70: 41-55.
- (100) D'Agostino RB, Jr. Propensity score methods for bias reduction in the comparison of a treatment to a non-randomized control group. *Stat Med.* 1998; 17: 2265-2281.
- (101) Robins JM, Hernan MA, Brumback B. Marginal structural models and causal inference in epidemiology. *Epidemiology*. 2000; 11: 550-560.
- (102) Hernan MA, Hernandez-Diaz S, Robins JM. A structural approach to selection bias. *Epidemiology*. 2004; 15: 615-625.
- (103) Oakes JM, Church TR. Invited commentary: advancing propensity score methods in epidemiology. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2007; 165: 1119-1121; discussion 1122-1113.
- (104) Joffe MM, Rosenbaum PR. Invited commentary: propensity scores. *Am J Epidemiol*. 1999; 150: 327-333.
- (105) Krizek KJ. Residential relocation and changes in urban travel. *J Am Plan Assn.* 2003; 69: 265-281.
- (106) Plantinga AJ, Bernell S. A spatial economic analysis of urban land use and obesity. *Journal* of *Regional Science*. 2005; 45: 473-492.
- (107) Plantinga AJ, Bernell S. The association between urban sprawl and obesity: Is it a two-way street? *Journal of Regional Science*. 2007; 47: 857-879.

- (108) Huston SL, Evenson KR, Bors P, Gizlice Z. Neighborhood environment, access to places for activity, and leisure-time physical activity in a diverse North Carolina population. Am J Health Promot. 2003; 18: 58-69.
- (109) Duncan M, Mummery K. Psychosocial and environmental factors associated with physical activity among city dwellers in regional Queensland. *Prev Med.* 2005; 40: 363-372.
- (110) Coogan MA, Karash KH, Adler T, Sallis J. The role of personal values, urban form, and auto availability in the analysis of walking for transportation. *Am J Health Promot.* 2007; 21: 363-370.
- (111) Tilt JH, Unfried TM, Roca B. Using objective and subjective measures of neighborhood greenness and accessible destinations for understanding walking trips and BMI in Seattle, Washington. *Am J Health Promot.* 2007; 21: 371-379.
- (112) ArcGIS. *The Complete Geographic Information System [computer program]*. 9.1. Redlands, CA: ESRI Corporation; 2005.
- (113) ArcView. *The Complete Geographic Information System. AML Programming Language* [computer program]. 3.3. Redlands, CA: ESRI Corporation; 2002.
- (114) ArcGIS. *The Complete Geographic Information System (Avenue Programming Language)* [computer program]. 9.1. Redlands, CA: ESRI Corporation; 2005.
- (115) Python. 2.5 Beta 2. Ipswich, MA: PSF; 2006.
- (116) Visual Basic [computer program]. Redmond WA: Microsoft; 2004.
- (117) NetEngine [computer program]. 1.2. Redlands, CA: ESRI Corporation; 1999.
- (118) *ISO/IEC 14882, Programming Languages--C++ [computer program].* New York, NY: American National Standards Institute; 1998.
- (119) Antonakos CL. Nonmotor travel in the 1990 National Personal Transportation Survey. *Transportation Res Rec.* 1995; 1502: 75-82.
- (120) Federal Highway Administration. *Nationwide Personal Transportation Survey*. U.S. Department of Transportation; 1995. Available at: <u>http://nhts.ornl.gov/npts.html</u>.
- (121) Sampson RJ, Morenoff JD, Gannon-Rowley T. Assessing "Neighborhood Effects": Social processes and new directions for research. *Ann Rev Sociol*. 2002; 28: 443-478.
- (122) Soobader M, Cubbin C, Gee GC, Rosenbaum A, Laurenson J. Levels of analysis for the study of environmental health disparities. *Environ Res.* 2006; 102: 172-180.
- (123) Cohen DA, Ashwood JS, Scott MM, et al. Public parks and physical activity among adolescent girls. *Pediatrics*. 2006; 118: e1381-e1389.
- (124) Duany A, Plater-Zyberk E. The second coming of the American small town. *Plan Canada*. 1992: 6-13.

- (125) Boone JE, Gordon-Larsen P, Stewart JD, Popkin BM. Validation of a GIS facilities database: quantification and implications of error. *Ann Epidemiol.* 2008; 18: 371-377.
- (126) McGarigal K, Cushman SA, Neel MC, Ene E. FRAGSTATS: Spatial Pattern Analysis Program for Categorical Maps. University of Massachusetts, Amherst. Available at: www.umass.edu/landeco/research/fragstats/fragstats.html; 2002.
- (127) Gordon-Larsen P, McMurray RG, Popkin BM. Determinants of adolescent physical activity and inactivity patterns. *Pediatrics*. 2000; 105: 1-8.
- (128) Add Health Codebooks [http://www.cpc.unc.edu/projects/addhealth/codebooks]
- (129) Scharoun-Lee M, Adair LS, Kaufman JS, Gordon-Larsen P. Obesity, race/ethnicity and the multiple dimensions of socioeconomic status during the transition to adulthood: A factor analysis approach. *Soc Sci Med.* 2009.
- (130) Scharoun-Lee M, Kaufman JS, Popkin BM, Gordon-Larsen P. Obesity, race/ethnicity and life course socioeconomic status across the transition from adolescence to adulthood. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* 2009; 63: 133-139.
- (131) Diez Roux AV. The study of group-level factors in epidemiology: rethinking variables, study designs, and analytical approaches. *Epidemiol Rev.* 2004; 26: 104-111.
- (132) Clarke P. When can group level clustering be ignored? Multilevel models versus single-level models with sparse data. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* 2008; 62: 752-758.
- (133) Pate RR, Colabianchi N, Porter D, Almeida MJ, Lobelo F, Dowda M. Physical activity and neighborhood resources in high school girls. *Am J Prev Med.* 2008; 34: 413-419.
- (134) Doyle SD, Kelly-Schwartz A, Schlossberg M, Stockard J. Active community environments and health. *J Am Plan Assn.* 2006; 72: 19-31.
- (135) Lee RE, Cubbin C, Winkleby M. Contribution of neighbourhood socioeconomic status and physical activity resources to physical activity among women. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* 2007; 61: 882-890.
- (136) Sundquist J, Malmstrom M, Johansson SE. Cardiovascular risk factors and the neighbourhood environment: a multilevel analysis. *Int J Epidemiol.* 1999; 28: 841-845.
- (137) Shishehbor MH, Gordon-Larsen P, Kiefe CI, Litaker D. Association of neighborhood socioeconomic status with physical fitness in healthy young adults: the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) study. *Am Heart J.* 2008; 155: 699-705.
- (138) Diez Roux AV, Merkin SS, Arnett D, et al. Neighborhood of residence and incidence of coronary heart disease. *N Engl J Med.* 2001; 345: 99-106.
- (139) Miles R, Song Y. "Good" neighborhoods in Portland, Oregon: focus on both social and physical environments. *J Urban Affairs*. 2008; In press.

- (140) Cohen DA, Ashwood S, Scott M, et al. Proximity to school and physical activity among middle school girls: the trial of activity for adolescent girls study. *J Phys Act Health.* 2006; 3: S129-S138.
- (141) Bagley MN, Mokhtarian PL, Kitamura R. A methodology for the disaggregate, multidimensional measurement of residential neighbourhood type. *Urban Studies*. 2002; 39: 689-704.
- (142) Cervero R, Kockelman K. Travel demand and the 3Ds: Density, diversity, and design. *Transportation Research Part D-Transport and Environment*. 1997; 2: 199-219.
- (143) Gordon-Larsen P, McMurray RG, Popkin BM. Adolescent physical activity and inactivity vary by ethnicity: The National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. *J Pediatr.* 1999; 135: 301-306.
- (144) Clifton K, Ewing R, Knaap GJ, Song Y. Quantitative analysis of urban form: a multidisciplinary review. *J Urbanism.* 2008; 1: 17-45.
- (145) Rodrigue J-P, Comtois C, Slack B. *The Geography of Transport Systems*. New York: Routledge; 2006.
- (146) Sallis JF, Strikmiller PK, Harsha DW, et al. Validation of interviewer- and self-administered physical activity checklists for fifth grade students. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 1996; 28: 840-851.
- (147) StataCorp. *Multivariate Statistics Reference Manual, Stata Statistical Software, Release 9.* College Station, TX: StataCorp LP; 2005.
- (148) Rabe-Hesketh S, Skrondal A. *Multilevel and Longitudinal Modeling Using Stata* 2nd edn: Stata Press; 2008.
- (149) Riitters KH, Oneill RV, Hunsaker CT, et al. A factor-analysis of landscape pattern and structure metrics. *Landscape Ecology*. 1995; 10: 23-39.
- (150) Ball K, Timperio A, Salmon J, Giles-Corti B, Roberts R, Crawford D. Personal, social and environmental determinants of educational inequalities in walking: a multilevel study. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* 2007; 61: 108-114.
- (151) Forsyth A, Hearst M, Oakes JM, Schmitz KH. Design and destinations: Factors influencing walking and total physical activity. *Urban Studies*. 2008; 45: 1973-1996.
- (152) Rundle A, Roux AV, Free LM, Miller D, Neckerman KM, Weiss CC. The urban built environment and obesity in New York City: a multilevel analysis. *Am J Health Promot.* 2007; 21: 326-334.
- (153) Wheeler SM. The evolution of built landscapes in metropolitan regions. *Journal of Planning Education and Research*. 2008; 27: 400-416.
- (154) Giles-Corti B, Timperio A, Bull F, Pikora T. Understanding physical activity environmental correlates: increased specificity for ecological models. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.* 2005; 33: 175-181.

- (155) Boone-Heinonen J, Gordon-Larsen P, Guilkey D, Jacobs DR, Popkin BM. Young adult environmental and physical activity dynamics: the role of residential self-selection. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*. 2009; (under review).
- (156) Dunton GF, Whalen CK, Jamner LD, Floro JN. Mapping the social and physical contexts of physical activity across adolescence using ecological momentary assessment. *Ann Behav Med.* 2007; 34: 144-153.
- (157) Colabianchi N, Dowda M, Pfeiffer KA, Porter DE, Almeida MJ, Pate RR. Towards an understanding of salient neighborhood boundaries: adolescent reports of an easy walking distance and convenient driving distance. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* 2007; 4: 66.
- (158) Boone-Heinonen J, Gordon-Larsen P, Song Y, Popkin BM. What is the relevant neighborhood area for detecting built environment relationshiops with physical activity? 2008; (forthcoming).
- (159) Allison PD. Fixed Effects Regression Methods for Longitudinal Data Using SAS. Cary, NC: SAS Institute, Inc.; 2005.
- (160) Glymour MM. Sensitive periods and first difference models: integrating etiologic thinking into econometric techniques: a commentary on Clarkwest's "Neo-materialist theory and the temporal relationship between income inequality and longevity change". *Soc Sci Med.* 2008; 66: 1895-1902; discussion 1903-1898.
- (161) Geist C, McManus PA. Geographical mobility over the life course: Motivations and implications. *Population Space and Place*. 2008; 14: 283-303.
- (162) Boone-Heinonen J, Evenson KR, Song Y, Gordon-Larsen P. Built and socioeconomic environments: patterning and associations with physical activity in U.S. adolescents. *(forthcoming).* 2009.
- (163) Willett WC. Nutritional Epidemiology. 2nd edn. New York: Oxford University Press; 1998.
- (164) StataCorp. *Longitudinal Panel Data manual, Stata Statistical Software, Release 9.* College Station, TX: StataCorp LP; 2005.
- (165) Angeles G, Guilkey DK, Mroz TA. The impact of community-level variables on individuallevel - Outcomes theoretical results and applications. *Sociological Methods & Research*. 2005; 34: 76-121.
- (166) Boone-Heinonen J, Gordon-Larsen P. Age group- and sex-specificity in relationships between the built and socioeconomic environments and physical activity. (*forthcoming*). 2009.
- (167) Estabrooks PA, Lee RE, Gyurcsik NC. Resources for physical activity participation: does availability and accessibility differ by neighborhood socioeconomic status? *Ann Behav Med.* 2003; 25: 100-104.
- (168) Moore LV, Diez Roux AV, Evenson KR, McGinn AP, Brines SJ. Availability of recreational resources in minority and low socioeconomic status areas. *Am J Prev Med.* 2008; 34: 16-22.

- (169) Powell LM, Slater S, Chaloupka FJ, Harper D. Availability of physical activity-related facilities and neighborhood demographic and socioeconomic characteristics: a national study. *Am J Public Health.* 2006; 96: 1676-1680.
- (170) Cao X, Mokhtarian PL, Handy SL. Do changes in neighborhood characteristics lead to changes in travel behavior ? A structural equations modeling approach. In.; 2007: 535-556.
- (171) Morgan SL, Winship C. *The counterfactual model*. In *Counterfactuals and causal inference*. New York: Cambridge University Press; 2007
- (172) Park MJ, Mulye TP, Adams SH, Brindis CD, Irwin CE. The health status of young adults in the United States. *Journal of Adolescent Health*. 2006; 39: 305-317.
- (173) Clark WAV, Ledwith V. How much does income matter in neighborhood choice? *Population Research and Policy Review*. 2007; 26: 145-161.
- (174) van Lenthe FJ, Martikainen P, Mackenbach JP. Neighbourhood inequalities in health and health-related behaviour: results of selective migration? *Health Place*. 2007; 13: 123-137.
- (175) Morris JN, Heady JA, Raffle PA, Roberts CG, Parks JW. Coronary heart-disease and physical activity of work. *Lancet.* 1953; 265: 1053-1057; contd.
- (176) Cawley J. An economic framework for understanding physical activity and eating behaviors. *Am J Prev Med.* 2004; 27: 117-125.
- (177) Hill JO, Sallis JF, Peters JC. Economic analysis of eating and physical activity: a next step for research and policy change. *Am J Prev Med.* 2004; 27: 111-116.
- (178) King AC, Stokols D, Talen E, Brassington GS, Killingsworth R. Theoretical approaches to the promotion of physical activity: forging a transdisciplinary paradigm. *Am J Prev Med.* 2002; 23: 15-25.
- (179) Hernan MA, Robins JM. Instruments for causal inference: an epidemiologist's dream? *Epidemiology*. 2006; 17: 360-372.
- (180) Martens EP, Pestman WR, de Boer A, Belitser SV, Klungel OH. Instrumental variables: application and limitations. *Epidemiology*. 2006; 17: 260-267.
- (181) Bagley MN, Mokhtarian PL. The impact of residential neighborhood type on travel behavior: a structural equations modeling approach. *Ann Reg Sci.* 2002; 36: 279-297.
- (182) Glymour MM. Natural experiments and instrumental variable analysis in social epidemiology. In Methods in Social Epidemiology. Edited by Oakes JM, Kaufman JS. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 2006
- (183) Sato T, Matsuyama Y. Marginal structural models as a tool for standardization. *Epidemiology*. 2003; 14: 680-686.
- (184) Hernan MA, Robins JM. Estimating causal effects from epidemiological data. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* 2006; 60: 578-586.

- (185) Oakes JM, Forsyth A, Schmitz KH. The effects of neighborhood density and street connectivity on walking behavior: the Twin Cities walking study. *Epidemiol Perspect Innov*. 2007; 4: 16.
- (186) Fotheringham AS, Wong DWS. The modifiable areal unit problem in multivariate statisticalanalysis. *Environment and Planning A*. 1991; 23: 1025-1044.
- (187) Downey L. Using geographic information systems to reconceptualize spatial relationships and ecological context. *American Journal of Sociology*. 2006; 112: 567-612.
- (188) Guo J. An economic evaluation of health-promotive environmental changes. In Active Living Research Annual Conference; San Diego, CA. 2009
- (189) Troped PJ. Associations between the built environment and location-based physical activity. In Active Living Research Annual Conference; San Diego, CA. 2009